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DEFINITIONS
e

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the  RAFRA

BRXEREREEN - NIFEERER

following meanings unless the context requires otherwise: AR -

“2002 Scheme”
[ZET ZF518)

“2012 Scheme”
(=T — =48]

"Articles”

U

“Asset Management Committee”

[EEEEZES]

"associate”

KNI

“Audit Committee”
[EZZEg]

"Board”
Ex3-d

“Board Diversity Policy”

[EEEXEZTT LBR]

"CG Code”

[EEERSTH

"Chief Executive Officer”

[1TBR A%

"Co-Chairman” or “Co-Chairmen”

ErESE

“Companies Ordinance”

IPNGIEESN

“Company”

VNG

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 7 June 2020
ARBRZZZE=FNAEARMZ BIRET S

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 29 May 2012
ARBRZZE——FRA-THhBRMNZERETE

the articles of association of the Company

RRARZABEZAE

the asset management committee of the Board

BEEgBTCEERERE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

A EmRAIME T %A BE

the audit committee of the Board

BEXgR T ERZES

the board of Directors

BExg

the board diversity policy of the Company adopted in August 2013 and
revised in March 2019
AARIRZZE—=FN\AKAER_ZE-NF=ABIZ2EETEKNEZ Tk
BUR

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

ER AR+ AR B EA ST R

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRBZITHHEE

the co-chairman or co-chairmen of the Board

BEEQUBFELRE

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
E/%/iﬁ” EEGZZﬁ/_\ A 1'71(15”

CWT International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

CWT International Limited - —RRABAEZMK L2 BR AR - HRMOEER
FrER =
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"Company Secretary”
[RERE]

“connected person(s)”

[BEEAL]

“Covid-19"
[Covid-19]

“"CWT SG”

[CWT SGJ

“CWT SG Group”

[CWT SG& & |

"Director(s)”

[E=%]

“Dividend Policy”
[k BB

"Executive Committee”

[(MITZEE

”

"Executive Director(s)

[HITEE]

“Facility Agreement”

[ E s |

“Group”
[R&EE]

“HNA Group”
[EH L

“HNA Group (International)”

[ & (BIFR) ]

"HNA Tourism”
i mirES

DEFINITIONS
BE

the company secretary of the Company
PiN/NYS] /NI DU

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB ETRRIFTE T 2 HE

the 2019 Novel Coronavirus
20195 E AR TR =

CWT Pte. Limited, a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

CWT Pte. Limited * FAETINE HAMBEFMK IO DA - BRARRZEE2EN
JESMNC]

CWT SG and its subsidiaries
CWT SGK EMIE 7]

the director(s) of the Company

ARREF

the dividend policy of the Company adopted in March 2019
KRARRZE—NF= ARMN 2R BEBUR

the executive committee of the Board

BExgg T Z9TZES

the executive Director(s)

WITES

the facility agreement dated 29 September 2018 entered into between
the Company and certain lenders, as amended and supplemented by a
supplemental agreement dated 19 July 2019
AABIBRBHEETERAMICABR-ZE—N\FAAZTHLENORE R
& REPAT-NFLATNBZHERREME RER

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRAB R EKE AR

HNA Group Co., Ltd., an indirect controlling Shareholder
BMERBRAR - —BEEERRKRE

HNA Group (International) Company Limited, a direct Shareholder
BMEE(BEBR)ERAR - —BEERRK

HNA Tourism International (Hong Kong) Co., Limited
ERIREBIRR (BB ER AR
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DEFINITIONS
=

“Hong Kong”
(&%

“Hong Kong HNA"

[& &5/

“Independent Non-
executive Director(s)”

(B IEMITES]

"Investment Committee”

[(REZEE]

“Listing Rules”
[ R Al

"Model Code”
[f@se=r g

“Nomination Committee”

F=E3-04

“Nomination Policy”

[TREBR]

“Non-executive Director(s)”

[SEAITEE]

“PRC”

[ B

“Promissory Note”

SRS

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P EEBFRIITE R

Hong Kong HNA Holding Group Co. Limited, a direct controlling Shareholder
BEREEBMEXEEARAR  —REEERERR

the independent non-executive Director(s)
B IEITES

the investment committee of the Board

BExgB T REZBS

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B PR S AR A

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
ETRRIMSE T PAE ETBITAESETES RS 2FETE

the nomination committee of the Board

EXgETZREZES

the nomination policy of the Company adopted in March 2019
RRBRZE-NF=ZARRKZRBEER

the non-executive Director(s)

FHITES

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purposes of this annual report,
excludes Hong Kong, the Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC
and Taiwan

REARLMNE - AAFHEME - FEEERE - FERFMRIITHRR LG E

the promissory note dated 3 September 2020 entered into between the
Company and HNA Group (International). On and with effect from 7 April
2021, HNA Group (International) assigned to HNA Tourism all of its rights
and obligations in the Promissory Note and its right to collect and be paid all
principal, interest and other sums due under or in respect of the Promissory
Note pursuant to a deed of assignment dated 7 April 2021 entered into
between HNA Group (International) and HNA Tourism

ARREEMER (BRI CABRA-SSFAAZAZELEE - R
—EC-FMACEREZBE - BHEE B REBEMER (B 2EM
REMIVERAR T —FNA+HZEERE - MRS AN
REBCZFBRMNIRBEEUARERDERES NALZRE NS BEALZR
ZHBEERE - FEKEARIAZ HEF
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“Remuneration Committee”
[FiE 5]

“SFO”

[B5 KRR

“Share(s)”
A7 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[P R |

"“Stock Exchange”
[H5e 22 FFr |

“subsidiary(ies)”

=Gl

“CHF”
[ A BR)

"Euro”

(BT

“HK$"
[

“RMB”
AR

" S$ "
[#7 03¢5t

"USs$”
EH

T
[%]

*  For identification purpose only

DEFINITIONS
B
the remuneration committee of the Board
EEgR 2 FNEES
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)
BEEDIE BB H KGR

the ordinary share(s) of the Company

ARREZ EBR

the holder(s) of the Shares
fEnEE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBEZHMBR AT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB ETRRIFTE T % 2 HE

Swiss franc, the lawful currency of Switzerland

AR WA EEHR

Euro, the official currency of the European Union
BT - BUNBEEREAE B

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B BBEEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR - PEAEEH

Singapore dollars, the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore

NI - BN HKABEE B

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
ET 0 ZNBRERBUEEEY

per cent or percentage
Bkt

* EHES
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
N AEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Wu Hao (Co-Chairman)

Li Neng (Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhao Quan

Chen Chao

Zhang Can

Independent Non-executive Directors
Leung Shun Sang, Tony

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin

Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey

Chen Lihua

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Li Neng (Chairman)
Wu Hao
Zhang Can

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (Chairman)
Leung Shun Sang, Tony
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Li Neng (Chairman)
Leung Shun Sang, Tony
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (Chairman)

Chen Chao

Leung Shun Sang, Tony

Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Wu Hao (Chairman)

Li Neng

Zhang Can

Leung Shun Sang, Tony
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Cheung Kwok Kuen, Alan

AUDITOR

KPMG
Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

LEGAL ADVISER AS TO HONG KONG LAW
Allen & Overy

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

10th Floor, Everbright Centre
108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
521

WEBSITE

www.cwtinternational.com
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
ESEN

Mr. Wu Hao (“Mr. Wu"), aged 41, holds a bachelor's degree of
accounting from Wuhan University, a master’s degree of business
administration from the City University of Seattle, and an executive
master’s degree of business administration from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. He also holds a qualification
certificate of specialty and technology of senior accountant in the
PRC. Mr. Wu was appointed as an Executive Director and the Co-
Chairman in October 2020, and is the chairman of the Investment
Committee and a member of the Executive Committee. He has
held various senior management positions previously within
domestic and overseas companies under HNA Group, a substantial
Shareholder pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, since he joined Hainan
Airlines Holding Co., Ltd.* (M Z=IZERIRMHBRAF]) in 2001,
Mr. Wu is currently the president of HNA Group (International),
a substantial Shareholder pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. He
has extensive knowledge and working experience in financial
management, investment, and merger and acquisition.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Wu and
the Company for a term commencing from 1 October 2020 to
31 December 2022. Under the service agreement, Mr. Wu is
entitled to a monthly salary of HK$141,875 or such higher salary
and discretionary bonus as may be determined by the Board from
time to time pursuant to the authority given by the Shareholders.
Such salary was, and discretionary bonus will be, determined
with reference to the then prevailing market conditions, the
performance of the Company as well as Mr. Wu's individual
performance.

° CWT International Limited o 20204 4 &
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Mr. Li Neng (“Mr. Li"), aged 40, holds a bachelor's degree
of business administration in finance from the University of
Macau and a master’s degree of business administration from
the University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of
the Association of International Accountants and a senior
international finance manager of the International Financial
Management Association. Mr. Li was appointed as an Executive
Director in December 2019, and was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer on 17 June 2020 and the Co-Chairman with
effect from the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting on
26 June 2020. He is the chairman of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Executive Committee, and a member of the
Investment Committee. Mr. Li also acts as directors of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. He has held various senior
management positions previously within companies under HNA
Group, a substantial Shareholder pursuant to Part XV of the SFO,
since he joined HNA Group in 2004, including the chief investment
officer of HNA Group (International), a substantial Shareholder
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, the chief executive
officer of China Civil Aviation Investment Group Limited, the vice
president of Africa World Airlines Limited, and the vice president
and co-chief financial officer of Hong Kong Airlines Limited, etc.
Mr. Li is currently the vice president of HNA Group (International).
He also served as an independent director of Azul S.A., a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: AZUL) and
the Brazilian Stock Exchange (stock code: AZUL4) from October
2016 to July 2018, a non-executive director of Comair Limited, a
company listed on JSE Limited, a stock exchange in the Republic
of South Africa (stock code: COM) from August 2015 to August
2018, and an executive director and the chairman of the board of
Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited (Stock Code: 442), a listed
company in Hong Kong and under HNA Group, from June 2019
to September 2020. Mr. Li has extensive knowledge and working
experience in corporate management, and investment, merger and
acquisition, etc.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Li and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2020. Under the engagement letter, Mr. Li is not entitled to any
director’s fee or any kind of remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
EEBN

FREEE(ZERE]) T+ FHRBRMAKE
TREEET(SRB)BAREERETIHER
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NFE+—_REZAANTES  RRZZE_TF
NATEtREZAATHRER  WTA-Z_-TF
NAZTANEHNBRRBF NS ERECERT A
BERF  FAREZEGRITEZESRENTE
B UARKREZEEHNKE - TEENEELAR
RAIZHENBARIMNES - FE _STWFMAE
ERE(RIBEFSH RAEEAIEXVE) EMER
RETARETZESAEERMNL  2EETER
RUBEBS LIS EOIEXVIE T 2 W) M
SE(EBRZERY  TRRAMERESEES
RARBEFEHITE  IENERMEER AR SR
o ARBEBMEER AR BB ETER
EE -FEARASNHERFEB)EBE - N
TE-RFT+AEZZT-NFLA  BEERAALY
BER G ETEGBRIE - AZUL) RBEEEHFR
S EH AR BAREE  AZULA) B A RIAzUl S.ALHY
BYEE R-_ZE—RHENAZE-ZE—NEAN
A EEREEANENESFR ZMOBEHE
BEZHMERAR LW ERGAIR - COMMA
AlComair Limited®WFEHITES - UERZF—
NEABEZZE_ZTFNA EEEBLETAF
MEMEEETARERESRBEZERER AR K
MR - MOBNMITESREFTEEFE - ThAE
EEXERRREHBS T EREEENNZHRL
TE#E B ©

FREBARBTE - NRA=F2ZRBE (£
PH-_T-_TF-A-HEBER - REZZE
g FREATFEEAETAEHEMEAZ
W o

2020 Annual Report « CWT International Limited



DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
EEBEN

Mr. Zhao Quan (“Mr. Zhao"), aged 50, holds a bachelor’s
degree of science in Computer Science Software Management
from Lanzhou University. Mr. Zhao was appointed as an
Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board in July 2015,
was re-designated as the Co-Chairman in November 2016, and
subsequently stepped down as the Co-Chairman in December
2017 but remains as an Executive Director. He once acted as
directors of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhao
joined HNA Group, a substantial Shareholder pursuant to Part XV
of the SFO, in 2009, and was engaged with senior management
positions, namely the chief financial officer and a non-executive
director of HNA Group, the vice-chairman and the chairman of
HNA Group Finance Co., Ltd.* (B#fn& BB 7B A 7)), a director
of HNA Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (BfiEXEEHBR A F), the
chairman and the chief executive officer of HNA Travel Industry
Group Co., Ltd.* (B Zz=ikE S E AR A7), and also the chief
executive officer of HNA Industry Group Co., Ltd.* (Bfifiz= s
ElBBRAF]). In the last three years, he was a director of HNA
Investment Group Co., Ltd.* (BMEEEERMDER QT (a
Shenzhen A-share listed company, Stock Code: 000616), which
is under HNA Group, during the period from April 2015 to May
2018. Mr. Zhao is now the vice president of HNA Group and the
vice-chairman of HNA Aviation Group Co., Ltd.* (Bfifiz=SEE
FR 2 7)), which is under HNA Group. Mr. Zhao has over 20 years
of working and management experience in the areas of airlines,
finance, airport investment and operation etc., and has extensive
knowledge and working experience in corporate management.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Zhao and
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2020. Pursuant to the service agreement, Mr. Zhao is entitled
to a monthly salary of HK$91,800 or such higher salary and
discretionary bonus as may be determined by the Board from
time to time pursuant to the authority given by the Shareholders.
Such salary was, and discretionary bonus will be, determined
with reference to the then prevailing market conditions, the
performance of the Company as well as Mr. Zhao's individual
performance.

@ CWT International Limited o 20204 4 &
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Mr. Chen Chao (“"Mr. Chen"), aged 37, holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from the University of Massachusetts Amherst. He was
appointed as an Executive Director in July 2019, and is a member
of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Chen is currently the vice
president and a member of the investment and asset management
committee of HNA Group, the chairman of HNA Group
(International) and a member of the council of Cihang Sino-Western
Cultural and Educational Exchange Foundation. HNA Group Co.,
Ltd. and HNA Group (International) are substantial Shareholders
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. He was an executive director
and the co-chairman of the board of Hong Kong International
Construction Investment Management Group Co., Limited (Stock
Code: 687) from 2018 to 2019, which was under HNA Group. Mr.
Chen joined HNA Group in 2012. He served as a chief investment
officer and a chief innovation officer of HNA Group as well as
the executive chairman of HNA Innovation Finance Group Co.,
Limited, amongst others. Prior to joining HNA Group, Mr. Chen
was an associate in the fixed income division at Morgan Stanley
Asia Limited and Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited, and a vice
president at Deutsche Bank (China) Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch
respectively. He is the nephew of Mr. Chen Feng, the co-founder
and the chairman of the board of directors of HNA Group.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Chen and
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2020. Under the engagement letter, Mr. Chen is not entitled to any
director’s fee or any kind of remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
EEBEN

Mr. Zhang Can, aged 39, holds a bachelor’'s degree in accounting
from Wuhan University and a master’'s degree in business
administration from Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Zhang was
appointed as an Executive Director in December 2019, and is a
member of each of the Executive Committee and the Investment
Committee. He joined Hainan Airlines Co., Ltd.* (BREfZ=AR
2 @]), a company under HNA Group, a substantial Shareholder
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, in 2004. He has served as senior
executives previously within companies under HNA Group, namely
the deputy general manager of finance department of Yangtze
River Express Airlines Co., Ltd.* (15 T/ IMEREZESGR A F]) and
the finance director of Hong Kong Airlines Limited. He is currently
the deputy finance director and the general manager of finance
department of HNA Group. Mr. Zhang acted as a non-executive
director of CWT Pte. Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, from 2017 to 2018. He has extensive knowledge and
working experience in financial management and investment.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Zhang and
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2020. Under the engagement letter, Mr. Zhang is not entitled to
any director’s fee or any kind of remuneration.

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 &
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Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony (“Mr. Leung”), aged 78, holds a
bachelor's degree of commerce from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and a master’'s degree in business administration
from New York State University. Mr. Leung was appointed as a
Non-executive Director in April 1993 and was re-designated to
an Independent Non-executive Director in November 2018. He
is a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Investment
Committee. Up to May 2018, Mr. Leung was a non-executive
director of each of Shougang Concord International Enterprises
Company Limited (Stock Code: 697), Shougang Concord Century
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 103), Shougang Concord Grand
(Group) Limited (Stock Code: 730) and Global Digital Creations
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8271), all of which are listed
companies in Hong Kong. Up to May 2019, Mr. Leung was also
a non-executive director of Shougang Fushan Resources Group
Limited (Stock Code: 639), which is a listed company in Hong
Kong. Mr. Leung had worked in Citibank N.A. and W.I. Carr Sons
& Co. (Overseas) in his early years and was the managing director
of CEF Group. He has over 40 years of experience in securities
and banking business, investment, financial markets, corporate
strategy and corporate management.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Leung and
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2020. Pursuant to the engagement letter, Mr. Leung is entitled
to a director’'s fee as may be determined by the Board from time
to time pursuant to the authority given by the Shareholders. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the director’s fee
of Mr. Leung was HK$300,000. For the financial year ending
31 December 2021, the director’'s fee of Mr. Leung will be
HK$300,000 for a full year which will be paid in proportion to the
actual length of services provided by Mr. Leung. Such director’s
fees were determined with reference to Mr. Leung’s experience
and duties as well as the then prevailing market conditions.
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
EEBEN

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (“"Mr. Liem"), aged 40, holds a bachelor’s
degree (honours) in commerce from University of Toronto and
a master’'s degree in taxation from University of Waterloo. Mr.
Liem was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
in June 2013 and is the chairman of each of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Investment Committee. He is a
CFA charter holder and a certified public accountant (USA). Mr.
Liem is a managing director of Masan Capital Limited, a council
member and an investment committee member of the Hong Kong
Baptist University, a board member and a senior fellow of the Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute (HKSI), a non-executive
director for Legends Corporate Bond Fund (Cayman Islands) and a
pro bono research analyst at HKGolden50. Mr. Liem is licensed to
carry out advising on securities and asset management businesses
under Type 4 and Type 9 regulated activities under the SFO).
He has extensive experience in securities, financial market and
investment.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Liem and
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2020. Pursuant to the engagement letter, Mr. Liem is entitled to
a director’s fee as may be determined by the Board from time to
time pursuant to the authority given by the Shareholders. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2020, the director’s fee of Mr.
Liem was HK$300,000. For the financial year ending 31 December
2021, the director’s fee of Mr. Liem will be HK$300,000 for a full
year which will be paid in proportion to the actual length of services
provided by Mr. Liem. Such director’s fees were determined with
reference to Mr. Liem’s experience and duties as well as the then
prevailing market conditions.
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Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey ("Mr. Lam”), GBS, JP, aged 69,
holds a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from Tufts
University in the United States and was conferred university fellow
of Tufts University and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr.
Lam was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director in
October 2013 and is a member of each of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. He
is also an independent non-executive director of each of Analogue
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1977), C C Land Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1224), China Overseas Grand Oceans Group Limited
(Stock Code: 81), China Strategic Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
235), Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited (Stock Code: 1929),
i-CABLE Communications Limited (Stock Code: 1097), Wing Tai
Properties Limited (Stock Code: 369) and Wynn Macau, Limited
(Stock Code: 1128), all of which are listed companies in Hong
Kong. He has over 30 years of experience in toy industry and is
currently the managing director of Forward Winsome Industries
Limited which is engaged in toy manufacturing.

In addition, Mr. Lam is a member of the National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is also
a member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the "HKSAR"), a non-official member
of the Executive Council of the HKSAR, the chairman of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) Complaints
Committee, a general committee member of the Hong Kong
General Chamber of Commerce and a honorary member of the
Court of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a director on the
board of Heifer International — Hong Kong and a director of the
Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited. Mr. Lam also holds a
number of other public and community service positions.

Mr. Lam was awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong
Kong” in 1989 and the “Outstanding Achievement Award —
Hong Kong Toy Industry” in 1999 respectively. In 1996, he was
appointed Justice of the Peace and became a member of the Most
Excellent Order of the British Empire. Mr. Lam was awarded the
Silver Bauhinia Star in 2004 and the Gold Bauhinia Star in 2011
respectively.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Lam and
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2020. Pursuant to the engagement letter, Mr. Lam is entitled to
a director’s fee as may be determined by the Board from time to
time pursuant to the authority given by the Shareholders. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2020, the director’'s fee of Mr.
Lam was HK$300,000. For the financial year ending 31 December
2021, the director’'s fee of Mr. Lam will be HK$300,000 for a full
year which will be paid in proportion to the actual length of services
provided by Mr. Lam. Such director’s fees were determined with
reference to Mr. Lam’s experience and duties as well as the then
prevailing market conditions.
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EEBEN

Ms. Chen Lihua (“"Ms. Chen"”), aged 58, holds a bachelor of
science degree and a master of science degree from Jilin University
of Technology and a doctoral degree in management science
from the City University of Hong Kong and did her post-doctoral
studies at the Institute of Mathematics and Systems Science of
the Chinese Academy of Sciences between 1999 and 2000. Ms.
Chen was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
in August 2019. She is currently an independent non-executive
director of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (Shanghai Stock
Exchange ordinary A shares stock code: 601998 and preference
shares stock code: 360025 and the Stock Exchange H shares stock
code: 998). Ms. Chen is currently a professor and Ph.D. tutor of
the Management Science and Information System Department of
Guanghua School of Management at Peking University, director of
Liantai Supply Chain Research and Development Center, executive
deputy director of the Center for Research of Circulation Economy
and Management, deputy dean of the Peking University National
Institute for Research of Development Strategy on Hi-Tech
Industry Development Zone, vice president of the China Society of
Logistics, officer of the Supply Chain and Logistics Management
Professional Committee, Society of Management Sciences of
China, member of the Experts Committee of China National
Tourism Administration, and an expert on national high-tech zones
engaged by the Ministry of Science and Technology. Ms. Chen
mainly researches and teaches the following areas: supply chain
and logistics management, management science, supply chain
logistics finance, logistics park management, circulation economy
and management, service operation management, hi-tech park and
industrial management, technological innovation and management,
venture capital investment and entrepreneurial management. In
her fields of research, she has carried out extensive cooperation
and exchanges with relevant international organizations. In
her capacity as leader or research backbone, Ms. Chen has
participated in numerous international cooperation projects and
key research and development projects sponsored by the National
Natural Science Foundation, ministries and provincial governments
in China. She also sits on the review and assessment panels
of multiple domestic and foreign academic journals. She has
published numerous papers on prestigious domestic and foreign
publications in relation to logistics and supply chain, operations
research and management science. Ms. Chen took the lead to
complete many major research reports including the Research on
the Logistics Costs of China, the Research on Interconnection and
Innovation of Logistics Parks and the Research of the Supply Chain
Financial Model for Agricultural Industry, etc.
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An engagement letter was entered into between Ms. Chen and
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2020. Pursuant to the engagement letter, Ms. Chen is entitled to
a director’s fee as may be determined by the Board from time to
time pursuant to the authority given by the Shareholders. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2020, the director’s fee of Ms.
Chen was HK$210,000. For the financial year ending 31 December
2021, the director’s fee of Ms. Chen will be HK$210,000 for a full
year which will be paid in proportion to the actual length of services
provided by Ms. Chen. Such director’s fees were determined with
reference to Ms. Chen’s experience and duties as well as the then
prevailing market conditions.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MHEE

REVENUE (HK$'000)
2XRE (BETRT)

Year F
2016 182,546

2017 23,955,863

2018 71,383,936

2019 40,747512

2020 44,673,571

GROSS PROFIT (HK$'000)
EH (BT

Year &

2016 59,517

2017 811,162

2018 1,730,630
2019 1,536,143

2020 1,481,066

TOTAL ASSETS (HK$'000)
REE (B¥Tr)

Year &

2016 6,421,122

2017 31,181,703
2018 25,811,560

2019 24,020,577

2020 24,915,974
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CO-CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
BMEERERESE

On behalf of the Board, we are pleased to present the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020.

The year of 2020 was full of unprecedented challenges as the
Group experienced an extraordinarily difficult business and
operational environment, where the global economy had been
fluctuating and fuelled by uncertainties. Despite this, in the second
half of 2020, the Company repaid the outstanding principal and
interest due under the Facility Agreement in full by using the
fund obtained under the Promissory Note, and accordingly, all
security provided under the Facility Agreement was released. With
continuous and arduous efforts, the Group has also successfully
maintained the stability of its business in this tough environment.

Realigning the Group's business focus on our core competence,
the logistics industry, is paramount. The management of the Group
actively takes business development opportunities to achieve a fair
return and capitalizes on our existing advantages in the logistics
industry. In this regard, we believe an adjustment in the capital
structure is needed and that maintaining a stable operation should
be our predominant focus.

OVERALL PERFORMANCE IN 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's revenue
amounted to HK$44,673,571,000 (2019: HK$40,747,512,000);
while the profit attributable to owners amounted to HK$41,465,000
(2019: loss attributable to owners of HK$597,557,000). For
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group incurred a
loss of HK$15,506,000 from its discontinued operations
(2019: HK$308,167,000) and a profit of HK$83,814,000 from
the continuing operations (2019: loss of HK$243,135,000).
Notwithstanding various challenges faced by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020, the performance of its continuing
operations turned better, primarily as a result of (i) a significant
decrease in finance cost of approximately HK$350,000,000; and
(i) the government subsidies of approximately HK$104,000,000
received or receivable by the Group in relation to Covid-19. The
Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of the Company
in 2020, and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation ("EBITDA") from continuing operations for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was recorded as HK$1,210,604,000
(2019: HK$1,299,653,000), the amount of which is calculated by
the profit for the year from continuing operations, before deducting
the finance costs, income tax expenses, depreciation, and
amortisation for the continuing operations.
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COMPLETION OF MATERIAL DISPOSAL

In January 2020, the Group completed the disposal of interest in
certain operating golf courses (including the land use right) situated
in Dongguan, Guangdong Province of the PRC, together with
certain related assets (including hotel buildings and staff quarters).

The above transaction effectually enabled the Group to increase
its liquidity and generate cash for reducing the debt level of the
Group.

REPAYMENT OF THE OUTSTANDING LOAN
UNDER THE FACILITY AGREEMENT AND
RESUMPTION OF TRADING

On 3 September 2020, the Company arranged for the payment
of the outstanding principal and interest due under the Facility
Agreement in full and all security provided thereunder was
released. The foregoing payment was funded pursuant to the
Promissory Note, which is not secured by any assets of the Group.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24
September 2020, the Company fulfilled all the resumption
conditions to the satisfaction of the Stock Exchange, where the
Company made an application to the Stock Exchange for the
resumption of trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 25 September 2020.

Given the two-year maturity period of the Promissory Note with
the maturity date falling on 3 September 2022, the Company has
time and flexibility to plan for the repayment and/or refinancing of
the Promissory Note.
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CO-CHAIRMEN'S STATEMENT
BMEIREREE

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2021 AND
OUR STRATEGIES

As we entered into the year of 2021, the risk of global economic
slowdown is still escalating by the global outbreak of Covid-19.
We are thereby adopting a conservative approach towards the
performance of global logistics, financial and commodity markets.
The uncertainty and lethality of the global pandemic virus will
continue to jeopardize the confidence in all industries worldwide,
and the current economic climate remains challenging. With the
increased threat of a recession, we will continue to closely monitor
the global economic situation and do our best to minimize its
impact on the Group and maintain stable operations during this
downturn.

The Group is realigning business focus on its core competence,
the logistics industry. The management of the Group is actively
taking business development opportunities to generate fair return
and capitalize on existing advantage in the logistics industry.
Meanwhile, the Group intends to continue to optimize the capital
structure of the Group and maintain stable operation.

Despite the aforesaid difficulties which we are facing, we
believe the Group is on its way to a brighter future, with our best
endeavors, efforts and caution.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, we would like to take this opportunity
to extend our sincere gratitude to all Shareholders, investors,
customers, suppliers and business partners for their valuable and
continuous support and trust to the Group. We would also extend
our gratitude and appreciation to all of our management and staff
for their tireless efforts, diligence and dedication throughout the
year.

Wu Hao
Co-Chairman

Li Neng
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW

In the year of 2020, global economy, trade and financial market
were shipwrecked by the outbreak of Covid-19. A geopolitical shift
has created further tectonic changes for the business community.
The Group weathered the storm while facing great difficulties
and uncertainties in logistics, financial brokerage and commodity
trading realms. With strong leadership from the management, the
Group did great effort to stabilize customers and revenue, improve
group and business line cost structure, and maintain commitment
to debt servicing and deleveraging. Despite the above, the core
logistics business delivered better performance as compared to
the prior year ended 31 December 2019, which was underpinned
by the Group’s strong execution capability.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's revenue
amounted to HK$44,673,571,000 (2019: HK$40,747,512,000);
while the profit attributable to owners amounted to HK$41,465,000
(2019: loss attributable to owners of HK$597,557,000). For
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group incurred a
loss of HK$15,506,000 from its discontinued operations
(2019: HK$308,167,000) and a profit of HK$83,814,000 from
the continuing operations (2019: loss of HK$243,135,000).
Notwithstanding various challenges faced by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020, the performance of its continuing
operations turned better, primarily as a result of (i) a significant
decrease in finance cost of approximately HK$350,000,000; and
(i) the government subsidies of approximately HK$104,000,000
received or receivable by the Group in relation to Covid-19. The
Group recorded a profit attributable to owners of the Company in
2020, and EBITDA from continuing operations for the year ended
31 December 2020 was recorded as HK$1,210,604,000 (2019:
HK$1,299,653,000), the amount of which is calculated by the profit
for the year from continuing operations, before deducting the
finance costs, income tax expenses, depreciation, and amortisation
for the continuing operations.
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I\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmAED M

The operations of the four business segments of the Group during
the year are summarised as follows:

Logistics Services

The year of 2020 marked an unprecedented year of health and
economic challenges as the global pandemic affected lives and
businesses around the world. Across regions, supply chains
were massively disrupted. In Singapore, logistics firms faced
stiff competition, with declining volume and escalating operating
costs pointing to a slow recovery. Nevertheless, our logistics
services business reported a total revenue of HK$4,712,690,000
(31 December 2019: HK$4,709,796,000) and a profit before tax
of HK$217,026,000 (31 December 2019: loss of HK$12,234,000),
which included the Covid-19 government grant of HK$61,044,000.
These stellar results were mainly contributed by the warehousing
and commodity logistic businesses.

For the warehouse & integrated logistics business, our
transportation segment and logistics businesses across various
sectors were heavily affected. However, we were able to maintain
our overall warehouse utilisation rate in Singapore at approximately
99% as the local warehouse industry experienced a higher
demand in the last three quarters of 2020 due to stockpiling of
essential items by the government. A supply shortfall caused by
delay in new warehouses originally slated for completion in 2020
also added to the pent-up demand. The tight supply situation may
be relieved with the arrival of vaccines and the completion of new
warehouses in 2021. Until then, the market rate is expected to
hold steady at 5% higher than pre-Covid-19 levels.

In 2020, we also expanded our logistics footprint regionally. In the
third quarter of 2020, we completed the construction of our third
warehouse (220,000 sqg. ft.) in Port Klang Free Zone (“PKFZ"),
Malaysia. All our three warehouses (580,000 sq. ft. combined) in
PKFZ are fully occupied. In addition, we are building our fourth
warehouse (130,000 sg. ft.) in PKFZ, slated for completion by end
of 2021. Upon its completion, we will have over 700,000 sq. ft. of
total warehouse space in Malaysia to serve our customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the freight logistics business, 2020 was a very challenging year
for us as the pandemic permanently altered the dynamics of the
sea freight industry. The lockdown in various countries adversely
affected port operations which in turn disrupted the operations
of shipping lines. This consequently led to a severe equipment
imbalance situation. The shortage of empty containers drove
freight to levels which were never seen before in the industries.
During the fourth quarter peak season, more pressures were
mounted onto freight rates and rate increase was applied on a
weekly basis. This situation is expected to spill over to the first half
of 2021.

Despite the difficult environment, we managed to perform
satisfactorily, partly helped by the Covid-19 government grants and
reliefs. In addition, Mainland China, our major market, is recovering
well from the pandemic. In this unprecedented environment,
we are aligning ourselves to better serve our customers while
strategically managing costs and customers’ expectations. By
focusing on faster response time and higher efficiency, we are
working hard to mitigate the pandemic impact. Additionally, with
the disruption to air freight space, we are seeing greater interest in
sea freight which will allow us to capitalise on new opportunities.

For the commodity logistics business, despite the disruptions
caused by the global pandemic, our commodity logistics arm
continued to focus its efforts on driving profit-generating
businesses which led to further operating profit growth. In 2020,
we recorded a higher operating profit from soft commodity
logistics on the back of higher warehouse space utilisation and
higher volume. Going forward, we will continue to focus on
business development and resource management while delivering
higher value-add commodity services and supply chain solutions
for our customers.
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I\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Commodity Marketing

Our Commodity Marketing (“CM") segment is a global supply
chain management service provider which specialises in the
commodity marketing of mainly non-ferrous concentrates and
refined metals for smelters, processing industries and trading
companies.

Amidst global trade tensions, escalated by an import ban of
Australian copper concentrates in Mainland China during the third
quarter of 2020 and the ongoing pandemic impacts, CM managed
to maintain its competitiveness mainly in the concentrates market.

Overall annual volume for concentrates in 2020 decreased when
compared to the same period in 2019 as a result of the pandemic
effects and strategic choices made on the qualities, long-term
prospects and geographical positioning. During the second half of
the year, revenue improved owing to the price increase in base
and precious metals. Warehousing cost challenges continue to
exist and no change in the near future is expected with clients
still facing some challenges due to the current high prices for
commodities.

On the demand side, there was a rebound in the second half
of 2020 coming mainly from Mainland China and also in other
markets. This upward trend is anticipated to continue in early
2021 for both concentrates and metals. The supply side has
also stabilised during the same period from the prior Covid-19
disruption to the supply chain. Momentum for such developments
are however, subject to the prevalent Covid-19 uncertainties and
overall economic circumstances.

Looking ahead, we will continue to prepare the ground to take
advantage of market opportunities while cushioning ourselves
against potential business disruptions. We expect 2021 to be a
transition year to the new normal with a slow improvement in the
trading conditions.

While CM still maintains its competitiveness in the concentrates
market, traded volume decreased as a result of global trade
tensions and the disruption from the Covid-19 pandemic.
Consequently, the CM segment reported a 9% decrease in total
revenue from continuing operation to HK$24,880,230,000 2019:
HK$27,253,573,000, which has led to a 27% drop in operating
profit before tax from continuing operation to HK$66,738,000
(including the Covid-19 government grant of HK$513,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Services

For financial markets, uncertainty and volatility underpinned by
Covid-19 headlined most of 2020. Market volatility sustained
throughout the second half of 2020, fuelled by uncertainty in
the US elections, knee-jerk reactions to vaccine news and digital
assets such as Bitcoins chasing new highs.

Amidst such market circumstances, we managed to grow total
customer equity by 36% as compared to last year. We cleared
more than a million contracts on the Chicago Mercantile Exchange
in November 2020, with the positive momentum continuing into
December 2020. However, interest revenue remains compromised
under this tough environment. The global pandemic has spurred us
to be more agile, adaptive and creative than before, compelling us
to reconsider traditional ways of doing business.

Going into 2021, we have come to embrace the “new normal” by
changing the way we interact with customers. \We are participating
in virtual conferences to engage the market and partnering with
exchanges to line up a host of webinars in the coming months.
We will continue to build new businesses, seize opportunities
and leverage on fintech to upkeep our track record while staying
relevant in the new working normal.

Our financial services business reported operating profit before tax
(including the Covid-19 relief of HK$9,338,000) of HK$38,798,000
which was 49% lower than the 2019 profit before tax of
HK$76,765,000. The decrease in operating profit before tax was
due to an inventory write off of HK$37,987,000 due to loss of
cargo and a decrease in interest income resulting from reduced
federal interest rate. The decrease in operating profit before tax
was however mitigated by the better performance of the derivative
business attributed to market volatility.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmAED M

Engineering Services

Our engineering services business segment (“ES"), which focuses
on engineering maintenance (“EM") and design and build (“"DB")
remained resilient to the Covid-19 pandemic, returning a revenue
of HK$519,807,000 and profit before tax of HK$58,532,000 in 2020
including the Covid-19 government grant of HK$31,831,000.

EM deals in engineering maintenance and management works
in the facility maintenance and vehicles maintenance markets.
The target market is stable, though competitive. The business
performed well in 2020. In first half of 2020, EM expanded into
new growth areas in the training market by successfully securing
a key contract to train drivers for the military. In October 2020, EM
secured a major contract to maintain the facilities for the Ministry
of Home Affairs. Although the aviation sector suffered some
impact from the pandemic, it was mitigated by cost reductions as
well as government subsidies.

DB, which provides design and construction solutions for logistics
properties, recovered from its loss position to end the year nearly
flat. However, market opportunities for new build of logistics
facilities in Singapore continues to be weak due to uncertain
demand for new-built. This is further affected by additional supply
from newly completed warehouses by JTC Corporation and other
developers which will start to come on stream in 2021.

In the near future, we will continue to provide fit-out works
and consultancy and project management services to maintain
overheads and serve our existing logistics client base. Prospective
DB projects being pursued will take time to develop and crystallize
amidst the prevailing uncertain market.

ES revenue decreased by 33% mainly due to the completion of
built-to-suit equipment supply contracts, and lower billings from
DB projects due to weaker demand. During the year, ES secured
new contracts in EM which cushioned the drop in operating results
from completed projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of HK$1,247,995,000 (31 December 2019: HK$1,262,861,000).
Cash and bank balances are mostly held in Hong Kong dollar,
United States dollar, Singapore dollar, Euro and Renminbi and
deposited in leading banks with maturity dates falling within one
year. On the other hand, the Group had loans and borrowings of
HK$6,100,619,000 (31 December 2019: HK$6,922,182,000), of
which an aggregated amount of HK$5,204,356,000 (31 December
2019: HK$5,787,293,000) was repayable within one year.
Included in the amount repayable within one year are revolving
trading facilities of HK$3,820,926,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$3,980,553,000) which are fully secured with certain working
capital of the Group’s commodity marketing business. Further
details are set out in Notes 28, 29, 37 and 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MATERIAL DISPOSALS

The Group successfully completed a number of disposals in
2019 and 2020, and it currently has a mixed business portfolio
comprising four business segments in total. The Directors believe
that the disposals enhanced the cash flow and allowed the Group
to commit the available resources to other uses including to
reduce the debt level of the Company.

During the first half of 2020, the Group entered into the share
transfer agreement with Hillview Holdings Limited in relation to
the disposal of interest in certain operating golf courses in the
PRC through the disposal of Hillview Golf Development Company
Limited, at an agreed consideration, and such disposal was
completed on 15 January 2020. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 13 and 15 January 2020 and the circular of
the Company dated 24 January 2020 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group is subject to various litigation, regulatory and arbitration
matters in the normal course of business. The Group vigorously
defends against these claims and, in the opinion of management,
the resolution of these matters will not have a material effect on
the financial position of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had a total of 5,916 employees as at 31 December 2020
(2019: 6,625). The Group's remuneration policies are to ensure
that the remuneration package as a whole is fair and competitive,
and is able to motivate and retain current employees and attract
potential talents. These remuneration packages have already
carefully taken into account, amongst other aspects, the Group's
business in different jurisdictions. The employees’ remuneration
packages are comprised of salaries and discretionary bonuses,
along with retirement schemes, medical insurance and share
options which form a part of welfare benefits.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to safeguard the interests of
all Shareholders and to enhance accountability and transparency.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules during the
financial year ended 31 December 2020, except for the following
deviation:

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Ding Lei
was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the Co-
Chairman of the Board during the period from 12 December 2019
to 17 June 2020, and Mr. Li Neng has been the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and the Co-Chairman of the Board since
26 June 2020. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both
Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person has
the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and
enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for
the Group. In addition, Mr. Zhu Weijun, as the Co-Chairman of the
Board during the period from 1 July 2019 to 1 October 2020, and
Mr. Wu Hao, as the Co-Chairman of the Board since 1 October
2020, have shared the role and responsibilities as chairman of
the Board with the other Co-Chairman over the relevant periods.
The Board considers that this structure can continue to enable
the Company to make and implement decisions promptly and
effectively. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority is adequately ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with a
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises a total of nine Directors, being five
Executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive Directors.
The list of Directors is set out in the section headed "“Corporate
Information” of this annual report. In addition, an updated list of
the Directors and their roles and functions is published on the
websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Company respectively.

The Board is characterised by significant diversity and has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Company. The Directors’ biographical
information is set out in the section headed "Directors’
Biographies” of this annual report.

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. All Directors are required to, at the time of their
appointment and annually, disclose to the Company the number
and the nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments with an indication of the time
involved.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Biographies”
as set out on pages 8 to 17 of this annual report, the Board
members have no other financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other.

The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive and
Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) so that there is a sufficient independent element on the
Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgment.

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) are of sufficient number and calibre for their views to
carry weight. The functions of Non-executive Directors include:

° bringing independent judgment at Board meetings;

° taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

° serving on Board committees if invited; and

° scrutinising the Company’s performance and monitoring

performance reporting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) have made a positive contribution to the development
of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments. They give the Board and
the committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills,
expertise, varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular
attendance and active participation.

Composition of the Board is disclosed, and the Independent Non-
executive Directors are identified, in all corporate communications
to Shareholders.

Board Diversity

The Board Diversity Policy sets out its approach to achieve
diversity on the Board composition with a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, perspectives, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The Company will also take into account factors
based on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board Diversity Policy is published on the website of the
Company.
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Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to guide the
Nomination Committee in relation to selection, appointment and
re-appointment of the Directors.

Criteria for Evaluation, Selection and Recommendation for
Candidate(s) for Directorships to the Board

(a)

(b)

character and integrity;

qualifications, including experience in the relevant
industries the Company’s business is involved in and other
professional qualifications;

the Board Diversity Policy, having considered a number of
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
perspectives, skills, knowledge and length of service;

commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest;

contribution that the candidate(s) can potentially bring to the
Board; and

any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

(collectively, the “Criteria”)
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Criteria for Evaluation and Recommendation for
Retiring Director(s) to the Board for Re-appointment

(a)

the overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s)
to the Company, including but not limited to the attendance
of the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and
general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level
of participation and performance on the Board and/or its
committees; and

whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the
Criteria.

In addition to the Criteria, the Nomination Committee will evaluate
and recommend candidate(s) for the position(s) of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors by giving due consideration to the factors
including but not limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13
of the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time). Where any
candidate(s) for Independent Non-executive Director(s) or any
retiring Independent Non-executive Director(s) will be holding
his/her seventh (7th) or more listed company directorship, the
Nomination Committee will evaluate whether the individual will
be able to devote sufficient time to the Board, and make the
recommendation(s) to the Board accordingly.

Nomination Procedures and Process

(a)

the Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from current Directors,
advertisements, recommendations from third-party
recruitment agencies, and proposals from Shareholders
with due consideration given to the Criteria;

the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as interviews, background checks, presentations and
third party reference checks;

upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

the Nomination Committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of remuneration package of
such selected candidate;
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(e) the Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and where a Non-executive Director is
considered, the Remuneration Committee will make
the recommendation to the Board on the proposed
remuneration package;

(f) the Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not
members of the Nomination Committee and the Board will
thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the
case may be; and

(9) all appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director
(or any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director
to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as
the case may be) to be filed with the Companies Registry
of Hong Kong and updating the Register of Directors of the
Company.

Role and Function of the Board and the Management

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and
performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day
operations of the Company to the Executive Committee and
senior management within the control and authority framework
set by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Investment
Committee and the Asset Management Committee (which was
dissolved in September 2020). Further details of these committees
are set out in this corporate governance report.

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and holds at least four Board meetings
a year. Additional meetings will be arranged, if and when required.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through electronic
means of communication in accordance with the Articles.
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The Company Secretary assists the Co-Chairmen in drawing up
the agenda of each Board meeting. The draft agenda of each
regular Board meeting will be sent to all Directors for review
before the agenda is issued and all Directors may request for
inclusion of other matters in the agenda. The Co-Chairmen will
take into account the matters proposed by the Directors and
where appropriate, approve the inclusion of such matters in the
agenda of the Board meeting. Generally, at least 14-day notice of
a regular Board meeting is given and the Company aims at giving
reasonable notice for all other Board meetings. The Company also
aims at sending the agenda and the accompanying board papers,
which are prepared in a form and quality sufficient to enable the
Board to make informed decisions on matters placed before it, to
all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a Board
meeting. Where queries are raised by Directors, prompt and full
responses will be given if possible.

There have been procedures in place to enable Directors to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense. The Board shall resolve to, upon
reasonable request, provide separate independent professional
advice to Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committee meetings, draft and final
versions of which would be sent to Directors for comments and
records respectively, within a reasonable time after each meeting.
Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered
and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors
or dissenting views (if any) expressed. Minutes of Board meetings
and Board committee meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection by any Director/committee
member.

If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board (including a
material transaction with connected persons) which the Board
has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with
by a physical Board meeting, rather than a written resolution.
Independent Non-executive Directors who, and whose associates,
have no material interest in the transaction should be present at
that Board meeting.
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Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, a Director shall not vote on
any Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement or any
other proposal in which he or any of his associates has a material
interest nor shall he be counted in the quorum present at the
meeting.

Attendance Records

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors
have made active contribution to the affairs of the Group and four
physical Board meetings were held to consider, among other
things, various projects contemplated by the Group, and to review
and approve the interim results and annual results of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ attendance in 2020 are as follows:

BREMARAEEREE RAIRRPIATF 2B
SUTASN - FEFHEEMABEARTMAEL
ZHREAEMEZTEEERN D  BRAES
TRABBZAN  THABRBRZEFERER
ETRR > TR ARRERHE ZEEA
2o

ﬁﬁfﬂﬁ%

RBE-_T-_ZTF+_A=+—HULEMHFE -
%%FW%E@K%I%%% W BRITHRES
BeH  UEEETERAKERETZRE
HE  UREMAMLEREE 2P REEREF

EEN_T_TFHFECEHBOT

Number of meeting(s)
attended/eligible to attend

HEERAE
EERHEERRHE
Executive Directors HITER
Zhu Weijun (resigned on 1 October 2020) 51%1?}?(/7\_ E-FF+H—HHEHT) 3/4
Wu Hao (appointed on 1 October 2020) ()7\_ T _EFF+H—HEZE) 0/0
Ding Lei (resigned on 26 June 2020) TEE (R=ZF=—FFNA =+ NHET) 171
Li Neng e 4/4
Zhao Quan fE 3/4
Chen Chao PR B 3/4
Zhang Can R IR 3/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHITEE
Leung Shun Sang, Tony REA 4/4
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin T 4/4
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey N ES = 4/4
Chen Lihua PRREEEE 4/4
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Access to Information

The Board is supplied with sufficient explanation and information
by the management to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of financial and other information put before it for
approval. The management provides all Board members with
monthly updates which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient details to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties. Where any Director
requires more information than is volunteered by the management,
each Director has the right to separately and independently access
to the Company’s senior management to make further enquiries if
necessary.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will give
adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy and review
the profiles of the candidates and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and nomination of
Directors.

According to the Articles, any Director so appointed by the Board
shall hold office, in the case of filling a casual vacancy, only until
the next following general meeting of the Company or, in the
case of an addition to their number, until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible for
re-election at such annual general meeting. Every Director is
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All Directors (including all Non-executive Directors) have entered
into service agreements or letters of engagement with the
Company for a term of not more than three years.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed four Independent Non-executive Directors
and one of them has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

As required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the number of
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company represents
at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

Any re-election of an Independent Non-executive Director who
has served the Board for more than nine years, his/her further
appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by Shareholders.

Insurance for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability

Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
has been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group
from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of the Group.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction of
regulatory requirements. Directors are continually updated on the
latest development of the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practice. Directors are also encouraged to participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company Secretary facilitates
induction and professional development of Directors.
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All Directors have provided to the Company their records of FIBZEHEAARARERER S _ZF— A
training received during the period from 1 January 2020 or the —HSEZTAZEEAHEHITESTHHL_-F
date of appointment as a Director to the date of resignation asa Z—ZF+-A=-+—HI-HE@@EH)ZEZEI
Director or 31 December 2020, where applicable, a summary of  Z&28% @ BT ¢

which is as follows:

Continuous professional development

HEEXERE
Type™e? Subject”oe "
Directors 2= B eay A&
Zhu Weijun (resigned on 1 October 2020) H®EHE (R-_ZFE=_FF+H—H A 1
BEHE)
Wu Hao (appointed on 1 October 2020)  R&ER-FE-—FF+HA—H A 1
BZ(F)
B 1
Ding Lei (resigned on 26 June 2020) T&R=ZF=ZFF~A=F~H B 1
BEHE)
Li Neng FEe A 1
B 1
Zhao Quan i B 1
Chen Chao PR iR A 1
B 1
Zhang Can RIE A 1
B 1
Leung Shun Sang, Tony 2B A4 A 1
B 1
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin T A 1
B 1
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey h7/ eSS B 1,2,3
D 1,2
Chen Lihua PREEZE A 1
B 1
Note I: Mz -
A: Attending seminars, conferences, forums, in-house briefings or  A: LRS- 2% w8 ABPHT LSRRI
in-house training b=l
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates B: MERE  TIYREFER
C: Giving talks at seminars, conferences or forums C: RARE  SRAmBEREDN
D: Others D: HAh
Note Il: BtaEl
i Laws, rules and regulations 1: A BRBROER
2: Finance, accounting or taxation 2 % - BB
3: Management 3: ==
4: Businesses relating to the Company 4: HARNBHBARER
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CO-CHAIRMEN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Except for the deviation stated on page 31 of this annual report,
the roles of Co-Chairmen and Chief Executive Officer are
separate and exercised by different individuals to reinforce their
independence and accountability.

The Articles and the CG Code have stipulated the duties and
responsibilities of the chairman of the Board. The Board believes
that the Co-Chairmen can perform their roles without conflict, and
the Company’s previous disclosures regarding the roles of the Co-
Chairmen continue to apply.

During the year, Mr. Wu Hao and Mr. Li Neng, being the Co-
Chairmen, held one meeting with the Independent Non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the following committees to oversee
particular aspects of the Company's affairs and to assist in the
execution of the Board's responsibilities. All committees have their
own terms of reference. All resolutions passed by the committees
will be reported to the Board at the next Board meeting.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in April 2005 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authorities and duties.

The Executive Committee has been conferred with the general
powers of the Board (except those matters specifically reserved
for the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the Group
and has been assigned with the responsibilities to perform the
corporate governance duties as follows:

° to develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous

professional development of Directors and senior
management;
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° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Group's
employees and Directors;

° to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

° to conform to any requirement, direction, regulation that
may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitution of the Company or imposed by
legislation.

The Executive Committee comprises the Executive Directors
(as appointed from time to time). The members of the Executive
Committee during 2020 and up to the date of this annual report
are:

Mr. Ding Lei (chairman)
(resigned on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Li Neng (member at the beginning of the year and
appointed as chairman on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Zhu Weijun (resigned on 1 October 2020)

Mr. Zhang Can

Mr. Wu Hao (appointed on 1 October 2020)

During the year, no physical meeting of the Executive Committee
was held. All the work performed by the Executive Committee
during the year was passed by resolutions in writing.

The major work in relation to the corporate governance of the
Group performed by the Executive Committee during the year
included but was not limited to the review of the Company's
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate
governance report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in December 1998
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are published on the websites of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, amongst
other things:

° overseeing the relationship with the Company's auditor;
° reviewing the interim and annual financial statements;
° reviewing the Company's financial reporting system and

internal control procedures; and

° reviewing the arrangements that employees of the
Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any
activity within its terms of reference and the authority to obtain
external legal or other independent professional advice, at the
Company's expense, to perform its responsibilities if it considers
necessary. It is given access to and assistance from the employees
and reasonable resources to perform its duties properly.

The chairman of the Audit Committee is an Independent Non-
executive Director and the Audit Committee comprises the
Independent Non-executive Directors. None of the members of
the Audit Committee are former partners of the auditor of the
Company. The members of the Audit Committee during 2020 and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (chairman)

Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony
Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey
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During the year, two physical meetings of the Audit Committee
were held and the attendance of the members of the Audit
Committee are as follows:
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FR - BELZECERITMAEHR  EXEZES
BEREMHFREEMT

Number of meeting(s)
attended/eligible to attend

HESBERE

SEREEERRE

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (chairman) MFEE(EE) 2/2
Leung Shun Sang, Tony 284 2/2
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey YN E S 2/2

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year
included, amongst other things, the following:

° reviewing the final results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019; and

° reviewing the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2020.

During the year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in April 2005 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are published on the websites of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board
and making recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy,

° identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board;
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° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors;

° assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive

Directors; and

° reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate; and
reviewing the measurable objectives that have been set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress
on achieving the objectives.

Where vacancies exist at the Board, candidates are proposed
and put forward to the Nomination Committee for consideration.
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will
then be tendered to the Board for approval. In considering the
nomination of a new Director, the Nomination Committee will give
adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy and take into
account the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership
and professional ethics of the candidates. In determining the
independence of Directors, the Board follows the requirements set
out in the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee has explicit authority to seek any
necessary information from the employees within its scope
of duties and the authority to obtain external independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its
responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is one of the
Co-Chairmen and the Independent Non-executive Directors
constitute the majority of the Nomination Committee. The
members of the Nomination Committee during 2020 and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Mr. Zhu Weijun (chairman) (resigned on 1 October 2020)
Mr. Li Neng (appointed as chairman on 1 October 2020)
Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin

Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey

During the year, no physical meeting of the Nomination Committee

was held. All the work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year was passed by resolutions in writing.
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The major work performed by the Nomination Committee during
the year included, amongst other things, the following:

° assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors;

° considering and making recommendations to the Board on
the re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting;

° considering and making recommendation to the Board for
the appointment of Mr. Li Neng as the Chief Executive
Officer and Co-Chairman; and

° considering and making recommendation to the Board for
the appointment of Mr. Wu Hao as an Executive Director
and Co-Chairman.

Note: The Nomination Committee performed the following work in March
2021:
o reviewing the structure and composition of the Board with

due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in April 2005 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are published on the websites of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:
° making recommendations to the Board on the Company’'s

policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management of the Group;

° reviewing and approving the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Company’s goals and
objectives;

° determining, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration

packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;
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° reviewing and approving compensation payable to Executive
Directors and senior management and compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors
for misconduct; and

° ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Co-Chairmen
and/or the Chief Executive Officer about their remuneration
proposals for other Executive Directors. It has explicit authority
to seek any necessary information from the employees within its
scope of duties and the authority to obtain external independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its
responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The remuneration policies for the Company as well as the
Directors are aligned with the market and reward for performance.
The Company reviews the remuneration package annually, taking
into consideration of the market practice, competitive market
position and individual performance.

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is an Independent
Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-executive
Directors constitute the majority of the Remuneration Committee.
The members of the Remuneration Committee during 2020 and up
to the date of this annual report are:

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (chairman)

Mr. Zhu Weijun (resigned on 1 October 2020)
Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony

Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey

Mr. Chen Chao (appointed on 1 October 2020)

During the year, no physical meeting of the Remuneration
Committee was held. All the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the year was passed by resolutions in writing.

The major work performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the year included, amongst other things, the following:

° considering and approving the terms of the service
agreement and the remuneration of Mr. Wu Hao;

° considering and approving the salary arrangement of Mr.

Wu Hao, Mr. Ding Lei and Mr. Zhao Quan (Executive
Directors); and
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° considering and approving the one-off special allowance of
Mr. Li Neng.

Note: The Remuneration Committee performed the following work in
March 2021:
° considering, reviewing and determining the remuneration

of the Executive Directors for the year of 2021; and

o making recommendations to the Board on the directors’
fee of the Independent Non-executive Directors for the
year of 2021.

Details of remuneration paid to Directors and senior management
for the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee was established in July 2009 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authorities and duties. During the year, no physical meeting was
held and no resolutions in writing was passed by the Investment
Committee. The members of the Investment Committee during
2020 and up to the date of this annual report are:

Mr. Ding Lei (chairman)
(resigned on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Zhu Weijun (appointed as chairman on 26 June 2020 and
resigned on 1 October 2020)

Mr. Wu Hao (appointed as chairman on 1 October 2020)

Mr. Li Neng

Mr. Zhang Can

Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin

Pursuant to the terms of reference, the Investment Committee
comprises the Executive Directors (as appointed from time to
time) and two Non-executive Directors (amongst the two Non-
executive Directors, at least one must be an Independent Non-
executive Director).
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Asset Management Committee

The Asset Management Committee was established in July 2019
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authorities and duties. During the year, no physical meeting
was held and no resolutions in writing was passed by the Asset
Management Committee.

Pursuant to the terms of reference, the Asset Management
Committee comprised two members from the Company and one
member from the financial advisor of the Company.

The Asset Management Committee was responsible for reviewing
and researching of the disposal plan of the Company’s fixed
assets, including assets in Singapore, golf courses in the United
States, golf courses in Dongguan, the PRC, building in London,
United Kingdom, and other assets of the Company and its member
companies.

The Asset Management Committee was dissolved in September
2020.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that board policies
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board through the Co-Chairmen and/
or the Chief Executive Officer on corporate governance and the
implementation of the CG Code. The Company Secretary is an
employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group's affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Co-Chairmen and the
Chief Executive Officer. All Directors also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that
board procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations,
are followed. The selection, appointment and dismissal of the
Company Secretary are subject to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less

than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year of
2020.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In compliance with the requirement set out in code provision E.1.5
of the CG Code, the Board adopted the Dividend Policy. According
to the Dividend Policy, in proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account the following criteria, including:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
° general business conditions and strategies;
° distributable profit of the Company and each of the other

members of the Group;

° the Group's expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

° the Group's indebtedness level, debt to equity ratios,
liquidity position and future commitments at the time of

declaration of dividend;

o any contractual restrictions on payment of dividend (may be
imposed by the Group's lenders or other third parties);

° taxation considerations and legal and regulatory restrictions;
° general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company; and

° other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND
RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is of the opinion that sound internal control and risk
management systems will contribute to the effectiveness and
efficiency of operations of the Group and to the safeguard of the
Group’s assets as well as the Shareholders’ investment.

The Board is responsible for ensuring, maintaining and overseeing
the overall internal control and risk management systems of the
Group. The Executive Committee assists the Board in discharging
its responsibilities of ensuring and maintaining sound internal
control and risk management functions by continuously reviewing
and monitoring the internal control and risk management systems
and processes so as to ensure that they can provide reasonable
assurance against material errors and potential risk of the Group.

The internal control and risk management systems are embedded
within the business processes and function as an integral part
of the overall operations of the Group. The systems comprise a
comprehensive organisation structure with assignment of definite
accountabilities and delegation of the corresponding authorities to
each post. Based on the organisation structure, an accountability
system has been developed, which includes a reporting system
from division head of each principal business unit to the Executive
Committee.

Business plans and budgets are prepared by the division head of
each principal business unit annually. In preparing the business
plans and budgets, the management identifies and evaluates
any potential risks. Measures will be put in place with an aim to
ultimately managing, controlling or lessening such risks.

The business plans and budgets are subject to review and
approval by the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee
reviews monthly management report on the operational and
financial results of each principal business unit and measures the
actual performance of the Group against the business plans and
budgets concerned. In this course, the Executive Committee also
reviews and assesses the effectiveness of all material controls
and the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budgets of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function. The Executive Committee holds
periodical meetings with the senior management of each principal
business unit to, amongst other matters, address the issues
in such controls, identify areas of improvement and put the
appropriate measures in place.
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The internal control and risk management systems of the Group
are documented and if any revision is required, such information
will be submitted to the Audit Committee for evaluation.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company is required
to disclose inside information as soon as reasonably practicable
in accordance with the SFO and the Listing Rules. The regulation
has included in the Company's internal control policy with a strict
prohibition on the unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information. This ensures, through its own internal reporting
processes and the consideration of the outcome by senior
management, the appropriate handling and dissemination of inside
information.

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfill its oversight role
over the Group's internal control and risk management functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of the overall
internal control and risk management systems.

After reviewing the practice of the business operation of the
Group, the internal audit functions are performed in two folds,
whereby (i) the Company level has a specific focus on monitoring
and improving the internal control of the Group as a whole, and (ii)
the CWT SG Group level is responsible for the internal control and
risk management of the specific business of CWT SG Group.

The internal audit function of the Company level is independent
of the operational departments at the Company level, and assists
the Board and the Audit Committee in consistently monitoring the
internal control and risks of which the Group encounters during
operation and ensuring that all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls as well as risk management,
are in place and functioning effectively.

The internal audit function of CWT SG Group level is performed
by an audit controller of CWT SG Group, who is an independent
qualified person, reports to the chief financial officer of CWT SG
Group, the Audit Committee and the Board with findings and
makes recommendations to improve the internal control and risk
management systems of CWT SG Group.
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Internal Audit Functions

During the year under review, the Board has been, through the
Executive Committee and the Audit Committee, continuously
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal control systems
by way of internal audit reports submitted by the internal audit
functions semi-annually, and considers the systems effective and
adequate. The Board also considers that adequate resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company's accounting and financial reporting function have
been provided.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code of conduct
of the Company for Directors’ securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all the Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company's code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

Employees who are likely to possess inside information in relation
to the Company or its Shares are prohibited from dealing in Shares
during the relevant period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s
auditor are set out as follows:
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HK$'000
Services rendered Fri= 1 PR 75 BT T
KPMG EEHETEKAT
- Audit services - B RS 15,467
- Non-audit services - IEEET RS 2,094
Other External Auditors HShEAZ EED
- Audit services - BE RS 339
- Non-audit services - IEFEFTARTS -
Total st 17,900
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and
in presenting the annual and interim reports and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules. The Directors aim to
present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the
Group's position and prospects.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

On 22 March 2012, the Board adopted a shareholders’
communication policy reflecting the current practices of the
Company for communication with its Shareholders. Such
policy aims at ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company, in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to
allow the Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.

To foster effective communications with the Shareholders,
the Company provides extensive information in its annual
and interim reports and announcements. All Shareholders’
communications are also available on the Company’s website at
www.cwtinternational.com.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful
forum for the Shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
All Directors will make an effort to attend. External auditor will
also attend the annual general meeting to address Shareholders’
queries. In case of any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval, members of the independent Board
committee will also make an effort to attend to address
Shareholders’ queries.

During the year, one general meeting was held, which was the
annual general meeting held on 26 June 2020 (the “2020 AGM").
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The auditor of the Company, KPMG, attended the 2020 AGM.
Details of the Directors’ attendance at the general meeting of the
Company held during the year are as follows:

ARRABMESHEHMERMEET =
TERRBAFAE - EENFRBITZARAMR
RAGMHFREFROT

Attendance

at the

2020 AGM

HE

i g 2

Directors 2= BRBFEARSE

Executive Directors HITEE

Zhu Weijun (resigned on 1 October 2020) KEER=—F=-FF+F—HEFE) v

Wu Hao (appointed on 1 October 2020) RER-_E-FTF+HA—HEZH) -

Ding Lei (resigned on 26 June 2020) TRV =ZZFZFFNHZ-1TNHEFHF) v/

Li Neng = v/

Zhao Quan izt v

Chen Chao PR iR X

Zhang Can SRR X
Independent Non-executive Directors BIHHITESE

Leung Shun Sang, Tony 2 g4 4

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin T 4

Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey NS 4

Chen Lihua PREEZE v

During the year, the Company has sent notices of general
meetings to its Shareholders for all the general meetings held.
In the case of an annual general meeting, the Company has sent
the notices to its Shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting. Separate resolutions were proposed at
general meetings on each substantially separate issue, including
the election of individual Directors, and all resolutions put to
vote at a general meeting were taken by way of a poll. At the
general meetings, the chairman of the meetings explained the
procedures for conducting a poll and answered questions from the
Shareholders on voting by poll, if any. The results of the poll were
published on the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited and the Company respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convene a General Meeting

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights
of all Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings can
request the Directors to call a general meeting pursuant to section
566 of the Companies Ordinance. The request must state the
general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and
may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at the meeting. Such request must
be authenticated by the Shareholder(s) making it and sent to the
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

Put Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights
of all Shareholders or at least 50 Shareholders who have a relevant
right to vote at a general meeting can request the Company to
circulate to the Shareholders a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution
or other business to be dealt with at that meeting pursuant to
Section 580 of the Companies Ordinance. The expenses shall be
borne by the Shareholder(s) making the request unless the meeting
concerned is an annual general meeting and the statement is
received by the Company in time for sending with the notice of the
meeting. The request must identify the statement to be circulated,
and must be authenticated by the Shareholder(s) making it and
sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form for
the attention of the Company Secretary at least 7 days before the
meeting to which it relates.
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Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights
of all Shareholders or at least 50 Shareholders who have a right to
vote on the resolution at an annual general meeting can request
the Company to give to the Shareholders notice of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance.
The request must identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given, and must be authenticated by the Shareholder(s) making it
and sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form
for the attention of the Company Secretary no later than 6 weeks
before the annual general meeting to which the requests relate, or
if later, the time at which notice of the meeting is given.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Specific enquiries or suggestions by the Shareholders can be sent
in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our registered
office or by email to our Company. In addition, Shareholders
can contact Tricor Tengis Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and
entitlement to dividend. Relevant contact details are set out on
page 7 of this annual report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company's constitutional documents
during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors herein present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a Hong Kong-based investment holding company
principally engaged in integrated logistics services and related
engineering services. The Company is also engaged in the
affiliated business of commodity marketing and financial services.
The Company disposed of its business of operation of sports
and leisure-related facilities in January 2020. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
and the financial status of the Group as at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 83 to 263 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year (2019: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of
the performance for the year ended 31 December 2020 and an
indication of likely future development in the business of the Group
are provided in the Co-Chairmen’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report. Description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group can be found
throughout this annual report, in particular Notes 2, 3 and 38 to the
consolidated financial statements. Particulars of important events
affecting the Group since the end of the year of 2020 can be found
in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report. An analysis using financial key performance indicators
is provided in the Financial Highlights and the Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report. The important
events affecting the Group since the end of the year 2020 are set
out under the heading “Events After the Reporting Date” of this
report.
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The Group is committed to promote environmental policies, during
the year:

1. Commodity Marketing

Commodity marketing business and its employees operate
in accordance with the Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct Policy and Corporate Social Responsibility
Policy. The policy documents state that the company
strives to minimize detrimental environmental issues
and is committed to meeting all environmental laws and
legislation in the countries and regions in which it operates.
There have been no reported environmental issues that the
operating company is aware of during the year of 2020.

2. Logistics Services

We strive to be environmentally friendly in the way we
work and operate the business. Our efforts are focused
on minimising emissions and improving energy efficiency
of our warehouse buildings and trucking fleet. We actively
promote a safe and green workplace while adopting green
features such as use of solar energy, motion sensors and
eco vehicle engines that reduce the environmental impact
of our operations. We continue to maintain conformity with
the related regulatory and governing bodies and there were
no deviations from our environmental and safety policies
and practices in 2020.

3. Financial Services

Due to the nature of its business, financial services
business does not have any environmental policies in place.

4. Engineering Services

Engineering services business consistently carries out best
practices that are locally and internationally recognised
to protect and sustain the environment. We are ISO
14001:2004 certified and conform to the International
Environmental Management System standards. We also
support environmental sustainability among service firms
in the building industry, armed with regulatory certifications
in Singapore Green Building Services as well as Singapore
Green and Gracious Builder.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group complied
with all relevant applicable laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group:

1. Commodity Marketing

Commodity marketing business and its employees operate
in accordance with the Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct Policy, Corporate Social Responsibility Policy,
and Global Anti-Corruption Policy. The policy documents
state the company’s commitment to obeying the laws
of Switzerland, Singapore and other countries in which
commodity marketing conducts business, and for its actions
to be guided by the virtues of good citizenship. There
have been no reported breaches of law that the operating
company is aware of during the year of 2020.

2. Logistics Services

Guided by our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, we
comply with applicable laws and regulations in countries
where we operate. In Singapore, where our core operations
are based, legislations related to our business nature mainly
include workplace safety and health, environment, road
traffic and fire safety. As far as we are concerned, we are
not aware of any serious breach that will materially affect
business operations.

3. Financial Services

Financial services business provides financial services and
trading access to the global derivatives markets in general.
Our regulated entities Straits Financial Services Pte.
Ltd. and Straits Financial LLC come under the regulatory
ambit of the Monetary Authority of Singapore and the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission in the United
States respectively. These entities are subject to regulatory
reporting obligations throughout the year. As of 31
December 2020, business operations have been compliant,
and there are no significant regulatory breaches that have
hindered or threaten to hinder the continuity of the business
and existing licences.
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4. Engineering Services

We operate in accordance with our Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct Policy and complies with Singapore’s
applicable laws and mandatory regulations related to our
fields of business. There have been no reported breaches
of law that the operating company is aware of during the
year 2020.

Note:

The Company disposed of its business of operation of sports and
leisure-related facilities in January 2020.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 264
of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’'s share capital during
the year are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity on pages 89 to 92 of this annual
report and in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year for charitable
purpose amounted to approximately HK$197,914 (2019:
HK$193,479).
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Zhu Weijun (resigned on 1 October 2020)
Wu Hao (appointed on 1 October 2020)
Ding Lei (resigned on 26 June 2020)

Li Neng

Zhao Quan

Chen Chao

Zhang Can

Independent Non-executive Directors

Leung Shun Sang, Tony
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey
Chen Lihua

In accordance with Articles 95 and 104(A) of the Company’s
Articles, Mr. Wu Hao, Mr. Li Neng, Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin and
Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

A list of names of the directors who held office in the
Company's subsidiaries during the year and up to the date
of this annual report is available on the Company’s website
(www.cwtinternational.com).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service agreement with the Company,
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

The Directors who held office as at 31 December 2020 had the
following interests in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2020 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code:

Long Positions in the Shares of the Company

Capacity in which

Name of Director interests were held

EERRSTRAERKRSD
HEROREEZE ZEZRAR

RIZE-ZF+-_A=+—RH HEEEKXZA
EARRBZ O RABRD EE AL ARIEES
KB IGPIFEIG2RB TREFZERM - IRIE
RESTRIEBAAR R LB APz s T

RAERBRGD ZIHFR
Total interests
as to % of the
issued share
Numbers of capital of the
Shares in Company as at

the Company 31 December 2020

HRERMMAQT
R-B-ZF
+=ZB=+—H
EEHR BEEEZZH5H REQFZRHAEE CERRTBREFZEIH
Leung Shun Sang, Tony Beneficial owner 20,000,000 0.18%
2 E4 BEaEA A
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the ﬁ?J:XFﬁ?ﬁER%?l\ A —EF+A=1+—

Directors, chief executives or their respective associates had
any other personal, family, corporate and other interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” of this annual report, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE BETWEEN
THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES
AND A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER OR
ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES

During the financial year, there was no contract of significance
between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year, no Director has been recorded as having interests
in the businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
has been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group
from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of the Group.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETEHEE

EERERNIEER ZEF

BAFHEERESTRABRBRN « BERN
RAEWEE 2 m FORBIFTREE I - MEREM
R AR B REAAME R R EREITIE
MzhE FEFIRES A 2RBHRM /B
ZFHAIRBEARA S EMNEMEABEE 2K
DX ERERE S -

EENRE REREAREGHZESR

EAFEBERBERAFEERMEEA - HEER
EENEEEAMECERNETAERNKRAE
BEANBZERRS  THAANFHE -

RABHEEHE QA EERRR
FEEMAMBLARATLZEREN

R BERER - AR A E 08B A R B ER
ERBRRIEEMMHBRRRTLERGL °

EERBFERB 2 ES

FA- TECEBIEESNEANREXHRENX
KA EBKERKERBRF I EBT R EES

BERF 2 MERX
AEBCAEERERABBEABZ AR
B RRERAEEEBARZARIRERE -

2020 Annual Report « CWT International Limited



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETEHEE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

As at 31 December 2020, to the best knowledge of the Company
and according to the information as shown only in the register
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following
companies and persons had interests in the Shares and/or
underlying Shares which fell to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares/Underlying Shares

Capacity in which

BREFSRPERFAETREZRR
BERAR

RZE_ZEF+-—A=+—8  BARFRAE
A RBEARARFEIZESF KB EHE33615%
GzBRMARZER  THRRRATRES
k/SAABARGEEER  MAREKESNHEE
1B EEXVEBE 2 R 3D B M A A R EE -

B EERDZFE
Interests as to %
Number of of the issued
Shares/ share capital of

underlying the Company as at

Name of Shareholder interests were held Shares 31 December 2020 Note
3NN
R-EZEF
R4, HE8 +=—A=+-AHE
BRRER FERERZED BB EE BITRAZEDL liogzg
HNA Group (International) Beneficial owner 1,109,244,000 9.73% 1,2
i 5 B (B RR) EnEAA
Hong Kong HNA Beneficial owner 4,734,008,489 41.53% 1
BBEM EnBA
HNA Logistics Group Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled 4,734,008,489 41.53% 1
("HNA Logistics") corporations
BmmnEBER AR (CERYR]) X EE e
HNA Holding Group Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled 4,734,008,489 41.53% 1
(“"HNA Holding Group") corporations
BMEBEEEEERAR(EMEXEEE]) XA R
HNA Group Interests of controlled 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1,2
corporations
EEE AR R
Hainan Traffic Administration Holding Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1
(“Hainan Traffic Administration”) corporations
BEXEERERAR(CEERE] XEEE
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Interests as to %

Number of of the issued
Shares/ share capital of
Capacity in which underlying the Company as at
Name of Shareholder interests were held Shares 31 December 2020 Note
EREARAT
R-B-EH
B, 185 +T=ZA=t—HE
REREHE BEREEZEN REAEE BIIRAZBEDE Hrat
Sheng Tang Development (Yangpu) Co. Ltd. Interests of controlled 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1
(“Sheng Tang (Yangpu)”) corporations
BEZE(ODBERAR(RECER)) SEEB R
Tang Dynasty Development Company Limited Interests of controlled 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1
(“Tang Dynasty Development”) corporations

BREERERAF(RERE]) REEE s

Hainan Province Cihang Foundation Interests of controlled 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1

corporations
BHEAEM A GESE TEEE R
Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Interests of controlled 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1
Exchange Foundation Limited corporations
(“Cihang Sino-Western")

EMRAIXHEINESEERAA SEER R
3 TipA)

Notes: Biet -

1. As at 31 December 2020, HNA Group is a company established 1. RZZTZTF+A=+—0 " EmEEAE—
in the PRC with limited liability which directly owns approximately REFEKI2ERAR  EEHRAIMER
91.09% of HNA Group (International) and directly owns more than (BB)#91.09% R ENEEHREEMEESE
95% of HNA Holding Group. HNA Holding Group and HNA Group EiBiA95%Kk#E - BMEXEBERENEES
directly own approximately 51.38% and approximately 21.61% RIE A #)51.38% Kk #121.61 %}iﬂﬁ%}m%
respectively of HNA Logistics. HNA Logistics directly owns 100% BT EEREEENEERBRERA
of HNA Holding International Co., Limited, which in turn directly 100%0%#E - MEMEXBEBRERA 75\']5&%
owns 100% of Hong Kong HNA. BEBEM100%MRHE -
HNA Group is held as to 70% by Hainan Traffic Administration, BMEBHEEIEFBEIONKRE - M/EHE
which is in turn held as to 50% by Sheng Tang (Yangpu). Sheng RERIBBEECEH)FBE0%MRE - BECF
Tang (Yangpu) is held as to 65% and 35% respectively by Hainan DR HESEEEMAEESCTRBERRE
Province Cihang Foundation and Tang Dynasty Development, and Tﬁﬁﬁ65%&35%ﬂx$§ i &% & 3 & B B Pan-
Tang Dynasty Development is in turn 98% held by Pan-American American Aviation Holding Company (H &M
Aviation Holding Company, which is wholly held by Cihang Sino- RAEOEHFEEER)IFHIS%RAE -
Western.

2. On 11 January 2021, HNA Group (International) has provided an 2. RZEBE-_—F—A+—8 " SMEBEKB R

interest in the 1,109,244,000 Shares as security to HNA Group,
which has been released on 12 April 2021.

#£1,109,244,000/ f {7 #E 22 E R IRFE TIB M S
B EER-_T--FMOA+-HAEERK-
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, there is a
sufficiency of public float of the Company’s securities as required
under the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 7 June 2002, the Shareholders adopted the 2002 Scheme
which would be valid for a period of ten years. On 25 May 2012,
the Shareholders approved the termination of the 2002 Scheme
(to the effect that no further share option shall be granted by the
Company under the 2002 Scheme) and the adoption of a new
share option scheme, being the 2012 Scheme, which became
effective on 29 May 2012 upon the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange granting its approval for the listing of, and permission
to deal in, the Shares which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the options to be granted under the 2012 Scheme. The share
options granted under the 2002 Scheme prior to its termination
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
2002 Scheme.

A summary of the principal terms of each of the 2002 Scheme and
the 2012 Scheme is set out below:

(a) The 2002 Scheme

The purpose of the 2002 Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share options to selected participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Company and/or
its subsidiaries and/or its associated companies. The 2002
Scheme was adopted on 7 June 2002 and terminated on
29 May 2012 (the date on which the 2012 Scheme became
unconditional and effective).

Under the 2002 Scheme, the Directors may, at their
discretion, offer directors (including executive and non-
executive directors), executives, officers, employees or
shareholders, of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any of its associated companies, and any suppliers,
customers, consultants, advisers, agents, partners or
business associates who will contribute or have contributed
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of its
associated companies, share options to subscribe for
Shares.
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No share option under the 2002 Scheme is outstanding as
at the date of this annual report. Since the 2002 Scheme
was terminated on 29 May 2012, no further options can be
granted under the 2002 Scheme.

Each of the grantees was required to pay HK$1 as a
consideration for the grant of share options in accordance
with the 2002 Scheme. The offer of share options must be
accepted within 60 days from the date of the offer.

Save as disclosed above, there is no material difference in
the terms, which shall be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.09
of the Listing Rules, between the 2002 Scheme and the
2012 Scheme.

No share option was granted, exercised or cancelled, and a
total of 3,072,000 share options were lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2002 Scheme during the year. Details
of movements in the share options under the 2002 Scheme
during the year are as follows:

Options to subscribe for
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ARBRARRN 2 BRE
At the Lapsed At the Exercise
beginning during end of price per
Category or name of grantees of the year the year the year Date of grant  Exercise period share
ARAERHHE £4) ERER % RUBH gid BRTEE
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(b)

The 2012 Scheme

The purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to replace the 2002
Scheme and to continue to enable the Company to grant
share options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and/or any entity in
which any member of the Group holds any equity interest
(the “Invested Entities”). The 2012 Scheme shall be valid
and effective for the period of ten years commencing on 25
May 2012, being the date on which the 2012 Scheme was
conditionally adopted by the Shareholders and ending on 25
May 2022 (both dates inclusive).

Under the 2012 Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion,
offer full-time or part-time employees, executives, officers
or directors (including executive and non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of
the Invested Entities, and any advisers, consultants, agents,
suppliers, customers and distributors, who, in the sole
opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and/or any of the
Invested Entities, share options to subscribe for Shares.

No share option was granted under the 2012 Scheme
since its adoption. The maximum number of Shares
available for issue upon exercise of all share options which
may be granted under the 2012 Scheme is 224,214,117,
representing approximately 1.97% of the Shares in issue as
at the date of this annual report. The total number of Shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon the exercise
of share options to be granted under the 2012 Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to the issue of a circular by the Company and Shareholders’
approval in a general meeting. In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial Shareholder or an Independent
Non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, which
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of the offer of such grant (a) representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of
the grant; and (b) having an aggregate value of in excess of
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HK$5,000,000 (based on the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of each grant), such further grant of options
shall be subject to the issue of a circular by the Company
and Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting by a poll at
which all connected persons of the Company shall abstain
from voting in favour of the resolution concerning the grant
of such options, and/or such other requirements prescribed
under the Listing Rules from time to time. A connected
person of the Company will be permitted to vote against
the grant only if his intention to do so has been stated in
the circular. Any grant of share options to a Director, chief
executive or substantial Shareholder, or to any of their
associates, is required to be approved by the Independent
Non-executive Directors (excluding any Independent Non-
executive Director who is a grantee of the options).

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no share option may be exercised more than 10
years after it has been granted under the 2012 Scheme.
There is no requirement that a share option must be held
for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the
Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such
minimum period at the time of offer of any share options.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the date of offer of share options; (ii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer
of share options; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on
the date of offer of share options. Each of the grantees is
required to pay HK$1 as a consideration for his acceptance
of the grant of share options in accordance with the 2012
Scheme. The offer of share options must be accepted
within 30 days from the date of the offer.

Share options to be granted under the 2012 Scheme do
not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
general meetings.

No share option has been granted under the 2012 Scheme
since its adoption. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2020,
there was no share option outstanding under the 2012
Scheme.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities (whether
on the Stock Exchange or otherwise) during the year ended 31
December 2020.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have any
reserves available for distribution as calculated in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Companies Ordinance.

The Company’s capital reserve represents a non-distributable
reserve.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, MAJOR
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the total sales from
continuing operations for the year. Purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total
purchases relating to continuing operations for the year. None of
the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company'’s issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers.

Commodity Marketing

Commodity marketing business operates its business with
integrity, fairness and openness, guided by its Code of Ethics
and Business Conduct. We treat all employees, customers and
suppliers equitably, honestly, and with good management in order
to ensure a harmonious and safe working environment. There
were neither significant infringements nor deviation from our usual
practices that the company is aware of during the year of 2020.

@ CWT International Limited o 20204 4 &

BE LEIWEAXLQFZzEmES

REBE-_ZE-_FTF+_-_A=+—HILEE  &xQ
7] 3 E AT R B JB8 A ) 8 48 72 B A2 BT sl AT M) L 3F
ELXSHEE BERERAQR ZIM LEHE
S

A 57 ke
R|EIA - REAF GG ZABATHE - &
DEDMEAE TR -

ARBZEREEETA DIRGER

BES  FERF
AT zBE&
REEFER  AEERAAEP ZHEEMERN
FERBRERH  RIHERLINI0% - A5H
ARAAEERZRBEIEAFEESERLE XK
BB BERBHELN30% - EEICH A E
BARREEHMAHAARRABES %D EITR
MZERARKRR - HERAEERIREF MMHER
A R o

BB K At

BAmES
BB HFHHEERTAIRESETES - U
HE - AP REBRNEREBERE - ZAIQF

BB EHEEE B REER - DEAR
FEE - ABRRIERANRRS - R-F-F
o ORARL T AES AR E S RIR R
ABEANER -



Logistics Services

We are committed to a conducive working environment and treat
all our stakeholders with fairness and integrity. We engage with
employees, customers and suppliers to review processes and
improve performance while forging strong relationships. Our active
interactions with stakeholders keep us on top of things and help
shape our business plans and strategies. No anomalies with regard
to our stakeholder management and business conduct were
brought to our attention during the year under review.

Financial Services

We are committed to the ethical treatment of all our stakeholders.
For our employees, we are committed to honesty, just
management and fairness, providing a safe environment, and
respecting the dignity due to everyone. For our customers,
we value them as our business partners and are committed to
provide them with value for money services. For our suppliers,
we value them as our business partners and are committed to
fair competition and the sense of responsibility required of a good
customer and partner.

Engineering Services

We treat our employees, customers and suppliers equitably. For
employees, we offer competitive remuneration and benefits to
attract and retain talent while practising open communication
in the workplace and encouraging constructive feedback. For
customers, we provide a high level of service performance at
market competitive prices in order to meet their expectations and
retain their business. On that note, many of our customers have
been with us continuously for many years. For suppliers, we value
their business partnership and work with them closely to achieve
and maintain strong quality service and relationships.

Note:

The Company disposed of its business of operation of sports and leisure-
related facilities in January 2020.
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DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF
THE LISTING RULES

On 3 September 2020, a principal amount of HK$716,000,000 was
advanced by HNA Group (International) to the Company for a term
of two years under the Promissory Note, pursuant to which, it is,
among other things, an event of default if HNA Group does not
or ceases to directly and/or indirectly own at least 30% of all the
equity interests in the Company. The lender may at any time after
the happening of an event of default under the Promissory Note,
upon written notice to the Company, declare such outstanding
principal sum and all other sums due thereunder have become
due and payable, whereupon the same shall immediately or
in accordance with the term of the notice, become due and
payable, and/or exercise any or all of its rights, remedies, powers
or discretions under the Promissory Note. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 3 September 2020 for
further details.

Note:

On and with effect from 7 April 2021, HNA Group (International) assigned
to HNA Tourism all of its rights and obligations in the Promissory Note
and its right to collect and be paid all principal, interest and other sums
due under or in respect of the Promissory Note pursuant to a deed
of assignment dated 7 April 2021 entered into between HNA Group
(International) and HNA Tourism. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 8 April 2021 for further details.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Saved as disclosed above, no related party transaction in Note
39(a), (b) and (c) of the consolidated financial statements which
took place during the year constitutes connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 31 to 58 of this annual
report.
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BEEEREE
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE HEAHEER
Details of significant events occurring after the reporting date are BRBRBREBAEREZEXRETB ZHBHNER
set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements. AR RMIFE42 -
AUDITOR %= ¢

KPMG will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for ZE5EHSMELABTREE  FAERILEE
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting, at ERAERITZRERAF RS FERET - AR
which a resolution for re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the FIERZAE HEREHEZEEEHNSTMER

Company will be proposed. Fr BN A RIZE AN 2 B -
By order of the Board EEESMm
Li Neng Zhe
Co-Chairman ey
Hong Kong, 31 March 2021 EH —E-_—F=A=+—8
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B M % B HRE

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
CWT International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CWT
International Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 83 to 263, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2020 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Recognition and measurement of commodity marketing
revenue

Refer to accounting policy Note 2(aa) and Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements

The key audit matter
BRETEER

BYZBERE

BRFISEE
FRRETSHERERMANEXRHE - RREX
PR BEHRERNBIRREENEH - GLF
AeaERMEFBEREAMBHRRALLARRE
EITREN - RM T EHELFTREHREBNE
E/Q

BmE S BEEARTE

FLHRE S IRE M i 2(aa) 2 & 5T BOR K
Htit6

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMHWETNAEEZSE

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised
total revenue from continuing operations of HK$44,673,571,000,
of which HK$38,918,873,000, or 87%, was attributable to the
commodity marketing activities with high volume of individual
transactions.

RBEZZ-_ZFF+_A=Z=+—RBLFE - ESEHERX
BREECEEBMBRIREE®¥A44,673,571,000 @ EF B
38,918,873,0007L 87 % BN EmE S EE - EXERERE
GEHIZRGEBERAZEERFHE o

Certain of the Group's revenue from the commodity marketing
activities related to sales of metal concentrates. For such sales,
at the point of transfer of control of the commodity, the Group
estimates the fair value of the consideration under the sales
contract with reference to the forward price for the month of
settlement, and provisionally estimates the quality and quantity
of the commodity. These estimates are provisional as they are
subject to a final assay and weight certificates carried out by
an independent third party. At settlement, the amount of the
receivable is fixed based on the spot price of the commodity at
certain dates and the confirmed metal contents and quantities with
any differences between the actual and provisional sales amounts
being recognised in revenue.

EXERENEREZEDNE THREHEESBERBEEM - 3t
ZHEMES REEMmOEHE R - BE5EZ2ZELEEEAN
EHREREAHESNETRBZAABETEREAERNES
HHE  HAZEMARTBLE - TNRKTAIREEZENTE -
EmezE et B R - REER - BIIEN B DIRERN @
RETHHNREEREERANCESERYEET  ERIHER
EEEHER M EMEERN TR -

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition
and measurement of commodity marketing
revenue included the following:

BIARTAERE SRR KT ENEFE
FEUATEIA -
o evaluating the design, implementation and

operating effectiveness of key internal
controls which govern the recognition and
measurement of commodity marketing
revenue;

J HREREMESRAERLFTENETER
BTG b - AT ERET - BELREEK
0

o inspecting the sale and purchase

agreements, on a sample basis for each
type of commodity marketing transactions,
to understand the terms and evaluate the
appropriateness of revenue recognition,
measurement and presentation with
reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

. DRSS S8 ELnESIRFHH
BBz ATHREBGRE2ERITE
TR Z HRE AR R R - 5H 8 RIIR
ARSI
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B B AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Recognition and measurement of commodity marketing
revenue

Refer to accounting policy Note 2(aa) and Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

The key audit matter
BRENEE

BRETEE®
%nn? %H&ﬁéiﬁ &‘1’5(2%\

FRHEENBEHREXN iE2(aa) 2 &5 BE R
HiiZ6(4&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETOAEEZSE

We identified recognition and measurement of commodity
marketing revenue as a key audit matter because the volume
of transactions increases the risk of error in the recognition of
revenue and significant judgement is involved in estimating the
price adjustments of affected commodities.
HRRZEFEMERER WS 2 B - BREHELRZEEm
ZEBRARSNERALE  SEMETEARE SRR 2 ERNGE
REARETEE -
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o comparing, on a sample basis, revenue
transactions recorded during the year
with the underlying sale and purchase
agreements, bills of lading, invoices and
bank-in slips for settled balance and
assessing whether the related revenue
had been recognised in accordance with
the Group’s revenue recognition policies;

. AR - BRFACHNKRR S5 E
HABEE DS  1R¥ BEREBHAEENRE
E’\Jﬁiﬁiﬁ,ﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬂtb? I &F (e AR B U

BERE ESENKRERBETIA

7 .
N

° comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and
after the financial year end date with the
underlying sale and purchase agreements
and bills of lading to determine whether
the related revenue had been recognised
in the appropriate financial period; and

. UHEAR - BEBFEFLER 2RI RS
BEBNBEKER S EBBEE RS
REEITLR W‘ﬁﬁm@ lmEERERN
BENTBHARAHER

° evaluating the accuracy of the inputs
adopted by management in valuing
provisional sales amounts by agreeing,
on a sample basis, i) the provisional
prices to the forward prices provided by
brokers; and ii) quantities and qualities of
commodities to underlying documents
such as sale agreements and the final
assay and weight certificates.

. BEAHE T A ZENE EERELLIE
HORPER  RiEmBEREE M
MR (NEHE 3 MR R EEE
B FHHEEE MY iHE R ERAN
B A\ BUR RO LERENE -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

B % BED R &

REVBBRREELBANRE L
&8

EEFTHHMENESR -
BAWEEHER  ETE
HAZBRED R & -

HpERBETERNF
R B M EmAR MM

B EMBRRNERL TREEMER
BT TSR EEMERBEREATVANERS
A ©
FBARMYERAMBRRNET  BANEER
FIEHEMEN  HHBRY  ZEEMERES
B S PWBHRRARMEBRTRBETATHENIE
MEFEERBEREUTFFEERHERBLANE
$7 o

ERBFEATHOIE  MREMBHEMEFR
FHEERFERRL  RAIFEREZFE - &S
FHE - BVLBERKRS -

EENGEVBRRAREZEE

EERARBEBEMASHEMNE BB
SREURFBRAIGOIREBEEEM P BHERA M
Bk YHERBRREEGRAMBERROEET
FERRUFFRBERMEBNERERR AT
MABEH AR

ERBEREAMEHRRE  EEAANE BE5E
SELENRE  YEERBER T HERFEL
EEHNEE  UREAKELLERS AR
BRIFEZHER BEEEBRIFLEE - X5l
BHMERMERTER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B B AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

@ CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. WWe remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

BYZBERE

BRBMRET RSV BRRAREZ

—RanC)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Yuen, Derek Man Ching.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPRERENSIVE INCOME
GeEakHEMaE2HERE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
HtaF BT T BT T
Continuing operations FREREEK
Revenue Uz 6 44,673,571 40,747,512
Cost of sales HERAR (43,192,505) (39,211,369)
Gross profit EH 1,481,066 1,536,143
Other income HAn A 8 196,331 202,541
Other net gain H b e 558 9 2,366 33,363
Selling and distribution costs HERDIHER (370,579) (399,205)
Administrative expenses THAX (794,276) (851,308)
Finance costs BEKAR 10 (413,565) (763,922)
Share of profits less losses of SIGEEE R ala AR E R
associates, net of tax (M IE) 25,978 23,253
Share of profits less losses of DMEEELE RN RER
joint ventures, net of tax (0BrEE1E) 2,421 2,332
Profit/(loss) before taxation BrRELATE R, (E51R) 11 129,742 (216,803)
Income tax expense 3R> 12 (45,928) (26,332)
Profit/(loss) for the year from BELCEERIFE
continuing operations m (&) 83,814 (243,135)
Discontinued operations ERIEER
Loss for the year from BRIEEG  FEEIER
discontinued operations 5] (15,506) (308,167)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREHEF (E18) 68,308 (5651,302)

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated £595F 2638 2 WMWK GA M KRR 2 — =6
financial statements. o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEBEEREMEZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Other comprehensive income: Hih2mEUs -
Items that will not be reclassified to TEEH T EZRm2HEE -
profit or loss:
Defined benefit plan remeasurements fh SR ERAFE (3.148) (9,508)
Tax on defined benefit plan remeasurement EHATEFETERIE 377 1,632
Net change in fair value of financial assets ERARBEFAEMEERRE
measured at FVOCI FrEvemEEZ AREER
FE)FRE (88) -
(2,859) (7,874)
Items that may be reclassified HEREEH 7 EEZBEmZ
subsequently to profit or loss, HE (HIBRZEHE) :
net of nil tax:
Exchange differences arising from HMEGHNT B A R Rk
translation of financial statements of EECIENEZE
overseas subsidiaries 94,148 (62,354)
Exchange differences reclassified to REERBARKENSESE
profit or loss on disposal of subsidiaries BazERZR 85,311 4,240
Effective portion of changes in fair value of ReEMEHHRCANEE
cash flow hedges FEha BB H (1.499) (205)
Share of other comprehensive income of DIRBE RN MNABLE Y
associates and joint ventures ﬁ‘rﬁlzﬁ”ﬂlm (9,735) (10,014)
168,225 (68,333)
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHME2ENE 165,366 (76,207)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHMBEETE 233,674 (627,509)

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated Z95EF 2638 Z ik #EKR A M IEmE 2 — 5B
financial statements. % o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HREeERakEMEZEHKEX

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
Hat BT T M T T
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RAREBANEBIEFE
owners of the Company swm Fl (B 18)
— from continuing operations - REFELEER 56,803 (287,191)
- from discontinued operations - REBKRILER 5 (15,338) (310,366)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to KAREEANEGFEE
owners of the Company wmAL (E5E) 41,465 (597,557)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to eI R (RS
non-controlling interests wm A, (E518)
- from continuing operations - REFELEER 27,011 44,056
- from discontinued operations - REERIEERS (168) 2,199
Profit for the year attributable to IR ERE L FE
non-controlling interests il 26,843 46,255
Profit/(loss) for the year FERN,(E18) 68,308 (551,302)
Total comprehensive income AR A TG 2R
attributable to: 4azE
Owners of the Company VN/NEIE PN 201,511 (666,802)
Non-controlling interests e 32,163 39,293
233,674 (627,509)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE SRERN,(FE) 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BERREECENM) 0.36 (5.24)
From continuing operations REFELEER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAR R EECEN) 0.50 (2.52)
From discontinued operations REBKRIEER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EXRREECGEN) (0.14) (2.72)
The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated £95F 2638 2 WEBKG AP KRR 2 — 30

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
a5 B35 IR R 3R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 # —~F _F4F+ _-H=1—H

2020 2019
. i —TNF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
HtaF BT T BT T
Non-current assets IREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB A& 16 3,887,046 3,931,375
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 3,170,538 3,310,925
Intangible assets B AE 18 212,912 292,652
Interest in associates R N A 19 190,232 193,006
Interest in joint ventures NG a1 ERE R 20 256,449 270,558
Other financial assets HEthem&EE 21 206,586 170,723
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIA - me REM
other receivables FEUL FRIE 24 36,016 33,494
Other non-current assets HMIEREEE 18,642 19,270
Derivative financial instruments PTEERMIA 38(e) 1,467 689
Deferred tax assets EERIAE B 32 35,458 25,084
8,015,346 8,247,776
Current assets REBEE
Other financial assets HEmemEE 21 1,498,580 991,618
Inventories FE 22 3,094,489 2,912,560
Trade receivables B E 5 8RB 23 3,647,804 3,279,513
Prepayments, deposits and FERNFIE - ke REM
other receivables FEU FRIE 24 6,764,870 5,500,934
Contract assets BHEE 25 73,791 75,310
Warrantable LME commodities BERZLMERE R 38(e) 98,655 21,303
Derivative financial instruments PTTHETRIA 38(e) 429,527 270,782
Tax recoverable AIUREI IR 15,100 13,746
Pledged bank deposits BEEBRITER 29,817 145,999
Cash and cash equivalents BeMkIReEBEER 26 1,247,995 1,262,861
16,900,628 14,474,626
Assets associated with a disposal group ~ DB AFEHE 2 HE
classified as held-for-sale AR BB E 4 - 1,298,175
16,900,628 15,772,801

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R a M AR OR R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 ¥ —~F ~#4F1 - H=1—H

2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-NF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 BT T JBEMTF T
Current liabilities REBEE
Contract liabilities EHEE 25 254,124 120,133
Trade and other payables FERTE ZERIE R A
FEfT IR 27 9,179,149 6,984,443
Loans and borrowings BERRER 28 5,204,356 5,787,293
Lease liabilities HEAE 30(a) 374,467 373,173
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTA 38(e) 1,146,335 540,667
Current tax payable FERTE BAF I8 41,220 68,803
Provisions A 15,000 27,510
16,214,651 13,902,022
Liabilities associated with a disposal PEABELEZHE
group classified as held-for-sale MRz REAE 4 - 896,035
16,214,651 14,798,057
Net current assets REBEEFE 685,977 974,744
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAES 8,701,323 9,222,520

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated f595F 2638 2 WMWK G AT KRR 2 — =6
financial statements. o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e M ARR R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 # —~F _F4F+ _-H=1—H

2020 2019
. i —TNF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
Hat BT T BT T
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 BRIE R B
& IR 27 23,779 20,058
Loans and borrowings ERRAEHK 28 896,263 1,134,889
Lease liabilities HEARE 30(a) 2,932,448 3,056,826
Derivative financial instruments TESBMITAE 38(e) 3,468 46,167
Defined benefit obligations FTE fE AR 31(b) 62,341 54,094
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEEE 32 284,666 289,495
4,202,965 4,601,529
Net assets EERE 4,498,358 4,620,991
Capital and reserves BARG#EE 33
Share capital [ 4,731,480 4,731,480
Reserves & (363,832) (564,598)
Equity attributable to owners of NARHER AENG
the Company Ea 4,367,648 4,166,882
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR AE = 130,710 454,109
Total equity gL 4,498,358 4,620,991

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 263 were  F83E263B VA MKHRRON _E-—F=
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 B =+—BEZEE&#t £ MIRETE T H T

March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: EEREREE:
Wu Hao Li Neng

S ZHe

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EFE EF

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated Z95E 2638 Z I EKZE A M E®RE 2 — 3B
financial statements. 5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEm B R

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # E _® 41 _H=+—H I

FARERREEE
Amounts
recognised
in other
comprehensive
income and
accumulated
in equity
relating to a
Share Perpetual  disposal group Attributable to
Share Capital Translation ~ Hedging ~ Statutory option  Accumulated capital  classified as non-controlling
capital  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses ~instrument  held-for-sale  Sub-total interests Total
ROBRREL
£ ZHERRIR
Et2EbER
AURERZH
WA EARE EREE HAGE  iRGE BREEE  ZHEE AaAERIR JEBeE N EREREL At
HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKSOOO  HK$000 HK$000  HK$ 000 HK$000  HK$ 000 HK$000  HK$ 000
EEFr  BETn BETn BETn BETn BETn BRI BETa BEFr BT BEFT BT
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZB-NE+ZA=1-B
288 4731480 223004 (148172) 489 4,33 341 (1,761,183) 1,819,390 - 487278 442209 5314951
Impact on intial application of HKFRS 16 ERERE AR KA £8
F16% 278 - - - - - = (33,799) - - 3879 (299 (38828)
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019 RZB-hE-f-Bz
FE R 4731480 223004 (148,172) 489 433 3411 (1,799.982) 1,819,390 - 4833943 442180 5276123
Loss for the year FEEE - - = = = - (697,557) = - (597,557 46255 (551,302)
Other comprehensive income b2 ENE
Exchange differences arising from RERNEREE B AR
translation of foreign operations - - (%5453 - 61 - - - B V] (6962)  (62,354)
Exchange difference reclassified toprofit W EMBLAARENHBE
or loss on disposal of subsidiaries BRCERER = = 4,240 = = o o o = 4,240 o 4,240
Share of other comprehensive income of ~ AEBEAERAELEL
associates and joint ventures Eth2EkE - 1004 00 = - - - = - (10,014 - (10,014
Effective portion of changes in fairvalue ~ B&REH A1 BE
of cash flow hedges olre - - - (205) - - - - = (205) - (205)
Defined benefit plan remeasurements BRRTRE - - - - - 9,506) - - (9506) - (9506)
Tax on defined benefit plan remeasurements  Ef5 g5t HHE & S = = = = 1,632 = -6 -6
Totalother comprehensive income EhaEhREE -0 6023 (20 61 - 7874 - - 692s) 6%2 (76207
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ EE2ANEEE - (1004 (60223) (208) 61 - (605,431) - - (666,802) 39293 (627,509)
The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated S 95Z263H 2 WHEBAGA P KRER 2 — 36

financial statements.

% o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FARERREEE
Amounts
recognised
in other
comprehensive
income and
accumulated
in equity
relating to a
Share Perpetual  disposal group Attributable to
Share Capital Translation ~ Hedging ~ Statutory option  Accumulated capital  classified as non-controlling
capital  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses ~instrument  held-for-sale  Sub-total interests Total
ROBRREL
£ ZHERRIR
Et2E4ER
AU ERZH
A EARE EREE HAGE  iteGE BREEE  ZHEE AAERIR  JFBeE N EREREL At
HK$000  HKS000  HK$T000  HKS000  HKSO0O  HK$000 HK$000  HK$ 000 HK$000  HK$ 000 HK$000  HK$ 000
EEFr  BETn BRI BETn BETn BETn BETn BETa BEFr BT BEFT BT
Capital contribution from non-controling R RERTE
interests - 269) - - - - - - - (259) 397 138
Share option [apsed BRERN - - - - - (267 2675 = = = = =
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENBAR = = = = = = = = = = 2397 2397
Transfer to amounts recognised inother ~ BAZHABARELEZHE
comprehensive income and accumulated BRI M 2ERERDLR
equity relating to disposal groups ERZiEELE
classified as held-for-sale - (222247) 81854 - - - - - 140,393 - - -
Dividend paid to non-controling interests ~ FEBRER T ZRE - - - - - - - - - - (30,158 (30,158)
Transfer to statutory reserve in complince  ARARNEEZATRE
with foreign entities' statutory BREETHE
requirements - - - - 3,763 - (3753) - - - - -
- o258 818 ) - W8 08 w3 26
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1-A
a5 4,731,480 (506)  (126,541) 284 8137 736 (2,406491) 1,819,390 140,393 4,166,882 454109 4,620,991

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERRBEX

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # E _® 41 _H=+—H I

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ERRRERFEE
Amounts
recognised
in other
comprehensive
income and
accumulated
in equity
relating to a
Share Perpetual disposal group Attributable to
Share FairValue  Capital Translation  Hedging Statutory  option Accumulated capital  classified as non-controlling
capital  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve - reserve losses instrument  held-for-sale  Sub-total interests Total
ROBRBEL
EZHEANR
Eft2EUEE
MEE BhRE AURERE
k& e ERRE EXRE HMEE iERE  BE  ZHR KAERIR  2EEGE Nt FEREREE &it
HK$'000  HKS000 HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$S000 HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
BEFn  EEFn BETn EETn BETn BEFn BETn BB EEFa EEFr  EEFn BEFr  EEFR
Balance at 1 January 2020 R-B-B%
-B-Bz&s 4,731,480 - (506)  (126,541) 284 8137 736 (2406491) 1,819,390 140,393 4,166,882 454109 4,620,991
Profit for the year R - - - - - - - 41,465 - - MA465 26843 68,308
Other comprehensive income A2 AN
Exchange differences arising from ~~ EENEREE 2
translation of foreign operations 3 - - - 8863 - 10 - mn - - 8882 5326 94,148
Exchange difference reclassifiedto  HUEEMBATE
profit or loss on disposal of ENNRE
subsidaries BazEREE - - - 3,456 - - - - - 81855 85311 - 853N
Netchange in fair value of fivancial A% BEALL
assets measured at FVOCI SENETEZ 6B
BELARBERY
R - (82) - - - - - - - - (82) (6) (83)
Share of other comprehensive HMEBEARARAE
income of associates and ¥ M2 AR
joint ventures - - 20 (9,965) - - - - - - (9,735) - (9,735)
Effective portion of changes in RemEHR/LABE
fair valug of cash flow hedges 2RnHEUBH - - - - (14%9) - - - - - (14%9) - (1499)
Defined benefit plan remeasurements &5 R E/RHI5 3] - - - - - - - (3,148) - - 3 - 34
Tax on defined benefit plan EfE R B
remeasurements - - - - - - - 31 - - 31 - 31
Total other comprehensive income ~ Eft2 HREAE - (82) 280 82126 (1499 110 - (2,694) - 81,855 160,046 5320 165366
Total comprehensive income FERANEEE
for the year - (82) 230 82,126 (1,499) 10 - 38N - 81,855 201511 32163 233674
The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated S 95F 2638 v WA GEAMKREx 2 — 5B

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mARDmEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #F —F = R4+ =4 —H I 4EfF

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FRARERREL
Amounts
recognised
in other
comprehensive
income and
accumulated
in equity
relating to a
Fair Share Perpetual disposal group Attributable to
Value  Capital Translation ~ Hedging Statutory  option Accumulated capital  classified as non-controlling
reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses instrument  held-for-sale  Sub-total interests Total
ROBABEL
EZHEARR
Eft2EUEE
MEE AUREREH
25 EAR%E EARE WMEE iR BRERE  ENEE AREAIR  2EBEE Nt FERESREE ait
HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS000 ~ HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000  HKS$'000 HKS$'000  HKS$'000
BEFr  EEFn BRFn BETr ERTn B¥Tr B¥Tn EEFx B¥Fr  EEFR B¥Fr  EEFR
Acquisition from non-controlling  FFERER iR R
interests - (745) - - - - - - - (745) (75) (820)
Share option lapsed BRELR - - - - - (736) 736 - - - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - - - - - - - - - (341,968)  (341,968)
Transfer from amounts recognised  BREHABAHEHE
in other comprehensive ZLEBRIRED2E
income and accumulated YRR ER 25
equity relating to disposal ki
groups classified as held-for-sale - - - - - - 220,248 - (222,248 - - -
Dividend paid to non-controlling 3RS TR 2 RE
interests - - - - - - - - - - (13519)  (13519)
Transfer to statutory reservein ~~ ARAGIERL
compliance with foreign EERTERZ
entities' statutory requirements AT - 32683 - - (880) - (2,383) - - - - -
- 251 - -0 M 22060 - lmae) (W (3E62 (3E6307)
Balance at31 December 2020  R-ZF-FF
tZA=t-RziH (82) 2242 (44,415) (1,215) 7,367 - (214719 1,819390 - 4,367,648 130,710 4,498,358

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GeaREemE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2020 2019
—E-FHF —FT-NF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
HtaE BEFT BB F T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES FEg=—Pr:)

Cash generated from operations KEEBRB RS 26(b) 1,713,962 883,728
Interest paid EAHLE 26(c) (329,416) (662,945)
Income tax paid EASPrIH (93,811) (123,973)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETHMB RS FHE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,290,735 96,810
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEE
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WHENB AR RS

subsidiaries MAFER - 2,925
Capital expenditure BEARAY (115,057) (162,776)
Net decrease/(increase) in pledged BIIRRITERUR LD

bank deposits (38 hn) 558 113,387 (131,850)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BENRKHZ

plant and equipment FT1S 508 6,630 120,050
Purchase of other financial assets HEEMERMEE (1,506,691) (1,512,079)
Net proceeds from disposal of other HEEMESREEL

financial assets iS58 558 1,027,540 2,181,467
Receipt of guarantee deposits BEENCIREE

to clearing corporation Eifize - 17,427
Interest received B U F & 52,344 154,984
Dividend received from joint ventures WERE &3 M E N F)

and associates Bz 8 40,888 43,481
Dividends received from financial assets ~ WER & @& EMK B - 305
Net proceeds from disposal of HEEREK 2 S HIAE

the US Operation HEE - 660,791
Net proceeds from disposal of HERRER 2 ERIE

the UK Operation it 62,820 275,095
Net proceeds from HEPREBL S HRIE

disposal of the PRC Operation Pt 5(a) 126,920 20,000
Net proceeds from disposal of HEWB AR ZFSHIEAE

subsidiaries(net of cash disposal of) FRENREERS) (9) -
Net proceeds from disposal of HEEEDEZEHIEA

joint venture P 544 =
Acquisition of joint venture WS E X - (11,283)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE BT B A 7]

(net of cash acquired) (B FBEIRS) (383) -
Loans made to joint venture maEPEER - (60,430)
Repayment of loans from associate and ~ Ht& RN A RA LD

joint venture EENER 64,629 874

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated 5 95F263H 2 W EBR4GFA MIEHE 2 — &
financial statements. e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERETRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaF BT T BT T
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED RETE(FTA), Bz
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEFEE (126,438) 1,598,981
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Net proceeds from borrowings raised B AS RIEF R 26(c) 756,133 14,787,107
Repayments of borrowings BEER 26(c) (1,584,074) (16,502,093)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREaE 26(c) (401,056) (417,186)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests Sz {v JE32 B A 25 A% &, (13,519) (30,158)
Capital contribution from non-controlling  JF#ZERRAE 251 &
interests - 397
Acquisition of additional equity interestin  WER BB AR Z
an existing subsidiary REINIR B (820) -
Loan from non-controlling interests REFFERER 2B 26(c) 31,944 16,260
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMETBAZREEE
ACTIVITIES (1,211,392) (2,145,673)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRRELZEEHEARD
CASH EQUIVALENTS HEE (47,095) (449,882)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUZRERASEEER
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,275,489 1,720,582
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE IINEERBE) 2
RATE CHANGES 14,225 4,789
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEASRASEE
AT END OF THE YEAR EH 26(a) 1,242,619 1,275,489

The notes on pages 95 to 263 form part of these consolidated S 95F263H 2 W BR G A MIEHREK 2 — &
financial statements. % o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong and its shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Hong Kong HNA Holding Group Co. Limited
(“Hong Kong HNA"), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, is the immediate parent of the
Company. HNA Group Co., Ltd. (“HNA Group”), a company
registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
is an intermediate parent of the Company. Hainan Province
Cihang Foundation, a foundation registered in the PRC, is
the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

(a)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”). These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange. Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

—KREE
ARAIREBBEMERILZ ARERA
A ERNDERBBMERZAERAT
(XD ERLET - BEBMEXEE
BERAR(EBEN]  REBETMRILZ
BERABDDARRBZEEB AT - BHfE
BE RAR(NEMER]  RPEARK
AME(THEDEMZRAB) IARRZFHE
BRA - BEAEMcaEee (RPE
M2 EE) DARRE ZRAIEHTT ©

BEEEBER

(a) &EREBH
ZEPBMROBEBEMEEAZSE
BU RS LA ((EBMERESE
AR ZEBeEE S et
ReE((BBETMAENBEM 2R
BEAZERE AN HRE LR
EE S EA(E BT EA R
2 BEEARZEHRAIRES
EBIE622F N m &M (T2 B &A1)
MHRT - ZEMBRMERPETHR
Fregs EmRAI((EmRA]) 2@
FAHEEX - KARRIREWERF
(B xEBDEBCEEZESS
BRETROT o

FEEMASCHRHRAEER
EREIREVET TR S )iS
ST HMRAMRMZE TEEM
BHELERNZEFTA - fE2(c)i2
HEBRVFERAZEFERMSIE
ZEFEHBRES 2ER - HE
[RINEZ S5 HRA R R EAE [E
R AR BT S HE
ZEF} e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020 comprise the Group and
the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and liabilities
are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

- other investments in debt and equity
securities measured at fair value (see Note

2(g));

- derivative financial instruments (see Note
2(h));

- investment properties (see Note 2(j));

- inventories held under broker-trader
exemption (see Note 2(0));

- warrantable LME commodities (see Note
2(p)); and

- trade receivables and payables containing

provisional pricing features (see Notes 2(s)
and 2(u)).

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified
as held-for-sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see Note
2(ee)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

2. EBEESHBE®

(b)

MBHRmMBEE(E)

DRRBIEHEZIERBEERH
SHBIAERER AR EBERLE
PR Z SR E DI BR (LT E2(ee)) ©

RENABAYBREEL 27
BRFBEEERBFLHBREEAN
EHEE  Aff - KARXHOZ
BEEBNTE 2HE - Bt RR
& o &F A RARRRIREA
ERBERZERBENLRRBREE
ZEMAEMIEL - EERBEK
REERHMBTARFSNEERS
EAREER PR ERZ HETEE - X
ERGERAIEABINZFEET

ZEM RAEBRRSFER
Wt HEHEFT R BB A2
HE - BB BB e R ZBEE
R MEBETRTESZH - T
LRKHME - AIBBETTENER]
B R AR PR AR AR o

EEENEAEBMEREELE
PIEL M B RRERNEATE L
HE Rt T EEREZ EERR
M EE35 i o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

° Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a
Business

° Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8,
Definition of Material

° Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group's results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented in the financial report.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period other than the amendment to
HKFRS 16.

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

The amendment provides a practical expedient that
allows a lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate
whether certain qualifying rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic ("COVID-19-related rent concessions”)
are lease modifications and, instead, account for
those rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications.

The Group has elected to early adopt the
amendments and applies the practical expedient
to all qualifying COVID-19-related rent concessions
granted to the Group during the year.

The adoption of the Amendment to HKFRS 16 does
not have any material impact on the Group's financial
statements.

@ CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&

2.

BEESHHRE®

(c)

SREEEH
FEEMARCRM FIRALE
EEHSFTHAERERZEEY
BMEERNZEFTA

. BRI G HmERERNEIF (&
RN EBZEE

. FEAGHEUR IR LTS
SETERIEH (BFTA) -
BAZTEZ

. BBV IEIRE LR F 5 -
BB EAEIRREE
BB TSR E R B 7% (18]
) FIREENE

2EB(LHAEENRBERBE
R S4B RS ORI R R
CREL2F AL EEAGE -
B 5 B 3R o5 R B 1 658 (15 3T
)b - A B A A B
SRR SR A AL (3T R 2
=

EREMBHEERE 165 (BA]
) - Covid-191HFIH £ B &
ZIERTARBEAIITRE L - AFF
AMHAR RN EEZHCOVID-19
REELENETEAEREEZER
(fcoVID-19iEEAEEBE ) EEE
HEBET - MALIEBEEEFTHNT
ARZEHEBEAR -

AEBDEEBERFPRAZFER
K WHAKERFRERNTA
B EMBCOVID-19AEE S EEEN
AITTHREETDE °

RMEEMERELERE 165 (&
FIAS) S AN ER B 2 B 75 S 3 AT
MBAFE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-Group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
Group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination,
the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

2. EBEESHBE®

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7 R 2R MY &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with Notes 2(u), (v), or (w) depending on
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see Note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(ii)), unless the
investment is classified as held-for-sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held-for-sale)
(see Note 2(ee)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the
Group or Company and other parties contractually
agree to share control of the arrangement, and have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

2. EBEESHBE®

(d)

(e)

ML R R IFFERER (B
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B AR - RERZEHEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture
is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, unless it is
classified as held-for-sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held-for-sale) (see Note
2(ee)). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group's share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost
of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment,
and any direct investment into the associate or
joint venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted
for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee's net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment (see Notes 2(f) and (n)(ii).
Any acquisition date excess over cost, the Group's
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method, together with any other long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence or joint control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 2(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates and joint venture are
stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note
2(n)), unless classified as held-for-sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held-for-sale)
(see Note 2(ee)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7 R 2R MY &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f)

(g)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the fair value of the Group's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating
unit, or Groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination and is tested annually for impairment
(see Note 2(n)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group's policies for investments in debt
and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(9)

Other investments in debt and equity
securities (continued)

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see Note 38(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity
investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

= amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective
interest method (see Note 2(aa)(x)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity
securities (continued)

(i) Investments other than equity
investments (continued)

fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) = recycling, if
the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of ECL, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income is recycled from equity to profit
or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity
securities (continued)

(ii)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is
not held for trading purpose and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group
makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to accumulated losses. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policy set out
in Note 2(aa)(x).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7 R 2R MY &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h)

(i)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
at fair value. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss
on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the
derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting
or hedge of net investment in a foreign operation, in
which case recognition of any resultant gain or loss
depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see
Note 2(i)).

Hedging

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging
instruments to hedge the variability in cash flows
associated with highly probable forecast transactions
arising from changes in foreign exchange rates and
variable rate borrowings (cash flow hedges). Some
borrowings are designated as hedges of the foreign
exchange risk of a net investment in a foreign
operation.

i Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedges are recorded in profit or loss
immediately, together with any changes
in the fair value of the hedged item that is
attributable to the hedged risk. The change in
the fair value of the hedging instrument and
the change in the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk are recognised in the same
line of profit or loss relating to the hedged
item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i) Hedging (continued)

ii.

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is
designated as a hedging instrument in a cash
flow hedge, the effective portion of any gain
or loss on the derivative financial instrument
is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of
any gain or loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction
subsequently results in the recognition of
a non-financial asset such as inventory, the
associated gain or loss is reclassified from
equity to be included in the initial cost of the
non-financial asset.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the
amount accumulated in the hedging reserve
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in
the same period or periods during which the
hedged cash flows affect profit or loss (such
as when a forecast sale occurs or interest
expense is recognised).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ _F _ &4+ _H=4—HILFEF

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i)

Hedging (continued)

ii.

ii.

Cash flow hedges (continued)

If a hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting (including when the
hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised), then hedge
accounting is discontinued prospectively.
When hedge accounting is discontinued,
but the hedged forecast transaction is still
expected to occur, the amount that has been
accumulated in the hedging reserve remains
in equity until the transaction occurs and it
is recognised in accordance with the above
policy. If the hedged transaction is no longer
expected to take place, the amount that has
been accumulated in the hedging reserve
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
immediately.

Hedge of net investments in foreign
operations

The effective portion of any foreign
exchange gain or loss on the borrowings is
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity in the exchange
reserve until the disposal of the foreign
operation, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss. The ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(j)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or building
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see Note 2(m)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for a
currently undetermined future use and property that
is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change
in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of
an investment property is recognised in profit or
loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in Note 2(aa)(ix).

In the comparative period, when the Group held
a property interest under an operating lease and
used the property to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, the Group could elect on a
property-by-property basis to classify and account
for such interest as an investment property. Any
such property interest which had been classified
as an investment property was accounted for as if
it were held under a finance lease (see Note 2(m)),
and the same accounting policies were applied to
that interest as were applied to other investment
properties leased under finance leases. Lease
payments were accounted for as described in Note
2(m).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k)

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Note 2(n)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the
property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying plant and equipment (see Note
2(m(i)).

Changes arising on the revaluation of properties
held for own use are generally dealt with in other
comprehensive income and are accumulated
separately in equity in the property revaluation
reserve. The only exceptions are as follows:

- when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in
respect of that same asset immediately prior
to the revaluation; and

- when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to profit or loss to the extent that a
deficit on revaluation in respect of that same
asset had previously been charged to profit or
loss.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see Note 2(cc)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k)

Other property, plant and equipment
(continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

Freehold land is not depreciated

KA SERE T M0 ST EE

Hotel and buildings for golf business

mRRNER BERIETF

Leasehold land and buildings

ME T RETF

Plant, machinery and equipment

B - #as MR B

Furniture, fittings, computers and
office equipment

R BB BERRPAERE

Motor vehicles and trailers

YT R HE

Leasehold improvements

HEMERE

3FFE 254

1EZF104F

3FEE104F

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(k)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(1 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is
finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(n(ii))).
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

o Computer software

Computer software which is acquired by
the Group, where it is not an integral part
of the related hardware, is treated as an
intangible asset. Computer software is stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses.

Computer software is amortised to profit or
loss using the straight-line method over its
estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.

o Customer contracts

Customer contracts relate to the estimated
value of contracts acquired in a business
combination; and have finite lives and
are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

Customer contracts are amortised to profit or
loss using the straight-line method over the
customers' contract periods of 1 to 5 years.

o London Metal Exchange (“LME”) license

The license relates to the estimated license
value acquired in a business combination and
has finite life and is measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

LME license is amortised to profit or loss

using the straight-line method over its
estimated useful life of 30 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEETEHX®
(continued)
() Intangible assets (other than goodwill) N EFEEEAEEEFR®
(continued)
. Business Relationships (“BRS”) KBEFR(EBBE])

BRS relates to the estimated economic
benefits from business relationships arising
from a business combination. BRS refers to
business relationship between suppliers and
customers. BRS is estimated to have finite
life and is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

BRS is amortised to profit or loss using the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of 4 to 5 years.

Brand (“BD”)

BD relates to the estimated economic
benefits from brand arising from a business
combination. BD refers to the acquired
company'’s good reputation and name known
in the market. BD is estimated to have finite
life and is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

BD is amortised to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 10
years.
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Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(m) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(m) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Notes 2(k) and 2(n)(ii)),
except for the right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property are
carried at fair value in accordance with Note
2()).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(m)

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group's estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that
do not meet the definition of investment
property in ‘other property, plant and
equipment’ and presents lease liabilities
separately in the statement of financial
position.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EBESTHR®
(continued)
(m) Leased assets (continued) (m) HEEE®B)
(i) As a lessor (continued) (i) ERBHAEAGE)

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with Note
2(aa)(ix).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
the sub-leases are classified as a finance
lease or as an operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease
to which the Group applies the exemption
described in Note 2(m)(i), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the
following items:

- financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables
and other receivables, including loans
to associates and joint ventures,
which are held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal
and interest);

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS
15 (see Note 2(r));
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEgTEHE®
(continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (n) FEEBEEREEREGE)
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments, (i) KRELMTEH SHEER
contract assets and lease receivables EWHEN BN EEEE
(continued) (%)
= debt securities measured at FVOCI = BEARBEAEM
(recycling); E2HEWEFTEMNER
FHH(raeE)

- lease receivables; and

- loan commitments issued, which are
not measured at FVPL.

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including units in bond funds, equity and
debt securities measured at FVPL, equity
securities designated at FVOCI (non-recycling)
and derivative financial assets, are not subject
to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

For undrawn loan commitments, expected
cash shortfalls are measured as the difference
between (i) the contractual cash flows that
would be due to the Group if the holder of the
loan commitment draws down on the loan
and (i) the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive if the loan is drawn down.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

BEESHHRE®

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

= fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation
thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate;

- lease receivables: discount rate used
in the measurement of the lease
receivable; and

- loan commitments: current risk-free
rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECL is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ _F _ &4+ _H=4—HILFEF

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECL are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables, lease
receivables and contract assets are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial assets, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECL unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the
financial assets since initial recognition, in
which case the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
assets assessed at the reporting date
with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or
(ii) the financial asset is significantly past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

= failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractually due
dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial asset’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ _F _ &4+ _H=4—HILFEF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEETEHX®
(continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (n) FEEBEEREEREGE)
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments, (i) KRELET A SHEER
contract assets and lease receivables FERFHE SRS EEE
(continued) (#&)
Significant increases in credit risk (continued) 1EEREBRAIELH (&
= an actual or expected significant = BEALEEENTE
deterioration in the operating results Rk TEEEE =
of the debtor; and &

= existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
assets, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis. When
the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial assets are Grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics, such as
past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECL are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial asset’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss for all financial assets with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve (recycling).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEETEHX®
(continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (n) FEEBEEREEREGE)
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments, (i) KRELET A SHEER
contract assets and lease receivables WA E S EN S EEE
(continued) (#&)
Basis of calculation of interest income FTEF SN B EE
Interest income recognised in accordance IR M 52 2(aa) (x) HERR 2 F1) B
with Note 2(aa)(x) is calculated based on the WAZSREENREREA

gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
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impaired includes the following observable FEATAEREN

events:

= significant financial difficulties of the - B AL IREEN
debtor; R &

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

= it becoming probable that the

- BREX - WEHK
BMEN

- fERARE A BEHE R

borrower will enter into bankruptcy or B EE ot 1T EAth B 7%
other financial reorganisation; =4

= significant changes in the - BHE - W% - KE Sk
technological, market, economic EREBRRHBEERE

or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

B WEHAETH
e

= the disappearance of an active market - R EIT A LRI
for a security because of financial MEmEHFSHLE
difficulties of the issuer. EERTI ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEETEHX®
(continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (n) FEEBEEREEREGE)

(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments, (i) KEZ@MT A BHEER
contract assets and lease receivables FERFHE SRS EEE
(continued) (%)
Write-off policy ikl
The gross carrying amount of a financial HEHBEREATHER
asset, lease receivable or contract asset is IH - AEBERI2ME 5
written off (either partially or in full) to the M EeMEE - EIWHE
extent that there is no realistic prospect of EREXENEENLERR
recovery. This is generally the case when the B-ZERBELRAASE
Group determines that the debtor does not EEEBALEEELA
have assets or sources of income that could EERHER N E WA R
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the TRIREBEMEN SR -
amounts subject to the write-off.
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was BE & U Bl S B eE 2 B ER
previously written off are recognised as a U [B] HA I 7 48 25 MR 3R 4 K
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the BE#EE -
period in which the recovery occurs.

(ii)  Impairment of other non-current assets (i) EmH#FrnBEERE

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting

& S B R T A EB R S
BERKIR - AR TIIE

period to identify indications that the EfGAgLRBETR -
following assets may be impaired or, except FBACHERCREBER
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss ETBEEXATEERD
previously recognised no longer exists or may (FREgE 2 1ERIN)

have decreased:

= property, plant and equipment,

- ME - -BENMZE

including right-of-use assets; (BREGCAEEE)
= intangible assets; - mREE
= goodwill; and - [EER
= investments in subsidiaries, associates - RRABFBAARRRKIEA

and joint ventures in the Company'’s
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that
have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset
is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest Group of
assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

(n) FEBEREERE®H

(ii)

At FmBEERE ()

HEFEEMNZETR - Al
fETEE B S - It
Sh - AEE - DRAHER
ZEEENMAERAEA
FHZEVEEMS @ T
EEFETARETR &
FRSHtEAREEE -

- FHE AL EE 5E
BEZAREEES
HArBEBLEK
B REEMREH
28R =E - EFFHE
FEER - fEFARK
BangReERBR
BT 5 5 & K ]
BENEERERR
ZRHE Z BR B A RE 3R
R EHIRE © fd
BELEELANZE
VREMEEZRE
mA - BIABEIB L E
ERERAZENE
EARNEIREEL
B)EE A MEE
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEETEHX®
(continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (n) FEEBEEREEREGE)
(continued)
(i)  Impairment of other non-current assets (i) HiFEnEEEREZE)

(continued)

= Recognition of impairment losses = BRI EE R
An impairment loss is recognised in WEESXEMBERS
profit or loss if the carrying amount EfBNREER
of an asset, or the cash-generating BE AU E SR
unit to which it belongs, exceeds AR B = A RERRE
its recoverable amount. Impairment B1E - RS EAE
losses recognised in respect of cash- UERZBESEE
generating units are allocated first B i BEIIRZ
to reduce the carrying amount of ReEEEBM(HE
any goodwill allocated to the cash- fL#B R T S B 2
generating unit (or Group of units) FEE 2 RHEE -
and then, to reduce the carrying E & BEZ AR
amount of the other assets in the ZEAL (S EMAR)
unit (or Group of units) on a pro rata NEMEE KRR
basis, except that the carrying value B HEECKREE
of an asset will not be reduced below TR EREER
its individual fair value less costs of AREBEEHREEX
disposal (if measurable) or value in use R(AATEH2) 2 fE A
(if determinable). BEMAET) Z2&

B o

= Reversals of impairment losses - #2518 5 18
In respect of assets other than HBREBUIINCEE
goodwill, an impairment loss is mE - WAREER
reversed if there has been a favourable W iel & %8 2 [ H R
change in the estimates used to B8 - BARE
determine the recoverable amount. An EER TR E - 8
impairment loss in respect of goodwill ZBEEBEITEE
is not reversed. g -
A reversal of an impairment loss is A E B B ATE B
limited to the asset’s carrying amount T FE I EAERBE
that would have been determined had EiEZIBERTIREE
no impairment loss been recognised EXLEEREERS
in prior years. Reversals of impairment IR o mEBERRT
losses are credited to profit or loss WREE 2 FEFA
in the year in which the reversals are B o
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n)

(o)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial
year (see Notes 2(n)(i) and 2(n)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed
in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year
to which the interim period relates.

Inventories

Inventories where the Group acts as a broker-trader
include metals and energy commodities acquired
with the purpose of selling them in the near term
and generating a profit from fluctuations in price, and
are measured at fair value less costs to sell.

All other inventories are valued at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis
and includes the full costs of materials, freight and
insurance and all other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

2. EBEESHBE®

(n)

(o)

FEBEREERE®

(iii) A RIR 55 & R el e
REBEBHEXZMERRA

ﬂ?%imﬁw REEA
BREB ST ERE345K T

ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%#&%Z%ﬁm?ﬁﬁﬁﬁi
B ENEA R RH B H
& EFHHETER - K
SERARYREFE TR
JESRA 2 DR ERH - 7
78 Ko 7 [l ZE B (KB EE2(n) i)
K 2(n)(ii)) °

£ P HARAMR A 50 7 B AT AR
ZREBRTEEERIAE

BO o MR BEFE R AR
JTAETTE P HI IR AR B R

BRFE - B WA R 1E
jZ/ N EE_] g /% )ESTE ! E/( 5@6@
BRI TR ERZEM -

rE
AEBRIRRERIBIFERR
RTHEL R B ERKESESE
MMEAZEBREREm - WK
DAEEROEKRANTE -

FRAEMEEIRKA KA #3R%E
MERZEIEESIRR - AR FE
TR AEEBBREP ZEAEE
R TER Z (h &TACAN S 1T 35 & P
AL %N

AR E R EEE - BFEM
F - B8R ZRRAARETE
BB X B3R i 4 B S E BUR B AR
PREEHE 2 FT B ELARAA »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Inventories (continued)

Due to the provisional pricing of the purchase of
the concentrate inventory and the subsequent price
adjustments on the basis of the quotational period
and the short inventory turnover period, cost of
concentrate inventory represents fair value of the
inventory.

Inventories allocated as hedged items in a fair value
hedge relationship are adjusted for the change in the
fair value attributable to the hedged risk component
(commodity price risk).

Allowance is made where necessary for obsolete,
slow moving and defective inventories.

Warrantable LME commodities

Warrantable LME commodities comprise highly
liquid commodities with the intention of selling them
in the near term, where the Group acts as a broker-
trader. These are measured at fair value less costs
to sell.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or the
costs to fulfil a contract with a customer which are
not capitalised as inventory (see Note 2(0)), other
property, plant and equipment (see Note 2(k)) or
intangible assets (see Note 2(l)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with
a customer that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained (e.g. an incremental
sales commission). Incremental costs of obtaining
a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a
future reporting period and the costs are expected to
be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(a)

Other contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated contract; generate
or enhance resources that will be used to provide
goods or services in the future; and are expected to
be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials,
allocations of costs, costs that are explicitly
chargeable to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered into the
contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are
not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as
incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent
that the carrying amount of the contract cost
asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for the goods or services to which the
asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly to
providing those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged
to profit or loss when the revenue to which the
asset relates is recognised. The accounting policy for
revenue recognition is set out in Note 2(aa).

2. EBEESHBE®

(a)

Hit & QA (8)

HETTA KK AEIRE A LKA
Frhl@pl e NERAR  E
ERRF R AREARIREERSK
RIFEIR - LR E - A&
BREAR - BIRA B KR
RNTARE W E R BB A B
BREEERST  BEMH KA S
e - BARER B A MCER ) AR B 2 i
KRR BRI LA #) T E £ K E b AK
A (BlaniE o B r SN FRIR) o Hil
BITAEHANKA(HLERETEAR
REE VX BEERRXERET
BE)RNEERH -

BB RN B KRR AR R T
B PR EBEIIR - e KMRA
BEREERB()ASEEHKER
AR BAE B E E R E m S IRF Y
HBTRESHE  RNVENEEZFH
REZFEMIRY - MAERS
PRI AR FRR - RIS HERRE
B -

EREERANNRERRE - B
FEARNEHKNAEHEE B ERN
Br o WasEREVE ST IR E AN M
2(aa) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 2(aa)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(n)(i) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see Note 2(s)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue (see Note
2(aa)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see Note 2(s)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
Note 2(aa)(x)).

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset (see Note 2(r)).

Except for trade receivables containing provisional
pricing features which are measured at FVPL,
receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see Note 2(n)(i).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy
set out in Note 2(n)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value. Except for trade payables containing
provisional pricing features which are measured at
FVPL, trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

2. EBEESHBE®

(s)

(t)

(u)

PR B 5 Bk 1R 2 EL £t B W =R IR

& W R TR AN 5% [ 7 R AR R A N MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(v)

(w)

(x)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
the Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see Note 2(cc)).

Perpetual borrowings

Perpetual borrowings repayable upon an event not
controllable by the Group are stated at cost and
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Employee benefits

i. Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in
which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x) Employee benefits (continued)

ii.

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
defined benefit retirement plans is calculated
separately for each plan by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted
to determine the present value and the fair
value of any plan assets is deducted. The
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary
using the projected unit credit method. When
the calculation results in a benefit to the
Group, the recognised asset is limited to the
present value of economic benefits available
in the form of any future refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contributions to
the plan.

Service cost and net interest expense/income
on the net defined benefit liability (asset) are
recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “cost of sales”, “selling
and distribution costs” or “administrative
expenses”. Current service cost is measured
as the increase in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation resulting from
employee service in the current period.
When the benefits of a plan are changed, or
when a plan is curtailed, the portion of the
changed benefit related to past service by
employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment,
is recognised as an expense in profit or loss
at the earlier of when the plan amendment
or curtailment occurs and when related
restructuring costs or termination benefits
are recognised. Net interest expense (income)
for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the
reporting period to the net defined benefit
liability (asset). The discount rate is the yield
at the end of the reporting period on high
quality corporate bonds that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the Group’s
obligations.

2. EBEESHBE®

(x) EERN®E®

ii.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x)

Employee benefits (continued)

ii.

ii.

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations
(continued)

When the benefits of a plan are changed,
or when a plan is curtailed, current service
cost for the portion of the changed benefit
related to past service by employees, or the
gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as
an expense in profit or loss at the earlier of
when the plan amendment or curtailment
occurs and when related restructuring costs
or termination benefits are recognised.

Remeasurements arising from defined
benefit retirement plans are recognised in
other comprehensive income and reflected
immediately in accumulated losses.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains
and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest
on the net defined benefit liability (asset)) and
any change in the effect of the asset ceiling
(excluding amounts included in net interest
on the net defined benefit liability (asset)).

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at grant date using the binomial
lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will
vest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x) Employee benefits (continued)

iii.

iv.

Share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the
Company's shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either
the option is exercised (when it is included in
the amount recognised in share capital for the
shares issued) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to accumulated losses).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

x) EE

1.

iv.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x)

(y)

Employee benefits (continued)
V. Other employee benefits

The Group operates other employee benefit
schemes. Every year the Group calculates the
amount to be debited/credited to the bonus
pool under the schemes. Such amounts are
recognised in the profit or loss. Payments
to beneficiaries are dependent on certain
conditions such as minimum service period
and long-term profitability. Payments within
12 months to beneficiaries after the service
period are reclassified from non-current
liabilities to current liabilities.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(y)

Income tax (continued

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(y)

Income tax (continued

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair value in accordance with the accounting policy
set out in Note 2(j), the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property over
time, rather than through sale. In all other cases,
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESTEHER®W
(continued)
(y) Income tax (continued) ly) FEB®E
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and BIEATH IE 45 84 SR E T TR s e I
movements therein, are presented separately from ¥ RaoRERE T TE -
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are A RA B R A KB B EE R BT
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax 7 ) LA B BR 5 18 & A 4K S B HA A
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company HAE  WARME A THES
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set BIBNEATR I B E n S BN AR B &
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities & URIBRLEFRIEE E R HIRE
and the following additional conditions are met: MIBAE :

= in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, = i BEVEARIBEE R BE -
the Company or the Group intends either to AR AN BB R F AR
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset BEE  HENERZEE

and settle the liability simultaneously; or FMEEZARE %
= in the case of deferred tax assets and - WARRCHEBEERBE -
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied MzEEERBEHER
by the same taxation authority on either: TSR A T B —IBEUK

HIFTISHI AR -
= the same taxable entity; or - Al —ERTTERE X
= different taxable entities, which, in = TRANERRERS -
each future period in which significant ZEERBATERE
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or ERBERLEHIEAE
assets are expected to be settled or s B oK B IR GE B
recovered, intend to realise the current HEEZ SRR
tax assets and settle the current tax NIRRT
liabilities on a net basis or realise and BRI E E KRB E
settle simultaneously. BNHATRIB B E - 3k[A
RERZEEREE
ZEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
)

2.

Bt 7 R 2R MY &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(2)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

i.

ii.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group
has a contract under which the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the
contract exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are
measured at the present value of the lower of
the expected cost of terminating the contract
and the net cost of continuing with the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(2)

(aa)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

(continued)
iii. Contingent liabilities assumed in business
combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination which are present obligations
at the date of acquisition are initially
recognised at fair value, provided the fair
value can be reliably measured. After
their initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised at the
higher of the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation where appropriate,
and the amount that would be determined
in accordance with Note 2(z)(i). Contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
that cannot be reliably fair valued or were not
present obligations at the date of acquisition
are disclosed in accordance with Note 2(z)(i).

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from commodities trading, provision of various
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, or the
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition (continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under
that contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of

financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other

income recognition policies are as follows:

i. Freight services

Freight services include air, sea and land
freight forwarding services and handling
of cargo across countries and handling of
documentation. Revenue from outbound
freight forwarding is recognised over the
transit time from the departure of shipments
from port of disembarkation, whereas
revenue from inward freight forwarding is
recognised when shipments arrive at port of

arrival.

Revenue is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract. Customers are
required to pay for the services rendered
immediately or within 14 — 60 days from the
date of invoice according to the agreed credit

terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. EBEESHBE®

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition (continued)

ii.

Provision of logistics services
Warehousing services

Warehousing services refer to the provision
of warehouse space for storage of the
customer’s products. Revenue is recognised
over time as services are being transferred
to the customer, based on the time elapsed.
Services are normally billed in advance on a
monthly basis or such other shorter interval
as agreed with customers.

Container services

Container services refer to the container
storage, repairs and handling. Revenue is
recognised over time for container storage
as services are being transferred to the
customer, based on the time elapsed. For
repairs and handling, revenue is recognised
upon completion of the service. Services are
billed for each completed job but are usually
consolidated and billed on a monthly basis.

Transportation services

Transportation services include local delivery
of goods or transfer of containers/cargoes
from warehouse/storage yard to the port/
customers’ premises. Revenue is recognised
upon completion of the service. Services
are billed upon completion and are usually
consolidated and billed on a monthly basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa)

Revenue recognition (continued)

ii.

Provision of logistics services (continued)
Inventory management services

Inventory management services include
rendering of import clearance, documentation
and trucking services for inbound shipment
and performing inventory stock-take and
other related services over a specified time
period. Revenue is recognised when services
are completed. Services are usually billed on
a monthly basis.

Record management services

Record management services include
storage, collection and retrieval and disposal
of document over a specific time period.
Revenue generated from providing document
storage, collection and retrieval and disposal
services is recognised over time as services
are being transferred to the customers, based
on the time elapsed. Revenue generated
from collection, retrieval and disposal services
is recognised when services are completed,
services are billed on a monthly basis.

For bundled packages, the Group accounts
for the individual services as separate
performance obligations as they are distinct,
i.e. the service is separately identifiable
from other items in the bundled package
and a customer can benefit from it. The
consideration receivable under the contract
is allocated to the separate services in a
bundle based on their relative stand-alone
selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices
are stated in the contract. Customers are
required to make payment within 30 — 60
days from the date of the invoices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa) Revenue recognition (continued)

iii.

Commodity trading

Commodity trading includes structured
trading, physical trading and supply chain
management of base metal non-ferrous
concentrates with predominant focus on
copper, lead, zinc and other minor metals and
energy products like naphtha and distillates.

Revenue is recognised when the customer
has control over the commodities upon the
transfer of title according to the terms and
conditions of the sales contracts.

The sale price of certain commodities is
initially recorded based on the provisional
prices depending on the contracts. Until
final settlement occurs, adjustments to the
provisional sales prices are made to take
into account metal price changes, based
upon the month-end spot price and metal
quantities upon receipt of the final assay
and weight certificates, if different from
the initial certificates. The Group marks to
market its provisional sales prices based on
the forward price for the estimated month
of settlement. In the consolidated statement
of financial position, such mark to market
adjustments are included within “trade and
other receivables”.

Payments of certain deals especially metal
concentrates and energy products are due at
sight or extended payment terms according
to contract terms and are secured by letter of
credit or documentary collection. Payments
of other deals are due as per the credit terms
stated in the invoice and most of them are
secured by credit insurance or approved by
an internal credit committee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa)

Revenue recognition (continued)

iv.

Equipment and facility maintenance
services

Equipment and facility maintenance services
include management and maintenance of
facilities, vehicles and equipment. Revenue
is recognised over time for services that are
transferred to the customer, based on the
time elapsed. For services that are rendered
over a period of six months or less, revenue
is recognised upon completion of the
services which is expected to approximate
revenue to be recognised over time, based
on the time elapsed, due to the short service
period. Customers are required to pay for the
services rendered within 30 — 60 days from
date of the invoice.

Design-and-build

The Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date. Revenue is recognised over time,
with reference to percentage of completion
of design-and-build services per the price
agreed under the contract. The percentage
of completion is measured by reference
to the quantity surveyor's certification and
customer’s acknowledgment of the value of
services transferred to date, relative to the
total contract price or milestone payment as
set out in the contract (“Certified Value of
Completion”).

Progress billings to the customer are based
on Certified Value of Completion and payment
is based on credit term (normally 30 days) set
out in the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa)

vi.

Vii.

viii.

ix.

Revenue recognition (continued)

Broking services

Revenue is recognised when services are
rendered to customers for clearing and
brokerage services (brokerage fee income)
and when trades are executed by customers
and the company acts in the capacity of an
agent (clearing commission and brokerage
fee).

Revenue from golf club operations

The initial membership fee is amortised on
a straight-line basis based on the remaining
period to the expiry date of business
license of the golf club of the Group and
the unamortised initial membership fee is
recognised as contract liabilities. The monthly
membership fee and the service income
related to the usage of golf club’s facilities
are recognised when services are provided.

Revenue from hotel and leisure operations

Revenue from hotel and leisure operations
comprising hotel accommodation, food and
beverages are recognised when the services
are rendered.

Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of
the leased asset. Lease incentives granted
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised
as income in the accounting period in which
they are earned.

2. EBEESHBE®

(aa)
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viii.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(aa) Revenue recognition (continued)
X. Investment and dividend income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established and dividend
income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes
ex-dividend.

(bb) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising
from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge
a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income (see
Note 2(i)(iii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEgTEHE®
(continued)
(bb) Translation of foreign currencies (continued) (bb) RE M (1)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the Company initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated
into Hong Kong Dollars at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or
after 1 January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong
Dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation
of a foreign operation acquired before 1 January
2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that
applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign
operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(cc)

(dd)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the group will comply
with all attached conditions. Government grants are
recognised in profit or loss as ‘other income’ on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
Government grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as
‘other income’ on a systematic basis in the periods
in which the expenses are recognised, unless the
conditions for receiving the grant are met after the
related expenses have been recognised. In this case,
the grant is recognised when it becomes receivable.

Government grants received in relation to the
purchase or construction of assets are deducted
against the costs of the assets acquired. These
government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the
assets by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(ee) Non-current assets classified as
held-for-sale and discontinued operations

i.

Non-current assets classified as
held-for-sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group)
is classified as held-for-sale if it is highly
probable that its carrying amount will be
recovered through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use and the asset
(or disposal group) is available-for-sale in its
present condition. A disposal group is a group
of assets to be disposed of together as a
group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will
be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held-for-sale when the above
criteria for classification as held-for-sale
are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in the
subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held-
for-sale, the measurement of the non-
current assets (and all individual assets and
liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting
policies before the classification. Then, on
initial classification as held-for-sale and until
disposal, the non-current assets (except
for certain assets as explained below), or
disposal groups, are recognised at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group are deferred
tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures) and investment properties.
These assets, even if classified as held-
for-sale, would continue to be measured
in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere in Note 2.

2. EBEESHBE®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(ee)

Non-current assets classified as
held-for-sale and discontinued operations
(continued)

i.

ii.

Non-current assets classified as
held-for-sale (continued)

Impairment losses on initial classification
as held-for-sale, and on subsequent
remeasurement while held-for-sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a
non-current asset is classified as held-for-
sale, or is included in a disposal group that
is classified as held-for-sale, the non-current
asset is not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component
of the Group’s business, the operations
and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single coordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-
sale (see (i) above), if earlier. It also occurs if
the operation is abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESTEHER®W
(continued)
(ee) Non-current assets classified as (ee) PEABIEHEZERBEE
held-for-sale and discontinued operations RE&KILERE
(continued)
ii. Discontinued operations (continued) ji. BRIEERE(E

Where an operation is classified as
discontinued, a single amount is presented
on the face of the statement of profit or loss,
which comprises:

the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation; and

the post-tax gain or loss recognised
on the measurement to fair value less
costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting
the discontinued operation.

(ff) Related parties

&

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ _F _ &4+ _H=4—HILFEF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(ff) Related parties (continued)

b. An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members
of the same Group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a Group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(ff)

(g9)

Related parties (continued)

b. An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(viij A person identified in (a)(i) has

significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).
(viii)  The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’'s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND 3. EtHERMEE

ESTIMATES

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying (a) EAEXEESHTHREFNEE
the Group’s accounting policies =gl
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting RERRSESHEERBIEFR &
policies, management has made critical accounting BEREBEEASERRABEET
judgements in determining whether the Group FETHENTERS KR IEEEER
is reasonably certain to exercise extension or EER EZE=FHHIE - a0fdEE2(m)
termination options for certain leases, as set out in Fr o
Note 2(m).

(b) Source of estimation uncertainty (b) MHEETTFEERZZRE
The key assumptions concerning the future, and RHERH - BEBRREERE
other key sources at reporting date, that have a HuFxrZRR(EEEREERA
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to BEOREER T —EMREE LR
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the BEBAFABRZERRR) T HH FE
next financial year are described in the following Frat
notes:
Note 31(b) - defined benefit obligations
Bf5E31(b) - REBMNEME
Note 38(b) - measurement of loss allowance for receivables
B 5£38(b) - ERFENEERETE
Note 38(e) - fair value measurement of financial instruments.
Ff5E38(e) - SRIAMNAREEREZ-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS 4. DERFELHEZHEAHR
HELD-FOR-SALE
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group BHE_T-NF+A=T—HILFE "
committed to disposing of the PRC Operation, which AEBABLNEPHER @ IR 2HRRLE
represented a reportable and operating segment, namely BNl BB RNEEEREES] - WH
“sports and leisure-related facilities business”, and RE—FKREBFMERIHER ARG R
commenced negotiation with Hillview Holdings Limited, a TIRABMRAFETER - RZT—NF+
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. ZA=t+—H HEEBESBEARE
The PRC Operation was classified as a disposal group HEZHEMBIWF AR K IEZER (R
held-for-sale and included in a discontinued operation as 5 c REFREBR-_Z-_ZF— A%
at 31 December 2019 (see Note 5). The disposal of the B R E LB 744,000,0007T ©
PRC Operation was completed in January 2020 at a total
consideration of approximately HK$744,000,000.
The assets and liabilities associated with the disposal group RZE-—NF+ZA=+—HNSE AR
classified as held-for-sale as at 31 December 2019 are as EHEZREHRRZHBEERAED
follows: ™
2019
— N
HK$'000
BT T
Assets associated with a disposal group PEABEHEZHEAR 2
classified as held-for-sale HEEE
PRC Operation ERIETE S 1,298,175
Liabilities associated with a disposal group PTHEEBBELECHEAR 2
classified as held-for-sale HEAE
PRC Operation ERIETE S 896,035
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 5. B4R IEEFRK
The Group completed the disposals its property investment AEEERBE_ZE—NLEF+=A=+—

businesses in the United States (the “US Operation”)
and the United Kingdom (the “UK Operation”) during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and its sports and
leisure-related facilities business (the “PRC Operation”)
in January 2020. The US Operation and the UK Operation
together represented a reportable and operating segment,
namely the "“property investment business”, and the PRC
Operation represented a reportable and operating segment,
namely “sports and leisure-related facilities business”, prior
to the disposals.

BLEFEEEREEEARXBREBZY
%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ“("%ﬁé(%%ﬁjﬁfﬁi
B YR _FT_FTF-AZREEER
EPIZ g8 K ARREARRE R 75 ([ B3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

Bt 7 R 2R MY &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

5.

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

In addition, the Group ceased its energy and refined metals
trading business under the commodity marketing segment
(the “Energy and Refined Metals Trading Operation”),
which represented a separate major line of the Group's
business, during the year ended 31 December 2019. Except
for executing and completing the contracts entered prior
to the cessation, no substantive economic activities were
undertaken under the Energy and Refined Metals Trading
Operation during the year ended 31 December 2020.

All the operations disclosed above are classified as
discontinued operations and their results for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

BRIEERKE

N BHE2—FE—-hEFE+_A=+—HI1:
FE - AEBERILEFRESHDHET
Rk EEcBEZEX(HREEERE
BESEK|)  ZEBSEARNEE—1EE
VYZFEEK - BE_ZT-_TF+_-_A=
+—BLEFE  BRATRTEARLZIERTRT
MZEHN  MEREERERMEREBEE
SETEITEAEE M EEES -

PIBEXBBENEBRBE_T_FTFR
“E-AFT_A=T-BULEFEHES
BRERIEER  HFEMT ¢

2020 2019
—E-THF —E-NEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaF BT T BT T
Profit of US Operation I B 5 75 A - 59,683
Loss on disposal of US Operation HEXHEBEE - (258,237)
Loss of UK Operation REEEEE - (68,971)
Loss on disposal of UK Operation o R R EE - (5,684)
(Loss)/profit of PRC Operation FREEKEER),EF (a) (479) 6,317
Profit on disposal of PRC Operation & R 2 TS 2 S T (a) 20,150 -
Loss of Energy and Refined Metals EEREREBE S%EH
Trading Operation &8 (b) (35,177) (41,275)
Loss for the year from discontinued B4 I ¥/ 2 FEEIE
operations (15,506) (308,167)
(Loss)/profit for the year from T ALZEGERIEER
discontinued operations 2 EE (BB EF
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIETZEDN (15,338) (310,366)
Non-controlling interests FEfE I = (168) 2,199
(15,506) (308,167)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

(a)

PRC Operation

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
committed to the disposal plan of the PRC Operation
and commenced negotiation with a potential buyer.
On 13 January 2020, San Tai Investment Company
Limited, which is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, has entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with Hillview Holdings Limited,
an independent third party, in relation to the disposal
of interest in certain operating golf courses through
the disposal of Hillview Golf Development Company
Limited, which was a subsidiary of the Group holding
such golf courses.

Upon the completion of the disposal of the PRC
Operation on 15 January 2020, Hillview Holdings
Limited had acquired all the issued ordinary shares
of Hillview Golf Development Company Limited
held by the Group. Details of the disposal of the
PRC Operation are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 13 and 15 January 2020 and
the Company's circular dated 24 January 2020.

5. BRLEEK®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 5. BRLEEK®
(a) PRC Operation (continued) (a) HEEB®E
(i) Results of the PRC Operation (i) 2 EE

(Loss)/profit for the period/year from the BHEPEIES 2 B RIEER
discontinued operation in respect of the PRC 28/ ERNEBR) S HF S

Operation is analysed as follows: war :

Period from

1 January

2020 to

15 January

2020 Year ended
(date of 31 December

disposal) 2019
B-—ZE-ZF
—A—HZ
—E-EF BZE
—A+EH —E-hE
(HEBH) +=A=+—8
IEHARE IEEE
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Income WA 5,766 163,038
Expenses X (6,236) (156,643)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREL AT (E1B), 5 A (470) 6,395
Income tax expense FriS i (9) (78)
(Loss)/profit for the period/year B/ FREER),EF (479) 6,317
Attributable to: AT AT -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE DN (311) 4,118
Non-controlling interests R = (168) 2,199
(Loss)/profit for the period/year B/ FREER), &R (479) 6,317
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 5. SR IEEK @)
(a) PRC Operation (continued) (a) HEEB®E
(i)  Results of the PRC Operation (continued) (i) B 2 E4E (E)

(Loss)/profit for the period/year from REBEPREER 2 BKIE
discontinued operation in respect of the PRC 2NN,/ FREE) %
Operation has been arrived at after charging/ FEMR GFA) TH&E

(crediting): 1&IZEEL

Period from

1 January

2020 to

15 January

2020 Year ended
(date of 31 December

disposal) 2019
B=F=%%
-A-BE
i a8z
—HBTEHH —B-NF
(LEBRH) +=A=+—A~
IEHAMS IEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BB F T
Staff costs B IR
Salaries, wages and other benefits #& ~ TE&E M EMEF] 3,908 42,703
Retirement benefit scheme RRAE T ET B ER
contributions 494 2,579
4,402 45,282
Interest income FEUWA - (198)
Finance costs BbE A 1,302 34,394
Exchange loss/(gain) P& 5 E518, (Kax) 38 (112)
Auditor’s remuneration % BREH N & - 79
Depreciation of property, Y - BEREETE
plant and equipment - 5,601
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {f FllEEETE - 42,292
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 5. SR IEEK @)
(a) PRC Operation (continued) (a) HEEB®E
(ii)  Cash flows from the PRC Operation (i) HFEEXEZEERE
HK$°000
BT T
For the period from 1 January 2020to B _-ZE-ZE&—H—HZ%
15 January 2020 (date of disposal) —E-ZEF—HA+EHH
(HERAHE) ILHE
Net cash inflows generated from KETEBFTE IR e 55
operating activities 3,465
Net cash outflows used in financing REEBFTA R
activities (3,376)
Net cash inflows REMAFRE 89
HK$'000
JEMETF T
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-Z—NF+=A
=+—B8%%E
Net cash generated from operating LEEBFIR 2R F5E
activities 13,081
Net cash used in investing activities KREEBFTACR 55 (71)
Net cash used in financing activities REEBFTA IR 55 (14,195)
Net cash outflows WemLF5E (1,185)



5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) PRC Operation (continued)

(iii)

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

5. ORILEK®
(a) PEEBE

Effect of disposal on the consolidated (i) HEFEHAEFGEHHE
financial position of the Group MRERZFHE
The following are the assets and liabilities in UTARZZE_TF—AH+
respect of the PRC Operation disposed of on FAEGBIEHRBESR HEZF
the date of completion on 15 January 2020: BEBsEERBE
15 January
2020
—E-EF
—HA+EA
HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE REE 234,033
Right-of-use assets FERAEEE 1,005,735
Other non-current assets HMIEmEEE 1,356
Inventories FE 6,382
Trade receivables FEUE 5 BR1E 32,137
Prepayments, deposits and other TERFRIE e R EAMRWGIE
receivables 11,646
Amounts due from the Group FEW A =B RIR 572,429
Pledged bank deposits BEEMIBITHER 53
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEBEIEE 17,644
Trade and other payables FE B 5 BRIE K E Ath FE T 5RIB (47,174)
Current tax payable FEf & HATR I8 (14,558)
Contract liabilities aHatE (148,237)
Loans and borrowings BR RGN (457,956)
Deferred tax liabilities ELETIEA R (236,534)
Less: Amounts due from the Group W BN BIFUE (572,429)
Net assets of the PRC Operation EHEFTEER cEEFE
disposed of 404,527
Less: Ve
Non-controlling interests disposed of & 2 TR ER (341,968)
Cash consideration received BURERE (164,564)
(102,005)
Recycling from other comprehensive S e Hith 2 E s
income 81,8556
Profit on disposal of PRC Operation SRR 2w (20,150)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 5.
(b) Energy and Refined Metals Trading
Operation

In September 2019, the Group decided to
discontinue its energy and refined metals trading
business in Singapore to channel its resources into
growing the Group’s core base metals concentrates
trading business. The Group will continue to fulfil
its existing committed contracts of its energy and
refined metals trading business until 2020. The
Group's energy and refined metals trading business
was formerly reported under Commodity Marketing
segment.

(i) Results of the Energy and Refined Metals

AR IEER @
(b) HERBESBES%E

RZZ—NFNA  KEERER
IEEFEFMNENERIERSEE
SE%  UWBEERARBER AL
ENZLeBRBEESER - A%
ESEERITHEERLEREER
SEBGNBEBAFZANEE-_F =
TF o AEENRELEREEZ
PEBREDTRERESDBET

25 o

(i) BEERERZBEZEHKZ

Trading Operation E
Loss for the year from the discontinued REBHEEEREEREBE
operation in respect of Energy and Refined SEGZERIEEB ZFA
Metals Trading Operation is analysed as BESTHOT :
follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
BZE HE
—E-EF —T-NF
+=—HA=+—-8B +=—A=+—-H
ILFEE FE
HK$000 HK$000
BETFT BT
Income WA 658,346 12,418,436
Expenses Fs (694,253) (12,464,332)
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE (35,912) (45,896)
Income tax credit FGHiE R 735 4,621
Loss for the year and attributable FARKARERA
to owners of the Company LA (35,177) (41,275)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 5. BRLEEK®
(b) Energy and Refined Metals Trading (b) BEREREREBEZXEK®)
Operation (continued)
(i) Results of the Energy and Refined Metals (i) BERRIERELBE Z¥EK2
Trading Operation (continued) HFEE)
Loss for the years from discontinued REEBERLBEREBE
operation in respect of the Energy and SEG R IEEBHFA
Refined Metals Trading Operation has been BREMNR,GTA) THE
arrived at after charging/(crediting): TEIBERR -
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
BZE HE
S 32 —T-hF
+=ZA=+—-8B +=-A=+—H
LEE WEFE
HK$000 HK$000
BT T BT T
Staff costs 8 TR A
Salaries, wages and other benefits ~ #FH& » TE R EEF 5,885 34,302
Retirement benefit scheme RURAEFET IR
contributions 383 1,397
6,268 35,699
Interest income FEUTA (850) (35,882)
Finance costs BMEKAR 777 43,101
Exchange loss bE 5 SR 191 103
Auditor’s remuneration ZEED BN & 45 1,104
(Reversal)/recognition of credit EWE ZRBEEEE
loss on trade receivables (M), R (20,382) 11,662
Depreciation of property, M - BERRETE
plant and equipment 39 477
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREEEIE - 11,763
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 56,366 21,672
Cost of inventories sold EHEFTERAE 670,968 12,284,742
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 5. R IEER @
(b) Energy and Refined Metals Trading (b) BEREREREBEZXEK®)
Operation (continued)
(ii)  Cash flows from the Energy and Refined (i) BERREHREBEZEXKZ
Metals Trading Operation BLhmE
HK$'000
JBEMETF T
For the year ended 31 December 2020 EHZE_-_ZT_ZE&+_-_A=+—H
IEFEE
Net cash generated from operating KETEBFIR 2R F5
activities 285,926
Net cash generated from investing REFDAB2EHEFE
activities 1,971
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBFTA IR 55 (351,549)
Net cash outflows RemL F58 (63,652)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 EHZE—-ZE—h&+=-A=+—H
LFEE
Net cash generated from operating KEEBFB 2R 5
activities 550,245
Net cash generated from investing KREEHFGE RS
activities 38,982
Net cash used in financing activities BB EBFTA R eFE (5685,671)

Net cash inflows WeRAFE 3,656
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

REVENUE

The Group is principally engaged in integrated logistics
services and related engineering services. The Group is also
engaged in the affiliated business of commodity marketing
and financial services.

Disaggregation of revenue
Continuing operations

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products and service lines as follows:

6.

N2

AEBEEREHEEWRRSG MEETE
% - ARENTMFARE S RS BRE
Z W BT -

NEFE 05

RS
RIEERRRBRES 2 ES A MG
mF :

Ik

2020 2019
—B-FF —FNF
HK$000 HK$'000
B F T BT
Disaggregated by major products and EEXEEmRRREGE D
service lines

Freight services B RS 2,939,199 2,673,031
Logistics services Y AR 7% 1,614,502 1,812,828
Commodity trading EmE 5 38,918,873 34,861,722

Equipment and facility maintenance BB R EERERE
services 487,114 473,125
Design-and-build AR 17,977 215,955
Broking services L4 RS 563,871 448,985
Others HAh 132,035 261,866
44,673,571 40,747,512

All the Group’s revenue is recognised under HKFRS 15
except for income from sub-leasing of right-of-use assets
of HK$124,361,000 (2019: HK$126,913,000) (Note 30(a))
which is presented under “logistics services” above.

AEEMBREHBRIEE ST EREE
BIZE165RFER - D AFERAEEE I
AB#124,361,000T0(ZF—NF : B
126,913,0007T) (B 5E30(a) £ X9 iR
BETEY -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

6.

REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)
Continuing operations (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic
markets is disclosed in Note 7.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, as the remaining
performance obligations of the Group are either from
contracts that have original expected durations of one year
or less or from contracts where the Group has a right to
invoice a customer in an amount that corresponds directly
with its performance to date, the Group has applied the
practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and
does not disclose information about the transaction price
allocated to its remaining performance obligations.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), being the most senior executive management
of the Company, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on the types
of goods or services delivered or provided.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following reportable segments.

Logistics services

This reportable segment include warehousing,
transportation, freight forwarding and cargo consolidation,
supply chain management services.

Commodity marketing

This reportable segment include physical trading and
supply chain management of base metal non-ferrous
concentrates with predominant focus on copper, lead, zinc
and other minor metals. This segment formerly includes the
Energy and Refined Metals Trading Operation which was
discontinued in 2019 (see Note 5(b)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Engineering services

This reportable segment include management and
maintenance of facilities, vehicles and equipment,
supply and installation of engineering products, property
management, and design-and-build for logistic properties.

Financial services

This reportable segment include structured trading of
commodities, provision of financial brokerage services and
assets management services.

The segment information reported below does not include
any amounts for those discontinued operations, which is
described in more details in Note 5.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’'s most
senior executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment profit before taxation represents operating
revenue less expenses. Segment assets represents assets
directly managed by each segment, and primarily include
inventories, receivables, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets. Segment liabilities represent liabilities
directly managed by each segment, and primarily include
payables, loans and borrowings and lease liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments. Segment profit
includes the Group's share of profit arising from the
activities of the Group's associates and joint ventures.
[tems not managed by or derived from the operations of
reportable segments are classified as “unallocated” in the
segment reconciliations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEHER@
Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or AE2HoHNER SEHEERHEM
loss, assets and liabilities and other material EXREEHHER
items
2020 2019
—BBHF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Reportable segment profit or loss AE2Fo HER
Total profit for reportable segments Al 235 50 T B FE 381,415 200,570
Unallocated amounts: KOS -
Gain on fair value change of other HtemEEZ A AREE
financial assets gl 22,381 17,948
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEIEEZ
plant and equipment fE518 (2) (13)
Net foreign exchange gain b 5 W s F R 8,039 73,265
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE (9,304) (11,763)
Finance costs A& B A (137,371) (345,503)
Unallocated income and gains RAFBA KUz 3,647 10,400
Unallocated expenses RO (139,063) (161,707)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATE R, (E518)
(continuing operations) (FBEEED) 129,742 (216,803)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. WER@®

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or

AE2foERE EEHABERHEM

loss, assets and liabilities and other material BEXREEHE®)
items (continued)
2020 2019
— 7 — ﬂi —j‘Lf‘E
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BB F T
Reportable segment assets A2|WIHBEE
Continuing operations B E TS
Logistics services Y AR 1% 8,720,960 8,604,224
Commodity marketing HmE S 8,064,675 7,446,190
Engineering services Ti2AR% 475,599 407,510
Financial services SRR 7,795,521 5,996,260
Elimination of inter-segment assets D EBE A EH (806,049) (495,867)
Total reported segment assets AIZ2RD A EERT 24,250,706 21,958,317
Assets associated with a disposal SERBIEHE 2 HEERZ
group classified as held-for-sale EEEE - 1,298,175
24,250,706 23,256,492
Unallocated assets: RAMEE -
Investments in associates and REERAIREGEDERE
joint ventures 446,681 463,564
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEHEER 4,044 21,984
Other financial assets HtSmEE 204,702 170,468
Other unallocated assets HEMADEEEE 9,841 108,069
Consolidated total assets IREBEAE 24,915,974 24,020,577
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. SETER@
Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or AE2HoHNER SEHEERHEM
loss, assets and liabilities and other material BEREEHHER®

items (continued)

2020 2019
—EDEF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT B F T
Reportable segment liabilities AE2/IHERE
Continuing operations B E TS
Logistics services Y AR 1% 6,346,489 6,690,739
Commodity marketing EmE 5 6,763,188 5,913,796
Engineering services Ti2AR% 234,447 207,880
Financial services SRR 6,736,522 4,959,750
Elimination of inter-segment liabilities o EbfE A EH (775,980) (496,249)
Total reported segment liabilities A2y aERsE 19,304,666 17,275,916
Liabilities associated with a disposal SEARIELE 2 HEMERZ
group classified as held-for-sale EEaE - 896,035
19,304,666 18,171,951
Unallocated liabilities: RAMEE :
Perpetual Note (Note 28) KA (K1 7#28) 356,905 358,492
The Extended Borrowing (Note 28) AT B R (AT 7E28) - 768,334
Other loans and borrowings HEMERMER 716,000 -
Tax liabilities MBBE - 2,080
Other unallocated liabilities BERoiEaE 40,045 98,729
Consolidated total liabilities REBAaR 20,417,616 19,399,586
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographic information

The logistic services and commodity marketing segments
are managed on a worldwide basis and the Group operates
principally in Mainland China, Singapore, other parts of Asia
Pacific Region, Europe, North America, Africa continent
and South America. Engineering services are primarily in
Singapore. Financial services operate mainly in Mainland
China, Singapore and North America.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical

7.

o E R )

i EE R
MEREAERE S DR REEER
BE - AEEETERFRREAM - BTN R
HEMEARHE - BUN - dEEM - FEM
REENFEEMESE - TIRIRBEZBEFM
¥ me RS EZRFP IR - ¥
WRAEFEMES -

iR D AL RERE n%‘ ﬁlﬁ?ﬂfﬁz

segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical AEFERS K E Zﬁfrftiﬂlu:uu‘l‘ o EFIE
locations from which the Group derives its revenue. BN E B (B 5k I FE R ﬂé@& iR
Segment non-current assets (other than loans and EFIEE ERR 9|\)T§§F}ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂli
receivables, financial assets and deferred tax assets) are
based on the geographical location of the assets.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RENBEF ZW = BEFRRBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—BIBRE  —T-NAF CZEIEF —ZTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT BT T
Mainland China FR A HE 24,686,428 24,435,251 77,899 70,533
Singapore 27N 3,156,536 3,868,998 5,694,676 6,011,530
Hong Kong Special FEES
Administrative Region FERITT &
of the PRC 9,819,989 2,686,956 7,398 18,213
Korea 2 1,118,846 1,490,150 276 243
Other Asia Pacific HEmp KAEER
jurisdictions 3,566,761 4,128,400 555,039 538,947
Europe &N 1,000,969 2,261,723 1,315,916 1,285,192
North America JEEM 1,018,028 969,307 20,123 20,446
Africa continent FEIN A PE 302,900 904,854 60,560 69,219
South America EEF 3,114 1,873 5,399 4,152
44,673,571 40,747,512 7,737,286 8,018,475
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ _F _ &4+ _H=4—HILFEF

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

No single customer contributed over 10% or more to the
Group’s consolidated revenue from continuing operations
for both 2020 and 2019.

DEERE @)

EBRIEEE2&R
R-B-TER-T—H&E HEE—F
FANEEY BEQLLEER R RS
B10% 3k LAk o

OTHER INCOME Haiug A
2020 2019
—B-FF —FNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Continuing operations FRESEEK
Interest income on financial assets BEEKNAFTECEREE
measured at amortised cost FEUA 54,742 143,840
Dividend income from other financial HEmemEERBBA
assets 163 305
Government grants TR 4 Bh 103,735 =
Others HAb 37,691 58,396
196,331 202,541

The Group received several government grants globally
as measures introduced by local governments to protect
businesses and people from the economic disruption
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Material government grants received by the group includes
those received/receivable under Job Support Scheme
and rebate of foreign worker levy rebate and property tax
in Singapore. As at 31 December 2020, the Group also
received certain government grants of HK$11,743,000
of which attached conditions have not been met. These
balances are included under “trade and other payables”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

OTHER NET GAIN 9. Httlk=ZFHE
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT B F T
Continuing operations HEREER
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME  BERRHEZ
plant and equipment e F 58 3,669 2,988
Net loss on disposal of intangible assets  HE&E B & E 2 E18/F58 (333) =
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain [E 5 (&518) W a5 B 58 (3,568) 67,858
Impairment loss on trade and FEWE 5 BRTE K L 4th FE Uk
other receivables RIEREEE (8,443) (35,738)
Impairment loss on property, Y - BE k& ERESE
plant and equipment (1,745) (1,356)
Net gain on financial instruments EAnBEFABRD
carried at FVPL SR T AW FRE 22,381 17,626
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2 EE (2,596) (920)
Impairment of prepayment A RIERE (3,880) -
Others Hit (3,119) (17,095)
2,366 33,363
FINANCE COSTS 10. BERAK
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations FERSEER
Interests expense on: FMERAZRE :
Bank borrowings and other facilities RITERREMRE 182,197 427,500
Medium term note (“MTN") PHRE(FHRRED) 5,998 36,371
Lease liabilities HEBE 126,315 137,229
Others Hitb 3,853 10,070
Other finance costs Hfh g & p A 48,565 90,327
366,928 701,497
Bank charges RITFEE 46,637 62,425
413,565 763,922
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

11. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 11.
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Profit/(loss) before taxation from continuing operations has
been arrived after charging/(crediting):

REFEECERE ZRBA
R (1)
RERBEEEE 2 BRATER (5H)
B GHA) -

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETFT B F T
Continuing operations HEREER
Staff costs, including Directors’ BINAN(BIEESEHE)
emoluments
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe - ITENMEMER 1,233,618 1,283,320
Retirement benefit scheme RIREAIFT B 5K
contributions 74,949 86,700
1,308,567 1,370,020
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BEREETE
equipment 206,321 254,961
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 430,441 464,427
Amortisation of intangible assets A EEE 30,976 33,146
Auditor's remuneration 1% EREM BN & 17,855 20,066
Gross rental income from investment REMEZ B BKA
properties (163) (304)
Inventory write-off FEMEH 37,987 =
Cost of inventories sold EHEFENA 37,664,812 33,948,843

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation
of right-of-use assets and amortisation of intangible assets
of HK$39,000, HK$Nil and HK$56,366,000, respectively,
are attributable to the Group’s discontinued operations and
presented under “loss from discontinued operations” for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$6,078,000,
HK$42,292,000 and HK$21,572,000, respectively).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX 12. FRBH
2020 2019
—BEHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax BHIE
Provision for the year — Hong Kong FRRE - FENEMR
Profits Tax - 42
Provision for the year — Overseas FREAE - BINRERL
income tax 68,362 66,167
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEHRERE (12,103) (26,876)
56,259 39,333
Deferred tax ERERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary TRE R LI =58
differences (Note 32) (Hia£32) (20,423) (44,849)
Withholding tax T 9,366 4,943
Total income tax expense/(credit) TSR (K%) L5 45,202 (573)
Attributable to: PN
Profit from continuing operations REFELEER 25 45,928 26,332
Loss from discontinued operations REBRIEER 2 EIE (726) (26,905)
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020 is R_T=FREFERIEL BB R
calculated at 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) of the estimated AETF AR AMNN16.5%(ZF—h
assessable profits for the year, except for one subsidiary of F :16.5%)5E - HAKER—HEH B
the Group which is a qualifying corporation under the two- RNEBFEEMASIETHEEREER
tiered Profits Tax rate regime. Hh o
Taxation outside Hong Kong is calculated on the estimated BEBFIN BIBRIB G FAERT R T
assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation TR R ERR 2 RITH R E o

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

12. INCOME TAX (continued) 12.

Reconciliation between income tax and profit/
(loss) before taxation from continuing operations
at applicable tax rates:

FEH@
FremaREAR Rt ERERHER
RS RBIATNE(B5E) 2K
R -

2020 2019
—BBHF —ZET-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit/(loss) before taxation from REFFEE S 2 BRBIA
continuing operation wm A, (B R) 129,742 (216,803)
Less: Share of profits of associates and ~ Jil : DhEtE R A REE D
joint ventures, net of tax M (R IE) (28,399) (25,585)
101,343 (242,388)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, BREATE R 2 BEBIE -
calculated at the rates applicable to loss & E R FEER 2 B8
in the jurisdictions concerned HAMEE 38,523 (27,324)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR S 2 s & 55,509 74,864
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERMWA 2 M & (33,714) (2,736)
Tax incentives T 15 528D (372) (1,523)
Tax effect of utilisation of previously not  EYA LRI R ER ZFRIEEE R
recognised tax losses and allowances BEs BB (6,668) (9,610)
Tax effect of unused tax losses and RERZAFEABEEBER
allowances not recognised B mgeE 5,341 13,689
Over-provision in respective prior years 87 F EBEERE (15,909) (26,876)
Withholding tax B 3,222 4,943
Others EAh (4) 905
Income tax expense from REFELEETS 2 FREH
continuing operations 53 45,928 26,332
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 13. EEREETHAEME

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments (a) EERESTHBRASME
BE-_T-NFR-T_TF+=
A=Z+—BLEE BFEREST

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 are set

out below: BABZME&EIIAT :
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions  emoluments
HER BEEA
ok 2 g STEIH “ms
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BT BEFT
2020 b g 33
Zhu Weijun (Note i) EREEA (=) - 272 - 272
Ding Lei (Note ii) T &z - 1,146 9 1,155
Wu Hao (Note iii) RO (W) - 427 - 427
Li Tongshuang (Note iv) ZRE W ) - 75 2 77
Li Neng (Note v) Zae(fratv) - 427 - 427
Zhao Quan sl 3 - 459 - 459
Chen Chao (Note vi) B (Hfztvi) - - - -
Zhang Can (Note vii) SRI (Hfztvir) - - - -
Leung Shun Sang, Tony 2IEE 300 - - 300
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin W6 300 - - 300
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey i 300 - - 300
Chen Lihua (Note vii) BB (2 vii) 210 - - 210
1,110 2,806 1 3,927
2019 “E-hE
Guo Ke (Note ix) AT (fztix) = 376 = 376
Xu Haohao (Note x) RER(Hitx) - 26,094 63 26,157
Mung Kin Keung (Note xi) SRR ) = 650 = 650
Zhu Weijun (Note j) KEE W) = 91 = 91
Ding Lei (Note ii) A ED) = 1,521 7 1,528
Li Tongshuang (Note iv) FRE W) = 2,434 98 2,532
Zhao Quan i - 3,685 108 3,793
Chen Chao (Note vi) BB (Wiztvi) - - - -
Zhang Can (Note vii) SRR (K7t vii) - - - -
Li Neng (Note v) Zhe(Wiztv) - - - -
Mung Bun Man, Alan (Note xij) 5% 5 X (i 5txii) 275 = = 275
Leung Shun Sang, Tony 2% 300 = = 300
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin WP 300 - - 300
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey M 300 = = 300
Chen Lihua (Note viii) PR (11 22 vi) 88 = = 83
1,263 34,851 276 36,390
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments
(continued)

Notes:

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

Mr. Zhu Weijun was appointed as an Executive
Director on 1 July 2019 and then resigned on 10
October 2020.

Mr. Ding Lei resigned as an Executive Director on
26 June 2020.

Mr. Wu Hao was appointed as an Executive
Director on 1 October 2020.

Mr. Li Tongshuang was appointed as an Executive
Director on 20 February 2019 and then resigned on
12 December 2019.

Mr. Li Neng was appointed as an Executive
Director on 12 December 2019.

Mr. Chen Chao was appointed as an Executive
Director on 1 July 2019.

Mr. Zhang Can was appointed as an Executive
Director on 12 December 2019.

Ms. Chen Lihua was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 1 August 2019.

Mr. Guo Ke resigned as an Executive Director on
20 February 2019.

Mr. Xu Haohao was not re-elected at the annual
general meeting held on 28 June 2019.

Mr. Mung Kin Keung was appointed as an
Executive Director on 20 February 2019 and then
resigned on 28 June 2019.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan resigned as a Non-
Executive Director on 25 November 2019.
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13. EERERSTHAEME®)

(a)

EERBSTHRAEME (@)

HsE

Vi.
Vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

13. EERERSTHAEME®)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments
(continued)

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as Directors of
the Company.

The Independent Non-executive Directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as Directors of the Company.

Five individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in
the Group, none (2019: two) of them is a Director of
the Company whose emoluments are set out above.
The emoluments of the remaining five (2019: three)
individuals are as follows:

(a)

(b)

EERBSTHRAEME (@)

EXFARZATEETHE ERER
FEEARNRARANEEER 2 R
BB -

EXFRZFRTESTHEETESR
REEEARREETZRGARA -

EXFRARZBIFATEEME T
ERREREARAEETZRBEE
A

TEBREHFMAL
RAEBREREHMA LS
VE(CZE-NF: WB)ARAE
= REZHMSFER X - A
F(CE-NF:ZR)ALTZHE
LI

2020 2019

—EB-EBHF —FNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Salaries and other benefits e kEMmER 36,768 40,382

Bonus TEAT 29,444 =
Contributions to retirement benefit IRREFET 2 2 73R

schemes 276 100

66,488 40,482
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 13.

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five individuals with highest emoluments

(continued)

The emoluments were within the following bands:

BEERERSTHAEMES®

(b) HEBRSHMALE

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000

HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000

HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000

HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000

HK$19,000,001 to HK$19,500,000

HK$24,500,001 to HK$25,000,000

HK$55,000,001 to HK$55,500,000

7B #£3,500,001 T
754 000,0007T
716,500,001 E
75 7,000,0007T
75 #8,500,001 T2
75#9,000,0007T
75111,500,0017TE
75 #12,000,0007T
75%19,000,001TE
719,500,000
7124 500,001 TR
75 #25,000,0007T
75 #565,000,001 T2
7555 500,0007T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors or the five highest paid individuals as
compensation for loss of office or as an inducement

to join or upon joining the Group.

14. DIVIDEND

14.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed after the

end of reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

15. BRER (F#E)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (a) EBREXRERF (HE)
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per REABBELEEBRERIEEBTD
share amounts from continuing and discontinued BREXAEF(EBB)SHEZR T
operations is based on: B E ¢
(i) the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to (i) KR EAEENA N FE
owners of the Company wF (5 R)
2020 2019
—BCBHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T B F T
Profit/(loss) attributable to R RVHER AE
owners of the Company wm A (E518)
- from continuing operations - HEBREER 56,803 (287,191)
— from discontinued operations - BRIEER (15,338) (310,366)
41,465 (597,557)
(i) the weighted average number of (i)  FREBETZBERMNETS
ordinary shares of 11,399,996,101 (2019: #/411,399,996,101% (=
11,399,996,101) in issue during the year. T—AF ¢ 11,399,996,101
%) o
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b) ESRBHRF (HE)

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/
(loss) per share amounts presented for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 in respect of
a dilution as share options subsisting during the
periods had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
earnings/(loss) per share amounts presented.

HRPATENERESZIINEG
BEARAN(BR)2EAERE
BRE BRUARHBE_ZT_TF
R—Z-NF+-A=1t—HLLF
B2z 8RERRTN,(BR)2
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ -  BMERRE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plant, Motor fittings, Hotel and
land,  machinery vehicles  computers, Assets buildings
buildings and and and  and office under for golf
improvements  equipment trailers  equipment  construction business Total
548 .
AELH B HE BER ELE N BREARER
JliEE #E  REAEE Bt ] HREE CEERET At
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
BATT  BETT R RETR BEFT BETT #ETR
cosT HA
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-R-A 3,811,207 106,640 59,305 36,469 404,395 26143 4679529
Transfer to disposal group classified as BREABARENEY
held-or-sale HEHR (3.231) (15,801) (146) - - (28688 (277,866)
Transfers and reclassifications BERENAE 120,936 10575 = 316 131,827) = =
Additions AE 546 20,554 4,9% 1826 17,975 - 151,896
Disposals HE (114,530) 38,287) (16,071) (9.981) (6] - (178,875)
Exchange realignment Bz 20,767 750 43 (612) (455) 2,735) 18,151
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NETZA=1-R 3,835,785 84,431 48519 34,018 390,082 - 4,3928%
Transfers E o 16,360 - - - (16,360) - -
Reclassffications (Note 77 ENSEMW:17) (97,057) 8621 3962 1440 - - (83,034)
Additions AE 50,723 12,823 2,979 5972 35,126 - 107,623
Disposals e (170,707) (23,266) (10,160) (6,548) - - (210,681)
Bxchange realignment EXi8% 94,369 7818 1,688 1,749 6,222 - 111,846
At 31 December 2020 RZF-FE+-R=1-H 3,729,473 90427 46,988 36,631 415,070 - 4318589
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ZiRERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-R-A 278,825 14,8% 4,993 4,025 - 31,214 339,952
Transfer to disposal group classified as BREABARELEL
held-for-sale HEA| (740) (2,164) 107 - - (42,513) (45310)
Transfers and reclassifications BERENAE = 29 = = = = 29
Charge for the year ERitiE 203,611 25,801 12,955 13,071 = 5,601 261,039
Disposals & (52,113) (30,385) 15,039) (9.981) - - (107,518
Exchange realignment Ex#E 13,066 615 283 (384) - (302) 13,268
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZR=1-H 442,639 8,791 3,299 6,731 - - 461,460
Impairment loss REEE 1,745 - - - - - 1,745
Reclassffications (Note 17 ENARMWH) (76,901) 1516 3,938 (55) - - (65,502)
Charge for the year ERiHE 163,083 21,176 11,880 10,221 - - 206,360
Disposals e (169,379) (22,025) (9,941) 6,375) - - (207,720)
Exchange realignment EiA% 25,898 6,110 1514 1678 - - 35,200
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EF+-A=1-A 387,085 21,568 10,690 12,200 - - 431,543
NET BOOK VALUE REFE
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EF+-A=1+-H 3,342,388 68,859 36,298 24,431 415,070 - 3,887,046
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NETZA=1-H 3,393,146 75,640 45,220 21,281 390,082 - 3,931,375
During the year, the Group capitalised interest expenses FA - RNEBEAEF S EE6,138,000
of HK$6,138,000 (2019: HK$7,748,000) in assets-under- TT(ZE—NEF - #%7,748,0007T) EA ML
construction, with a capitalisation rate of 2.12% (2019: REREE  BRELERE212%(ZT—
2.75%). JLE 1 2.75%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E — % %41+ H=+—HIL# &
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAEEE
Furniture,
Office, Plant, fittings,
buildings  machinery Motor  computers
and and vehicles  and office
Land  warehouses  equipment andtrailers  equipment Total
B #E -
BAZ-BF  BE BH ERRHAE
1 kEE R AEREE B @t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
Vel A BEfr  BETr BEFT BEfr BETL
Cost B
At 1 January 2019 RZE-N5-A-A = = = = = =
Impact on initial adoption of HKFRS 16 s e
Z16% 2 1793626 3,049,269 41448 16,477 4902 4,905,722
Adjusted halances as at 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-B-AH
HE e 1,793,626 3,049,269 41,448 16,477 4902 4,905,722
Transfer to disposal group classified as BRENEARELEY
held-or-sale HERR (1,041,681) - - - - (1,041681)
Additions AE - 2329 17431 3,949 1,002 45,730
Retiredfterminated BE /B = = = (178) = (178)
Lease modification HEBT (50,056) 7213 (1,190) (75) - [44,108)
Lease remeasurement HEEHE (10,765) (138) 6 6 - 10,891)
Effect of moverent in exchange rates Ex2ange 3,282) 20,185 (319 70 10 16,664
At 31 December 2019 RB-NFt-A=t-R 68 30887 536 20249 594 3871258
Reclassifications EEp 9,517 - (8,183) (4,399) 9% 83034
Additions AE 14,373 73947 23,107 9,383 2,275 123,085
Retiredfterminated HE /)1 (2,765) (80,125) (1,133) (4,556) (39) 88,618)
Lease modification HEET] 19,920 68,579 1,780 597 (1,672) 89,204
Effect of movement in exchange rates Ex2ange 36,140 45,224 2978 580 167 85,089
At 31 December 2020 R=B-FFT-A=1-H 851027 3207452 585 21854 6794 4163052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

17. FRAEEE®

Furniture,
Office, Plant, fittings,
buildings ~ machinery Motor  computers
and and vehicles  and office
Land  warehouses  equipment  andtrailers  equipment Total
B %E -
BAZ-BF  BE HBH ERRBAE
1i REE Rk REREE %1 a5t
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
BEFT BEFT BT BEFT BETT BRI
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERFEER
impairment losses
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-h5-B-R = = = = = =
Impact on initial adoption of HKFRS 16 e RMEAR KRRl
F6 2 32,046 58,576 9,609 3,345 - 103,576
Adjusted halances as at 1 January 2019 RZZ-hE-A—-AHK
ERBES 32,046 58576 9,609 3345 = 103,576
Transfer to disposal group classified as BAEABERELEL
held-or-sale HERR 42,292) = = = = (42,292)
Depreciation charge for the year EREL 82,157 401,038 15,084 6,983 1477 506,719
Retired/terminated BE/ K1 = = = (155) - (155)
Lease remeasurement %ﬁ EEiE 649) (11,248) - (6) - (11,903
Effect of movement in exchange rates Exgynze 440 4018 (186) m 5 4,388
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+ZA=1-A 71,702 452,384 24,487 10,278 1482 560,333
Depreciation charge for the year ERfETH 37,452 367,116 16,085 8172 1616 430,441
Reclassifications ENnE 76,904 = (7513) 3,937) 48 65,502
Retired/terminated BE /K (2,765) (80,125) (1,133 (4,556 (39) (88,618
Lease modification Tﬁ = 54] = (1,019 (563) (597) (710) (2,889)
ffect of movement in exchange rates r“@m 8460 17445 1647 118 75 27,745
At 31 December 2020 RZB-BE+-A=1-H 191,753 755,801 33,010 9478 2412 992,514
Carrying amounts FEE
At 31 December 2020 RZB-BE+-A=1-A 659,274 2,451,651 42915 12,376 4322 3170538
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=+-A 616,140 2647443 32889 9971 448 3310925

BE_T_FTF+_A=1t—HILHFE"

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
revised the classification of certain assets with carrying
amount of HK$17,532,000 between property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets. Such reclassification
does not result in changes on the residual value and useful
lives of underlying assets and has no material effect on how
the Group's results and financial position for the current or
prior periods have been prepared or presented.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ —F _~F4F+ _H=+—H I
.
18. EBREE

Customer LME  Computer Business

contracts Licence  software relationships Brand Total
BFEH LMEFTE  EMEH £33 1A ik ait
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000

BEFT  BETT  BEFr BT BT AETr

COST KA
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE—R—H 24,459 36,629 25,033 105,557 251,882 443,560
Additions RE = = 10,880 = = 10,880
Disposals LE - - 299) - - (299)
Exchange realignment AR 184 276 (456) (1,649) 27 (1,374)
Acquisition of subsidiary WEEN B A = = 6 = = 6
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+-A=1—H

1 January 2020 kZE-%%5-A—H 24,643 36,905 35,164 103908 252,153 452,773
Additions NE - - 7,434 - - 7,434
Disposals e - - (2,360) - - (2,360)
Exchange realignment R AR 332 498 928 (2,067) 1,095 786
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-EF+-F=+—H 24,975 37,403 41,166 101,841 253,248 458,633
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION ~ Z3t#é#
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE—F—H 6,522 36,629 4,160 25,314 35,776 108,401
Charge for the year FREHR 4,892 = 3,334 21,572 24,920 54,718
Disposals LE - - (86) - - (86)
Exchange realignment BHRE 86 276 (374) (1,727) (1,173) 2,912)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+-A=t+—H

1 January 2020 kZZ-%%5-A—-H 11,500 36,905 7,034 45,159 59,523 160,121
Charge for the year FREHR 4,794 - 1,763 56,366 24,419 87,342
Disposals HE - - (2,027) - - (2,027)
Exchange realignment ER AR 356 498 688 (780) (477) 285
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZF+-F=1—H 16,650 37,403 7,458 100,745 83,465 245721
NET BOOK VALUE RHFE
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-EF+-F=1—H 8,325 - 33,708 1,096 169,783 212,912
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+-A=1—H 13,143 = 28,130 58749 192,630 292,652
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

19. RBEQT 2D

2020 2019

—BEHF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETFT BT T

Share of net assets IS EEFE 188,143 190,916
Quasi-equity loan to an associate BT —EBE R r 2 BURE

B% 2,089 2,090

190,232 193,006

Quasi-equity loan to an associate is interest-free and forms
part of the Group’s net investment in that associate. The
loan is unsecured and settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all associates are
unlisted and each of them does not have a significant
financial impact on the Group's results and financial
position. Aggregate financial information of associates that

BT -—RBERR2BUREAERRR
B YBRARERBERRZREFR
Z 8y o RERREEM - WES BTN
PARATRER A] B ARKAES ©

R-E-—TSER-_F—NFE+-_A=+—
B FEBMEARYRIELT  BEEY
AEEZ EERM BRI EE R B
2 FEREABMEARZESUBEN

are not individually material is as follows: NN
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-hEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT BT
Carrying amount in the consolidated RirA K 2 RAE
financial statements 190,232 193,006
Aggregate amounts of the Group's AEBEEZEHERRZ
share of those associates’ w@E
Profit from continuing operations FECEER R 25,978 23,253
Other comprehensive income EtamEmlas 128 (148)
Total comprehensive income 2HREARER 26,106 23,105
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REELEZER
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all joint ventures are RZEZEFR-_E—NF+A=1+—
unlisted and each of them does not have a significant A-ABeEECEIRIELT  A85EY
financial impact on the Group's results and financial REB s ZERVBRAEBERV BT
position. Aggregate financial information of joint ventures 2 ERREREELECBAUBTER
that are not individually material is as follows: R
2020 2019
HK$ '000 HK$'000
BT T B F T
Carrying amount in the consolidated RirA M EHRE 2 REE
financial statements 256,449 270,558
Aggregate amounts of the Group's K’*lf(ﬁ% LaEhEY
share of those joint ventures’ @B
- Profit from continuing operations - RBEKEELE T 2,421 2,332
- Other comprehensive income - EmemEmikas (9,863) (9,866)
Total comprehensive income 2EW AR (7,442) (7,534)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

21. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 21. HihE@MEE
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-hEF
NOTE HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 BT T BT
Non-current: FERE :
Financial assets measured at BAREEABRFTEN
FVPL cREE
- Unlisted equity securities - EEMRAES 204,960 170,723
Financial assets measured at BEARBETFARMEE
FvOcCI WEHNEREE
- Unlisted equity securities - IE LR AFESH 1,626 =
206,586 170,723
Current: E -
Financial assets measured at RBHERITENESREE
amortised cost
- Quoted treasury securities - BEBRHES (i) 1,496,395 989,610
Financial assets measured at BAREBETABRITEN
FVPL SREE
— Listed equity securities - ERARS 2,185 2,008
1,498,580 991,618
Note: K -

(i) The treasury securities are quoted with yield ranging
from 0.12% to 1.40% (2019: 1.46% to 2.26%) that
mature between 1 to 12 months (2019: 1 to 12 months).
The treasury securities are purchased using customer
segregated funds held and are either pledged as margin
deposit with the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (“CME")
and the Options Clearing Corporation, pledged as margin
deposit with one of the firm’'s carry brokers or held in a
safekeeping account at the firm’s settlement bank.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

22.

23.

INVENTORIES 22. &
2020 2019
i —TNF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Commodity inventories at fair value BEARBEFEZARTE 865,498 468,425
Commodity inventories at lower of cost  #RACAR N Al #38 FERIKE
and net realisable value FEZEMTE 2,210,388 2,426,200
Raw materials R 2,036 4,847
Finished goods IR 16,567 13,208
3,094,489 2,912,680
Less: Allowance for inventory B RETERE
obsolescence - (120)
3,094,489 2,912,560
TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EWEZIRE
2020 2019
s —FNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade debtors and bills receivables at BB HEA AT ENEIKE S
amortised cost, net of loss allowance BEBARKREWTIE
NBRES 1R B B 929,127 1,217,570
Trade receivables containing provisional IR AR EBET AERAENES
pricing features, measured at FVPL TREERENEKE SRR 2,718,677 2,061,943
3,647,804 3,279,513

All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered

within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. EREZRE®
As at 31 December 2020, trade receivables amounted to RZZEZZEF+-A=1+—0 EKES
HK$15,475,000, HK$3,773,000 and HK$1,561,000 (2019: BRIE% ¥ 15,475,0007T ~ ##¥3,773,000
HK$10,122,000, HK$2,860,000 and HK$2,061,000), are TR AEH1,561,000T(ZE—N4F - B
due from the Group's associates, joint ventures and other 10,122,0007T * & %2,860,0007T & /& &
related parties, respectively. 2,061,0007T) 7 Bl /& FE W AR & B B & R

A ARCEREMEET 2R -

(a) Ageing analysis (a) BREEDW
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing PRBMEER  HREZHERLEN
analysis of trade debtors and bills receivables based BREBERBETE CEKESHER
on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as AERKRERERE 2 RE S T0
follows: ™
2020 2019
—E-FHF —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
0-90 days 0—-90H 3,428,704 2,795,424
91-180 days 91-180H 158,485 391,558
181-365 days 181-365H 54,800 26,578
1-2 years 124 5,815 63,156
Over 2 years 26 LA F - 2,797
3,647,804 3,279,513
Further details of the Group's credit policy and FRASBEEERRLEREER
expected credit loss allowances are set out in Note EEREZE - SFBEIHNM T
38(b). 38(b) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # E _® 41 _H=+—H I

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. FENRE BRERHAMEK

RECEIVABLES FRIE
2020 2019
. —FNF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
HtaF BT T JBEEEF T
Assets held or segregated in LB BRPHRA
separate accounts NEECEBE (a) 5,977,836 4,612,401
Deposits and other receivables 1@ I E fth FE Wk IE (b) 569,324 527,059
Amounts due from other related U H b BEE 77 3018
parties (c) 13,433 9,917
Loans to associates Bl /NI EY (d) 3,480 1,355
Loans to joint ventures MEETEER (e) - 60,950
Loans to non-controlling interests [ 3E1E AR E X (f) 4,812 3,862
6,568,885 5,215,544
Prepayment and deferred costs FEAT B R IRIE R AN 232,001 318,884
6,800,886 5,534,428
Less: non-current portion A EmENERD (36,016) (33,494)
6,764,870 5,500,934
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

The balance included customers’ funds of
HK$4,504,152,000 (2019: HK$3,363,932,000) held
by the Group in respect of the Group’s commodity
marketing and financial services, which are required
to be held in segregated accounts by laws and
regulations of the Securities and Futures Act (“SFA")
governed by Monetary Authority of Singapore
("MAS"”), the Commodities Trading Act (“CTA")
governed by International Enterprise Singapore
("IE Singapore”) and Commodity Futures Trading
Commission (“CFTC") in the USA. These customers’
funds are included in “trade and other payables (see
Note 27(b)).

Deposits and other receivables included guarantee
deposits of HK$25,428,000 (2019: HK$23,225,000)
placed at CME.

Amounts due from other related parties represented
non-trade amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and non-controlling interests are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Loans to associates are unsecured and bear interest
of 4.0% (2019: 4.0%) per annum. The Group has
given undertakings to the associates not to recall the
loans of within the next 12 months.

Loans to joint ventures are unsecured, bear interest

at 1.5% and repayable on demand.

Loans to non-controlling interest are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 25. EREEREGHAEE
LIABILITIES
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights AHEEFTEARSERYRRBRERE
to consideration for work completed but not billed at the AR ERNAREENTRERRED
reporting date on logistics services. The contract assets are BEFEEE - EENKAEGGR  60F
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become ERERZRWEZIRE  BEAASHE
unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group invoices MEFHAABEREAE -
customers.
During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, HE_T-_TFR-_FT-NFT+ZA=
current contract liabilities at beginning of the year has been —HIEFE  FUNRBDEHNEBERBS
substantially recognised as revenue during the year. ERFAERBKER °
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 26. RERRESEEEBEUREM
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION HEREEH
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BERBRSLEEEBEHZEMK :
2020 2019
—BBHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT B F T

Cash and bank deposits, representing ¥4 RIRTTER @ FERGE

cash and cash equivalents in the SRS I g e ) VB Ko
consolidated statement of financial £EEH
position 1,247,995 1,262,861

Cash and cash equivalents included in st ADEAFIEHEZ

a disposal group classified as HEARZRE RS

held-for-sale EEER - 17,555
Less: W
Bank overdrafts RITEX (5.376) (4,927)
Cash and cash equivalents in the RireReneER2ES

consolidated statement of cash RIR&EEIRE

flows 1,242,619 1,275,489
Bank balances carry interest at prevailing bank saving BITEFEEEFENT0.01%21.09% (=F
deposits rates ranging from 0.01% to 1.09% (2019: —NF 0.01%21.658%) ZRITIRITREE
0.01% to 1.58%) per annum. FRFETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR

S B35 Rk M &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 26. BeRBREEEBEBBUREM
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION HEREER®
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of loss for the year to cash (b) EEFEBHELEEKRRE
generated from/(used in) operations: (FFRA)REZHER :
2020 2019
g g 32 —E-NF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
Hat BT T JEMTF T
Profit/(loss) for the year from KB TIER ZFE
SR (E51E)
Continuing operations FHBERE R 83,814 (243,135)
Discontinued operations B4R IEET 5 (15,506) (308,167)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BrR&L AT A, (B518)
including discontinued (BIEDRIEER)
operations 68,308 (551,302)
Adjustments for: P
Income tax expense/(credit) FriSRimx (K %R) 12 45,202 (573)
Depreciation of property, VI - BB L&
plant and equipment e 16 206,360 261,039
Amortisation of intangible ER B EEH
assets 18 87,342 54,718
Depreciation of right-of-use CREEENE
assets 17 430,441 506,719
Interest expenses and other FERTREMBEE
finance costs B A 366,928 790,424
Fair value (gain)/loss on: LTEBZARER
(Wezx) /518 -
Investment properties WEME - 100,093
Financial instruments EARBEFEN
measured at fair value T@mI A 9 (22,381) (17,626)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of: MENTEE 2
(Wz),/ B8 -
Subsidiaries hyEENG (17,554) 325,661
Property, plant and W% - BEREE
equipment (3,669) (3,750)
Intangible assets mEE 333 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 26. REeRkREeEEERAUREM
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION ReEREER®
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of loss for the year to cash (b) EEFEBHELEEKRRE
generated from/(used in) operations: (FFRA)REZHE (&)
(continued)

2020 2019
—ECEF —ZT—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT B F T
Interest income FEWA (55,592) (179,920)
Share of profit of associates DEBE N REE
and joint ventures (==l (28,399) (25,585)
Dividend income from other HEMBESBEEESH
financial assets & SR A (163) (305)
Impairment losses on: LARIEB 2RERAE :
Intangible assets B EE - 2,236
Property, plant and E R Y
equipment 1,745 1,356
Inventories write off FEME 37,987 =
Operating cash flows before & & & H B AL &
changes in working capital ReEnE 1,116,888 1,263,185
Increase in inventories FEEM (44,058) (176,697)
(Increase)/decrease in trade FEWE 5 RTE R E A
and other receivables and EWFBERELD
contract assets BEEGGM), R (1,627,275) 864,264
Decrease in TEem I AR
derivative financial
instruments 386,985 835,241
(Increase)/decrease in BERZLMER &
warrantable LME (), E A
commodities (73,958) 45,343
Increase/(decrease) in trade FETE 5 BR 18 K E At R
and other payables and HEREHEE
contract liabilities #hnw, G4 1,967,635 (1,930,923)
Increase/(decrease) in REBALI,CRD)
employee benefit 107 (12,196)
Decrease in provisions B (12,362) (4,489)
Cash generated from KEXBEZRE
operations 1,713,962 883,728
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 26. BeRBREEEBEBBUREM

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION HEREER®

(continued)

(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) BMETHELEEBZHER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's TRALAEEREREETDNE
liabilities from financing activities, including both EEFH(PIERESRIERSET) -
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from BMEEHELEANBEABREMRER
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows FARKRBEREFNAERR SR
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the EXTPEEARELIDRERE
Group's statement of cash flows as cash flows from BfE -

financing activities.

Loans and
borrowings Lease liabilities Total
ERRAERH HERE ait
(Note) (Note 30(a))
(Hz) (Hf5£30(a))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETr BETr BETn
At 1 January 2020 R=Z2=Z%-A-H 6,917,255 3,429,999 10,347,254
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRESD.
New borrowings raised CIEE S 756,133 - 756,133
Repayment of borrowings REER (1,584,074) - (1,584,074)
Capital element of lease payment REMT BN R - (401,056) (401,056)
Total changes from financing cash flows BRERLTERD (827,941) (401,056) (1,228,997)
Changes from operating cash flows: RERSRERD
Interest paid BRFE (219,607) (126,315) (345,922)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEEZLE 2 F (15,077) 62,794 41,117
Other changes: Higs:
New leases Fiitih-e - 123,085 123,085
Lease modification i {H] - 92,093 92,003
Interest expense and other finance costs MERT REMBERAR 240,613 126,315 366,928
Total other changes BEME 240,613 341,493 582,106
At 31 December 2020 R-ZF-TBE+-A=1-H 6,095,243 3,306,915 9,402,158
Note: Loan and borrowings consist of all the current and Bt . BEHREZENMT8HIEE
non-current loans and borrowing as disclosed in E’]Fﬁﬁ AR IEEN I 2 %
Note 28, except the bank overdrafts. 2 R TR S 41
B iz il N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 26. RERBSEEHEB URHEM
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION ReEREER®
(continued)
(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) BMETHELEEBZYHERGE)

financing activities (continued)

Loans and Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
BARER HERRE B
(Note) (Note 30(a))
(Ht) (H3£30(2))
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BETT BETT BEFTL
At 1 January 2019 R-E-n&—H—-AH 9,653,180 3,834,406 13,487,586
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRERD
New borrowings raised HER 14,787,107 - 14,787,107
Repayment of borrowings BEER (16,501,940) = (16,501,940
Capital element of lease payment MERFTERESH = 417,186) 417,186)
Total changes from financing cash flows BRERLTERD (1,714,833) (417,186) 2,132,019)
Changes from operating cash flows: SERERERT.
Interest paid BRHE (524,085) (138,860) (662,945)
Effect of foreign exchange rate MEERZB2HE
changes 57,977 10,145 68,122
Other changes: Hib#E
Transferred from interest payable BREAEMFHS 25,851 = 25,851
New leases Mg = 45,730 45,730
Lease modification and remeasurement HEETRENTE - 43,096) 43,096)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (773,978) - (773,978)
Transferred to disposal group classified BRENHARBELEL
as held-for-sale HEES (458 421) - (458 421)
Interest expense and other finance costs FERT REMBERE 651,564 138,860 790,424
Total other changes BEMET (554,984) 141,494 (413,490)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NE+ZA
=1+-H 6,917,255 3,429,999 10,347,254
Note: Loans and borrowings consist of all the current and Hiat - BERRERDENT28MHIEE

non-current loans and borrowing as disclosed in

Note 28, except the bank overdrafts.

BT A BVE R IEEN B B R R AR
K MERITE BRI ©

2020 Annual Report « CWT International Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. BRNEZKREREMENSKE

2020 2019
= i —TNF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
HtaE BT B F T
Trade and bills payables EREZREREMARE
— measured at amortised cost — R SER AT 2 578,744 114,476
— containing provisional pricing - BEEREEREEK
features and measured at FVPL BAREBETAEBRE 791,128 1,049,516
(a) 1,369,872 1,163,992
Amount segregated for customers Z|HD FEF 24 (b) 6,000,547 4,353,542
Other payables and accruals Hfh e 3R M FETIE B 1,752,264 1,440,461
Amount due to related parties FES B 7T BUR (c) 516 681
Loans from non-controlling REFIERER 2ER
interests (d) 79,729 45,825
9,202,928 7,004,501
Less: non-current portion W IERBE G (23,779) (20,058)
9,179,149 6,984,443
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 27. BNEZRERAMEMNKE
(%)
Biet -
The following is an aged analysis of the trade payables (a) AT ARBREEREZEMNE SHEREBER
based on the invoice date as at the end of the reporting BREAHRED
period:
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
0-90 days 0-90H 1,219,064 826,545
91-180 days 91-180H 57,241 229,751
181-365 days 181-365H 30,815 66,381
1-2 years 1-24F 52,840 23,851
Over 2 years 2F LAk 9,912 17,464
1,369,872 1,163,992
The average credit period for purchase of goods ranged BAEmZEFAHEERNFI0E180
from 90 to 180 days. The Group has financial risk H - RNEEREVEERERER -
management policies in place to ensure that all payables RREEREABERNI N2 IHEMNRK
are settled within the credit time frame. Ig o
As at 31 December 2020, trade payables amounted to RZEZZTF+=—A=+—0  EFR
HK$826,000, HK$1,444,000 and HK$373,000 (2019: SEBENT AECERHEMEE
HK$764,000, HK$1,152,000 and HK$498,000), are due to 72 BN E 5RIES B £#%%826,000
the Group's associates, joint ventures and other related JC ~ 7B¥1,444,0007T K B #373,0007T
parties, respectively. (ZZE—NF : D 5A764,0007T * B
1,152,0007T & 78 #498,0007T) °
As at 31 December 2020, except for the amount of (b) RZEZZTF+_A=+—H BKRTH
HK$1,496,395,000 (2019: HK$989,610,000) which were REBEEREFARREZZAMERZ
used to purchase quoted treasury securities and pledged RES (RHIE21)%8%1,496,935,000
as margin deposit with the CME (see Note 21), the T(ZZT—hF : %¥989,610,000
remaining balance of amount segregated for customers of TN BT E D FREREZEHRBE
HK$4,504,152,000 (2019: HK$3,363,932,000) were held by 4,504,152,000C(ZE—NF : B
the Group in segregated accounts (see Note 24(a)). 3,363,932,0007T) H AL BH B RF
7548 (RWFE24() ©
Amounts due to related parties represented non-trade (c) ENBESFBEEENAECEREAM
amounts due to joint ventures and other related parties MERZIIESHHIEA  AEEKE - - B8
which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on FIREREE -
demand.
Loans from non-controlling interests are unsecured (d REAFERESZCERABRARS

(d)

interest-free. As at 31 December 2020, all the balances are
repayable on demand.

B -RZZEZZEF+=-_A=+—H " F
BRI BIRER(EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

28. BEXRRMER

2020 2019
e —TNF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 BT T BT
Non-current FERE
Promissory Note L E R (a) 716,000 -
Secured bank loans HIRFRITERK (b) 173,579 1,134,889
Unsecured bank loans EINIRIRITE X (b) 6,684 —
896,263 1,134,889
Current FRED
MTN FEIEE - 586,735
Perpetual notes KA R (c) 356,905 358,492
Secured bank loans HHEPIRITER (b) 1,019,523 88,252
Unsecured bank loans EIRPIRITER (b) 1,626 -
Revolving short-term trade facilities fEIREHE F & (d) 3,820,926 3,980,553
The Extended Borrowing EIEHRfE X (e) - 768,334
Secured bank overdrafts BEPEITES (b) 4,484 2,090
Unsecured bank overdrafts ERIRTTE Y (b) 892 2,837
5,204,356 5,787,293
Notes: Mt -
(a) The balance represents the Promissory Note with principal (a) e A& A B 716,000,0000T.2

amount of HK$716,000,000. The balance is interest-bearing
at 5% per annum, which shall be payable semi-annually
in arrears. The Company may elect to defer payment of
interest, in which case interest of 5% shall accrue on such
deferred interest amounts until payment. All accrued and
unpaid interest and all unpaid principal shall be paid in full
on 3 September 2022. The Promissory Note is not secured
by any assets of the Group.

@ CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 28. ERMKER @)

Notes: (continued) BiaE - (&)

(b) At 31 December 2020, the bank loans and bank overdrafts (b) RZT=ZTF+=ZA=+—8 " ﬁé
were repayable as follows: RRRITBE AR AT HREE

2020 2019

—E-%F —ZT-hEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T B FT

Within 1 year or on demand —FARAFIREK 1,026,525 93,179
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERBER 27,659 989,206
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBREREFR 33,691 26,932
After 5 years hFE 118,913 118,751
1,206,788 1,228,068

(c) Perpetual notes are issued by subsidiaries of the Company (c) NARM B A s REECWT SGEE1TK
in connection with acquisition of CWT SG. Perpetual AN - A& 48%8 546,000,000 T2
notes with aggregate principal amount of US$46,000,000 XKABREREMER (BB BRAFE
are guaranteed by HNA Group (International) Company R -ZEZBRAERER £EKAXRE
Limited. The notes are unsecured, interest-free and BERIEEER  MREBRZRERBH
repayable at the discretion of the Group, but redeemable HBEH(BEETRERARERERAS
upon occurrence of subordination events (including but B)EERAEE - ANERERAZ
not limited to liquidation of the note guarantor) as set out BRI AAZAREEES - BOKAZIER
in the notes’ subscription agreement. Since the liquidation BRI ENSEAIRBARG] -
of the note guarantor is not controllable by the Group, the
perpetual notes is therefore classified as “current liability”
in accordance with the prevailing accounting standards.

(d) Revolving short-term trade facilities of the Group relate to (d) AEECZRREHESRERARASE
short-term trade related self-liquidating facilities to finance ErEnEaXSRRZEBES AT
the Group’s commodity marketing business. BERERR -

(e) The balance represented a borrowing (the “Extended (e) HEREREREBZOER(KELE

Borrowing") pursuant to the Facility Agreement, maturity
date of which was extended to August 2020 and a further
period was provided to repay the Extended Borrowing. The
balance was repaid in full on 3 September 2020.

) HIABMAERE-_ZT_ZTFN
)51 S T $ L 3 — 25 HA R DA (B 22 4 ST P
B3R EHER-ZTE-_TFHLA=-HE
EHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

28. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 28. ERRfER®
At the end of the reporting period, assets used to secure RIEEIR - AREBRASEBERRER
the Group's loans and borrowings other than the Extended (BB HRBRINBEEMT -

Borrowing were as follows:

2020 2019

. —FNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Property, plant and equipment Y - BEREE 2,005,102 2,009,124
Pledged bank deposits DB ITIER 29,817 145,999
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 BR 18 I HoAtb FE L FRIB 1,310,671 2,886,196
Inventories FE 2,821,246 2,836,873
6,166,836 7,878,192
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29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

TERMS AND DEBT REPAYMENT 29. FERREEEKER[AR
SCHEDULE
The terms and conditions of outstanding loans and BAREEERREFTZERREHEDT
borrowings are as follows:
2020 2019
ZECEE “F-NE
Year of Nominal Carrying Year of Nominal Carrying
maturity interest rate amount maturity interest rate amount
HBER ZHAE A HHER B ERE
HK$000 HK$000
BEFT BETT
USD floating rate revolving shortterm X FSERREEFRE 200 153%-6.71% 3,820,926 2020 2.80%-7.50% 3,980,553
trade faciliies “ECEfF “E-%F
USD perpetual note ETKARE N/A N/A 356,905 N/A N/A 358,492
NER iyl MNER TER
SGD floating rate loans TBTERER 2021 1.33%-3.16% 994,652 20202021 1.92%-3.16% 1,049,719
2 “5°%FE
E--F
SGD fixed rate MTN Hg e P EEE - = - 2020 3.90% - 4.80% 586,735
“5°%F
(5BP fixed rate loans EETREER 2031 3.6% 5,023 2031 3.60% 5373
i —E=-f “E=-£
RMB floating rate loans* AREEZEER - - - 20202023 7.65%-8.06% 458,421
“5-%FE
“5-=%
HKD fixed rate loans BEEREN 2022 5% 716,000 2019 195% 768,334
2 “E-NE
EUR fixed rate loans BTTEER 20052027 1.42% - 2.4% 169,429 2007 142%-240% 168,165
“E-RFE g
‘ S
TRY floating rate loans TEEBNZEEH 2021 15.50% - 21.00% 8,240 2020 15.50% - 34.00% 8790
“5--F “5°%%
TRY fived rate loans THEBNTREHN 023 625%-75% 1,204
gy
INR fixed rate loans DEELTEET 2021-2023  830%-9.00% 793 2020202 8.30%-9.50% 376
“3--F% “E-%FE
“E-cE “Eo-F
PHP fixed rate loans FRENETEEN 2021 10.65% 12 2020-2021 10.65% 161
“3--F ZEC%FE
—EC-F
PEN fixed rate loans NENZRTEET 2023 157% 20,352
—7——$
LKR fixed rate loans HEFREHTEER 2020-2022  4.00%-16.00% 1,707 16.00% 557
“Z-%F%
“E--F
Bank overdrafts BTEY 2000 8.64% - 15.24% 5,376 2020 11.50% - 15.24% 4,927
TECER e 2
7,380,603

6,100,619

The RMB floating rate loans are associated with the
PRC Operation and included within “liabilities associated
with a disposal group classified as held-for-sale” as at 31
December 2020.

* R-ZZF-_TF+_A=+—H0 AR¥
FRERERBEEBER U AID
BARELHEZHEAR 2 HEAE]
A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

30. HEESE

(a)

The Group as lessee

REBEREEA

31 December 31 December

2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NEF
+=A=+-B +=ZA=+—H
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T

Lease liabilities HEaE
Current BNER 374,467 373,173
Non-current JEBNHA 2,932,448 3,056,826
3,306,915 3,429,999

The Group mainly leases land and warehouses.
Land leases typically run for a period of 5 to 30
years of which some leases have option to renew
the lease. Warehouse leases typically run for a
period of 2 to 20 years of which some leases have
option to renew the lease. Lease payments are
renegotiated before the expiry of each lease. Some
leases provide for additional rent payments that are
based on changes in local price indices. For certain
leases, the Group is only allowed to enter into any
sub-lease arrangements for a prescribed percentage
of the leased assets. Some property leases contain
extension options exercisable by the Group up to
one year before the end of the non-cancellable
contract period. Where practicable, the Group seeks
to include extension options in new leases to provide
operational flexibility. The extension options held are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors.
The Group assesses at lease commencement date
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the
extension options. The Group reassesses whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if
there is a significant event or significant changes
in circumstances within its control. The Group has
estimated that the potential future lease payments,
should it exercise the extension option, would result
in an increase in lease liability of HK$35,815,000
(2019: HK$32,043,000).
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # E _® 41 _H=+—H I

The Group as lessee (continued) (a)

Information about leases for which the Group is a
lessee is presented below.

300 HESEG®)

REEEREEAE

REBIERERANEENIEWEE
B2FmT -

Amounts recognised in profit or loss RIEm RN 28
2020 2019
. —EFNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Leases under HKFRS 16 BBV BREENZE 165
HTHHEE
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGHE (126,315) (138,860)
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use 7 {E A#EEEFFESUA
assets (Note 6) (Hiit6) 124,361 126,913
Expenses relating to short-term leases 72 EifE EHAM X (48,339) (111,210)
Expenses relating to leases of low- REELEERE(KEBEEE
value assets, excluding short-term RHEERINEER
leases of low-value assets (7,772) (2,512)
Total cash outflow for leases HEBRERHAEE
2020 2019
. —FNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BB F T
Within operating cash flows FAARERERE 126,315 138,860
Within financing cash flows FFABERSRE 401,056 417,186
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

30. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

The Group as lessor

The Group contracted out part of their leasehold
buildings to clients under logistic contracts. The
contracts typically run for an initial period of 1 to 15
years. Rates are revised at renewal of contract to

300 HESE&G®)

(b)

REEEREEA

AEEREYREOGETNEE
BFINETEF - BHNBENER
H1E16F - BEDK - FMETFIA
Bk MRBRTISEHE - ZEAH

reflect market rate. None of the contracts include B BRENANTR - TAIBENEG
contingent payments. The non-cancellable contract AEWCRIBLAT -
payments receivable are as follows:
2020 2019
—EZEE —E-NEF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year —FR 195,050 336,205
In the second to fifth year inclusive RE_ZFERF
(BEBERSF) 343,479 434,256
Over fifth year HBiERF 174,352 230,094
712,881 1,000,555

31. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme") under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement
plan. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The Group also contributes to various other defined
contribution retirement plans for eligible employees.
The plans are managed either by the government in
the countries where the employees are employed,
or by independent trustees. Contribution levels are
determined by the relevant laws and regulations
concerned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

31. EERA W

31. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b)

Defined benefit obligations

The Group operates a pension plan for its employees
of a subsidiary in Switzerland whereby the plan
participants are insured against the financial
consequences of old age, disability and death. The
pension plan is operated by an independent, legally
autonomous collective foundation of an insurance
company. Consequently the plan assets are
completely segregated from both the Group and the
plan participants.

The pension plan is funded by contributions from
the Group whereby funding is determined by the
provisions stipulated in The Swiss Federal Law on
Occupational Benefit and Disability Pension Plans
and the Federal law on Vesting in Pension Plans.
The latest independent actuarial valuation of the
pension plan was at 31 December 2020 performed
by Mercer (Switzerland) SA, using the projected unit
credit method. Mercer (Switzerland) SA is an affiliate
of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., a global
professional services firm headquartered in New
York City. The actuarial valuation indicated that the
Group's obligations under the pension plan is 58.4%
(2019: 58.9%) covered by the plan assets held by
the insurance company.

(b)

RERAELE
AEBRERRETZ2HMBARIES
RIRAKR D - AEZEEI2E
ARZAZR  BERETHEZ
MBAE - RASHE b —RRR
REIZBY - AFBIZERES
GEE - A FEIEETEBL
RAKE L ZTEIZRA -

BRSTEEREBHFTEE -
MR 5 I LB I e A5
WA G EE R B RAKE R
TEHEVEMBECGAEE - B
REFE 2EZFTBILBENM
RZEZZEF+-A=+—H
HMercer (Switzerland) SA{#
ArEHEERMEMEET -
Mercer (Switzerland) SA&Marsh
& MclLennan Companies, Inc.2
BB /A al © Marsh & MclLennan
Companies, Inc.Z B3R 4EA
M- A HEKEERBLAR B
BT AEERZRKRSFTE
TzEEBRRRARMFEAR 2
BB EAESS 4% (ZF—hF :
58.9%) °
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EBERAN@®

REBFIEE®)

R B EES A M BRNE RN
2y RAEENEEFE ARG
THITEHRBETHREH2H
% IR IS B EE) T

31. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued) 31.
(b) Defined benefit obligations (continued) (b)

The net defined benefit obligations recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
at the reporting date, which are expected to be
cleared over the remaining life expectancy (based on
unconditional future indexations for active and post-
active participants), are as follows:

2020 2019

—ECEF S

HK$’000 HK$'000

B F T BT T

Present value of funded obligations B ;T &&EIRE 149,823 131,691
Fair value of plan assets FEIBEEZAREE (87,482) (77,597)
62,341 54,094

AEIBEMARBEFBAOT

Details of the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&

2020 2019

—E-%F —T-NF

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 1,925 2,675
Equity instruments T H 2,101 1,170
Debt instruments* B ITA* 62,277 57,632
Real estate b EE 12,952 12,756
Others HAh 8,227 3,364
Assets held by insurance company R A FIEHAENEE 87,482 77,597

3 Debt instruments have a credit rating of AAA to not * BB TANGEEFRBAAAE
rated. RELL o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # E _® 41 _H=+—H I

31. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued) 31. EETFAw
(b) Defined benefit obligations (continued) (b) REBAAE®E
Total amounts recognised in profit or loss are as RIBRPERRZBRENT -
follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T JBEMETF T
Current service cost B EARFS A AR 8,786 8,915
Interest cost BB 473 1,224
Interest income FEWA (287) (828)
8,972 9,311
Total amounts recognised in other comprehensive REMEEREF EER BTN
income are as follows: T 8
2020 2019
—BBHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT B F T
Remeasurements on changes of ~ Bt B REEEF
assumptions 3,396 10,650
Return on plan assets (excluding & &|1& ERIW® (T2 EH BHA)
interest income) (248) (1,144)
3,148 9,506
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

31. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Defined benefit obligations (continued) (b)

Changes in present value of defined benefit

obligations are as follows:

31. EEEAN @

RERMEAE®E)
REBMAEREZSOT

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NFE
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T JBEMETF T
Defined benefit obligations at R—A—HZARTEBHFEE
1 January 131,691 123,649
Current service cost E HAR TSR AR 8,786 8,915
Interest cost FLERLAR 473 1,224
Remeasurements on change in ENTEREED
assumptions 3,396 10,650
Benefits paid [RENEEE (6,539) (14,047)
Exchange realignment bE 5 R 12,016 1,300
Defined benefit obligations at R+ZA=+—RAZATE
31 December &) o 149,823 131,691

Weighted average duration of the

obligations as of 31 December 2020 is 21 years

(2019: 22 years).

Changes in the fair value of plan assets during the

year are as follows:

defined benefit

BE-_ZTZ-_FTF+_A=+—8"
RERAAEMEFHFHRAE2F
(ZZ—NF : 226F) o

FAFEEEAABEESNT :

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fair value of plan assets at R—A—BZt8lEEAREE
1 January (77,597) (80,224)
Interest income FEMA (287) (828)
Employer contribution BEHK (8,859) (8,765)
Return on plan assets &1 &1 & = Bl R
(excluding interest income) (TBEEMEHA) (248) (1,144)
Benefits paid SRR =Yl 6,539 14,047
Exchange realignment (R (7,030) (683)
Fair value of plan assets at R+=—A=+—HZ58
31 December BEAAREE (87,482) (77,597)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

31. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued) 31.

(b)

Defined benefit obligations (continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions are as follows:

EEFTR @

RERMEAE®E)
IEREREROT

2020 2019
i —E-NF
Mortality tables, actuarial statistics PET-R % - {5EEUE
(disability, mortality, etc.) (8% - %)
Discount rate ARIR = 0.20% 0.35%
Rate of salary increase HeTiE 1.00% 1.00%
Rate of the projection of HEEARTER X
the saving capital 0.20% 0.35%
Rate of pension increase BIREFHIE 0.00% 0.00%
Turnover LR 16.55% 14.60%

Sensitivities of significant actuarial
assumptions

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date
to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding
other assumptions constant, would have affected
the defined benefit obligations by the amounts
shown below:

FTERERRZHRE

Wﬁiﬁﬁ HEor—1HABBER

B REBEREE (HMRETE)
eRERTRMNNEE ISP RER
FIREOR ¢

Increase Decrease
N W
HK$000 HK$'000
JBEMETF T Vit v
2020 —z-Z&
Discount rate (0.25% movement)  BHIR R (2%)0.25%) 7,472 (8,078)
Future salary growth RIRF LR (BE)0.25%)
(0.25% movement) 2,041 -
2019 —E-hF
Discount rate (0.25% movement) 8538 & (2 %)0.25%) 6,592 (7,133)
Future salary growth RIRFF &L R (FE)0.25%)
(0.25% movement) 2,126 -

The above sensitivity calculations are based on
one assumption changing while others remain
unchanged. In practice, however, there are certain
correlations between the individual assumptions. The
same method was used to calculate the sensitivities
and the defined benefit obligations at the end of the
financial year.

EaREFEIDER -RBRE
BMEMERRERFAE - Rl - B
B BRI R R EFES THER
B REMBRFER - BRERE
BREERAARIAE
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32. DEFERRED TAX 32. EEMHIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) NTRAERRAZEIBEEHBEE (B
recognised and movements thereon during the current and BE) UERERAFERBTFE LT
prior years:
Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) EEHBEER (BE)
Recognised
At  Recognised  Disposal of in other At
1 January inprofit  Interestsin comprehensive  Translation 31 December
2020 orloss  Subsidiaries income difference 2020
iy
I 5 b S 22
“BCEE WEAR  REMERE T8
-B-8  REHER Ei KRR BEEHR =t-H
(Note 12)
(Hi12)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥Fr  EMTn  EETn EETn EETn BB

Property, plant and equipment %1% - B Rkt 264,288 (15,951) (9) - 4,79 253,124
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 53,324 (5,474) - - 37 48,227
Intangible assets BEE 28,437 517 - - 1,356 30,310
Trade and other receivables BB ZHRER A
JEdFIE (2,346) 541 - - (9) (1,814)
Trade and other payables EREHREREM
R 3R (4,308) 456 - - (4) (3,856)
Provisions B (7,481) (1,470) - - (286) (9,237)
Lease liabilities HERE (55,210) 4,349 - - (417) (51,278)
Unutilised tax benefits REYERBER (4,787) (3,627) - - (247) (8,661)
Others Efty (7,506) 236 - (377) 40 (7,607)
264,411 (20,423) (9) (377) 5,606 249,208
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 32. ELEHIE@®
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) NTAEBRAZEIBRELEHBRE (B
recognised and movements thereon during the current and BE) UERERAFERBEFECEE
prior years (continued): (%)
Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (continued) FEEHEAE (BE)®)
Impactof  Adjusted Recognised
At initial  balanceat  Recognised  Disposal of in other At
1 January adoption January inprofit interestsin ~ comprehensive  Translation 31 December
2019 of HKFRS 16 2019 orloss  subsidiaries income difference 2019
MR R S
R EEMBEE —E-NE “I-0F
IE-NE RIE6R —Af HENE  REHEE t2A
imE Y2 mERLH NERER LER bukR  BEEE =t-B
{Note 12)
(Hit2)

HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00 HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000
BETT  ERTT BT BRTR ERTT ERTr BRTR BRI

Property, plant and equipment 1%+ BER & 312,408 - 312408 (14267 (34189 - 336 264,288
Right-of-use assets fFREaE = 62,017 62,017 (9,093) - - 400 53304
Investment properties RENE 18184 = 18,184 = (18,184) - - -
Land use rights THERE 250,028 - 250028 (13305 (237529) = 802 =
Contract liabilties AHER (45,325 - (453%9) 7930 36,68 = 713 =
Intangible assets BEE 41,304 = 4344 (12569 - - 339) 28437
Inventories ke 7540 = 7,540 (7,541) = = 1 =

Trade and other receivables ~ EMESEER
At EdEE 6,071 = 6,071 (8,420) = = 3 (2,346)

Trade and other payables ERE5BEER
EfbE(TH0E (4,552) - (4,552) 15 = = 89 (4,308)
Provisions it (4,006) 1,069) (5,075 (2,380) - - (26) (7.481)
Lease liabiities HEBfR - (62557 (62,557) 7761 = - (414) (55,210)
Unutiised tax benefits AORHERS (12,292) - (1229) 7512 = - ] (4,787)
Others ) (5,132) - (5,132) 632) - (1,632) (110) (7,506)
564,268 (1600) 562650 (44849  (253,216) (1,632 1,449 264,411

2020 Annual Report « CWT International Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ _F _ &4+ _H=4—HILFEF

32. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxation authority. The amounts determined after
appropriate offsetting are included in the statements of
financial position as follows:

32.

EERIE ()

ELERIEAE (EE)@®

75 A % 3 SIS TE RIS DR R IE A EE
EEF AR EEMEY  BEERESR
B — MBS - RIEERIE S B REEN
AEARES - REREEAET Y @t
ABTSIRRER - SR -

2020 2019

—EEHF —E-NF

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T BEMTF T

Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 284,666 289,495
Deferred tax assets EEFRIEE E (35,458) (25,084)
Deferred tax liabilities, net EERIBERE  FE 249,208 264,411

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items in accordance with accounting policies
set out in Note 2(y):

W EARIRP FE2(y) P& & 5K B T 5138
BERRELERAEE

2020 2019

—EEF —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T JBMEF T

Deductible temporary differences AR E R R 906,003 981,386
Unutilised tax losses AB)FAFIEEE 450,828 482,803
Unabsorbed wear and tear allowance N it 3,515 2,594
1,360,346 1,466,783

At 31 December 2020, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$450,828,000 (2019: HK$482,803,000)
which are available for offsetting against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
tax loss due to the unpredictably of future profit streams
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. Except for below, other
losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&

R-ZEBE-TEF+-A=1+—H0 ~&£BH
RENBFIBEE L)% 450,828,0007T(=
T — N : #$%482,803,0005T) ¢ A AR
WA - EZT_TFR_FT—AN
FH+ZA=+—H BRERKEFRFRLH
VATERT » 8K B T A B MR A IR AT
MIBEE - BRNUERIN - HAb BB E
PR HA 482 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

32. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 32. EZERBIE®@
Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (continued) ELERBEEE (BE)®)
2020 2019
—ECEF —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETF T BT T
Tax losses to be expired in Ry BEERZRIBERE
=2020 - —E-FF - 7,881
=2021 -—E-—%F 38,720 37,522
-2022 -—_F - 6,714 6,381
-2023 - —E-=F 38,444 32,702
-2024 - —FEZOF 11,156 10,501
- 2025 -—E-hF 334 -
95,368 94,987
The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax MEEBEACHBEHERE @ WESTHE
authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the NAKEFTERR 2 BYOER - AT EINE
respective countries in which the subsidiaries operate. The Wr 1t Z= 58 R ABIAES 18 (bR LAl pr# B8 & 41
deductible temporary differences and tax losses, other than PNEERITHETRIE -

disclosed above, do not expire under current tax legislation.
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33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

33. EAXRREE

(a) Movement in components of equity (a) HERIBH2EH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REB RSN FYVIRERS
balances of each component of the Group's equity HEZHERANGEEREEHE
is set out in the consolidated statement of changes AR BREY R EFERE R =I5
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s BEEHIAOT
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Perpetual Share
Share Capital capital Translation option Accumulated
capital reserve  instrument reserve reserve losses Total
BA  ERRE XAEEAIR ERGRE BRERE )] &it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT  A¥Tr  A¥TT  BETr  EETr BETT  EETT

At 1 January 2019 RZZE-NF—FA-AH 4,731,480 158,100 1,819,390 (66,156) 3411 (1,324,932) 5,321,293
Loss and total comprehensive FEFRRZAKREE

income for the year - - - - - (1127,774) - (1,127,774)
Share options lapsed/cancelled BREXM/ 8 - - = = 2,675) 2,675 =
At 31 December 2019 and RZZ-NE+ZA

1 January 2020 =t+-BR=Z=%F

—-A—H 4,731,480 158,100 1,819,390 (66,156) 736 (2,450,031) 4,193,519

Loss and total comprehensive FEFERZANRGE

income for the year - - - - - (849,478) (849,478
Share options lapsed/cancelled BBIRIER = = = = (736) 736 =
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZZE+_A

=t-A 4,731,480 158,100 1,819,390 (66,156) - (3,298,773) 3,344,041
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)

(c)

33. EXK#E®

Share capital (b) MR
Number
of shares Amount
BHEE k-]
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: B 217 M#IUE 2 Z@A% :
At 1 January 2019, 31 December RZE—hF—H—H-
2019, 1 January 2020 and —ET-hF+=A
31 December 2020 =+t—H ZZE-ZfF
—A—BR-E-%T%F
+t=A=+—H 11,399,996,101 4,731,480

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the
Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company's residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly represents the excess
amount of the fair value of identifiable
net assets acquired in an acquisition of
subsidiaries in 2014 over the fair value of
consideration transferred and non-controlling
interest, which is considered as deemed
capital contribution from HNA Group and is
credited to capital reserve. The vendor of the
acquisition transaction is controlled by HNA
Group.

(c)

RIZE B QARG 136105 -

ZAN/N

A mAR Y B E(E o

ERESEAGRERITEEIRZ

B

CYERNRARARE LAE

BR—RETRR - WARFRIBRE
EME - EEBBRLRS -

RELERAR
(i) BXEE

ERNREBEEREN _T—@O
F U5 B BT B8 2 R BF BT U BB T
BRI EEFEZ AR EER
BEEEREIAABEMR
SRR 2 Z5
H G ARESMEE 28
EXE - YAt ABARRE -
WEZH 2 BEh X EHMEE
) o

2020 Annual Report « CWT International Limited @
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33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations whose functional
currencies are different from the functional
currency of the Company.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective
portion of the cumulative net changes in the
fair value of cash flow hedging instruments.

Statutory reserves

Statutory reserve mainly represent reserve
set aside by certain subsidiaries operating in
foreign jurisdictions where profits of these
subsidiaries are set aside according to local
legislations.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair
value of share options granted which are
yet to be exercised, as further explained
in the accounting policy for share-based
payments transactions in Note 34 to the
financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share capital when
the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the
related options expire or be forfeited.
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33.

B R#E @
EEER ARG

(c)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

EXEE
EXFREEERREBINE
BEDEEBERARFZ
WEEER TR M B RKRE
HEZINEZEEE

506t i
510 (4 16 R IE RS R R B
TAZ RHAAEELHF
CEEECTR

EERE
AERBERERIRINADE
REEEZETHE QAR
hZ - ZSHBARIR
RE AP TR A o

BRERE

A0 B 75 3R R B FE34+ DARR
DEERZARRSHZ2 et
BERE—FTHE - BRER
EREERLAMAETE
BRELANEE - ZEH
BREETH  ZeBmlE
BERA - v BERE
fE M ERY - BEEER

B Al o



33.

34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(vi)  Perpetual capital instrument

Perpetual capital instrument represents
a perpetual loan of S$316,000,000
(approximately HK$1,819,390,000) from
two shareholders of the Company, both of
which are affiliates of the HNA Group. The
Group has no contractual obligation to repay
any amount of the perpetual loan under
any circumstances and any repayment is
entirely at the discretion of the Company.
Consequently, the Directors are of the view
that the economic substance of the perpetual
loan is a non-reciprocal capital contribution
from HNA Group and credited directly to
reserve.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS

On 29 May 2012, the Company terminated the share
options scheme adopted on 7 June 2002 (the “2002
Scheme”) and adopted a new share option scheme (the
“2012 Scheme") with effect from 25 May 2012. Under the
2012 Scheme, the Board of the Company may, subject to
and in accordance with the provisions of the 2012 Scheme
and the Listing Rules, grant share options to any eligible
participant to subscribe for shares in the capital of the
Company. The options granted under the 2002 Scheme
remain valid until those options lapsed on their expiry date.

Qualifying grantees of the 2012 Scheme include any director
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive), executive, officer, employee, shareholder of the
Company or any of the subsidiaries or any of the associated
companies or any of the jointly controlled entities and any
supplier, customer, consultant, adviser, agent, partner or
business associate, who will contribute or has contributed
to the development and growth of the Group. Unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, the 2012 Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years from 25 May 2012.

33.

34.

BEXRR#E @
(c) REUHEERAZR®G
(vij KAXAEAXIAH
KABARTEEKEMAE
AABBREHKAER
316,000,00037 A1 7T (4978
#1,819,390,0007T) @ %%
BRI AEESNER BB A
A o REBEMIMIERTH
EEBKABRZ AL
ZAEHET  MERERS
TERAABRBEZN - A
It BEEREXKABERZ K
EEEAKREBSMEEZIE
HEEMEITE  WEHEAR
-

URGORER AR S

T——FRAZ+NB  RAFKIE
EE_FRNALARPZBRETE
(ZZ2Z2-F58))  WERM—IBEFBER
EFE(ZEB——F5t8)) =2 —=
FREA-t+RERBESR - RE-T—=F
FE ARRESZSERE-ZT—Z_F5
B X% E R A 2 S R IEE R R T [mAE A
AEMSEERLERE  URBARF
AR Zfn - BIFE-ET - F21IRE
CEBREDATR  EEZEHERERE
fEm BB BALE

\

K%

8
N

ZEZFFECEERERARESE
NEKEEAEB CBRMIERIELER 2
/N e S CE NS R R S EE LN
AN EEABAESZIEER 2 ENES(R
RBHITES  ERTESRBILIERITE
£) THAE BHEAE  EE WX
RAEMEER - BF @A BE - KR
B AIERHREBERA - BRIEBITH
HeEE] BRI T ——FBSEEs
M AHZE-——_FRAA-—TABE A
T4 o
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34.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted to each eligible participant
under the 2012 Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company in issue, as at the date of grant.

The period during which an option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save
that no option may be exercised later than 10 years after it
has been granted.

Same as the 2002 Scheme, HK$1 should be payable by
the grantee on acceptance of an offer by the grantee
under the 2012 Scheme. The exercise price per share in
relation to an option shall be a price to be determined by
the Board and shall be no less than the highest of (a) the
official closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date on which the option is offered to an eligible
participant; (b) the official average closing prices of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of offer of option to
an eligible participant; and (c) the nominal value of shares
of the Company on the date of offer of option to an eligible
participant. During the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2020, no share option was granted under the 2012 Scheme.

Pursuant to the 2002 Scheme and 2012 Scheme, share
options held by any eligible participants/qualifying
grantees will lapse automatically upon their termination
of employment but the Board is empowered to extend
the exercise period of the concerned share options at
its discretion. Relevant exercise period of share options
held by the eligible participant/qualifying grantee whose
employment was terminated during the year was extended
and approved by the Board. Such change does not
constitute modification of the 2002 Scheme and 2012
Scheme.
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34.

URDABER 2 NRRZ @)

BIE—ZT——F:138  REWEZREH
ALz T —EARHBEARTEAERR
HE 2 BREBEEITE Bk ERT
FZ BRI ETEREERETRHITZ&
SRMEE  BAEBRARREBHEAR
AIEEITRA 1% °

BRER TRz HEASHESS 2%

MIEET  EERENENRERKH+F%
TETTIE o
—M—TT_FHE RE_T——F5

2 ARARERER T 2 BRERAS
BB BREZERTEEHES
BET  BTHEIRUTZERE : (@R
RHUBERETAER2EEEHARAR
R AELZERARERAMZE S
WHE: bEERIERETAERSZ
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34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 3. UROAEBRZNRRS @
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The following tables disclose details and movements in TREENBE-Z-ZEFR-ZT—NF
share options under the 2002 Scheme during the years +ZA=+—HIEFE —ZTZT_F5r3
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019: HTzEREFERES :
Number of shares under options
BREAT 2 RAHA
Adjusted Addition
exercise Lapsed/ after
Exercise price per Granted Transferred  Exercised  cancelled  adjustment
Category Date of Exercise price per  share due to during during during during due to At
of grantees grant period share  rightsissue  At1.1.2020  the year the year the year theyear  rights issue 31.12.2020
RftHEST
BBz RoBCEE g RitRER  HoEoEE
REAZEN  BERE  fRE SRITEE SRAKE -B-B  EREE  FAEE  EAME  AR/EE WBAZRE  ToAST-8
Other participants 14122010 14.12.2010- HK$0.420 HK$0410 3,072,000 - - = (3,072,000) - -
13.12.2020
Efp2HE TE-RE BB A%0A0T  ER040T
+2f tZA+HmA
+0H s Sk 25
tZA+=H
3,072,000 - - - (3,072,000) - -

Exercisable at the end of the year -
RELATR

Weighted average exercise price per share -

ERMETHTEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. URGBABERZNARRS @
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Number of shares under options
BREET < RHEAE
Adjusted Addition
exercise Lapsed/ after
Exercise price per Granted  Transferred  Exercised cancelled  adjustment
Category of Date of Exercise price per  share due to At during during during during due to At
grantees grant period share  rights issue 1.1.2019 the year the year the year theyear  rights issue 31.12.2019
RS
Bz NIENE R RERET  RZE-0E
REAZER  RHBEH L] BROEE  BRAEE -F-B  EMEE  FRER  ERAE AR/EE BRRIFE tZA=1-A
Other participants 16122009 16.12.2009 - HK$0.5% HK$0.562 8,960,000 - - - (8960,000) - -
15.12.2019
Efp 2% ZEENE ZEEAF Atosoer 0S8
+-5 tZAtr~A
thA E230E
+ZAt1A
14122010 14.12.2010- HK$0.420 HK$0.410 3,072,000 - - - - - 3,072,000
13.12.2020
Z2-2E CR-%F BT EB04I0T
-4 tZAtmA
tHA E2ECEF
+-A+=A
12,032,000 - - - (8,960,000 - 3,072,000
Exercisable at the end of the year 3,072,000
RELATR
Weighted average exercise price per share HKS$0.410
BRMETSIEE

All share options are vested at the date of grant.

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

CAPITAL COMMITMENT 35. BEXREE
2020 2019
—ECEE —NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B F T
Capital expenditure in respect of the BRAWEDHE  BEREEZ
acquisition of property, plant and BRIAVERELRE MBS |RE
equipment contracted for but not FHREE B Y
provided in the consolidated financial
statements 32,265 72,820
Capital expenditure in respect of the HBRWEDE  BEREEZ
acquisition of property, plant and EEEERIINZERRAL
equipment authorised but not
contracted for 9,507 2,015

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group is subject to various litigation, regulatory and
arbitration matters in the normal course of business. The
Group vigorously defends against these claims and, in the
opinion of the management, the resolution of these matters
will not have a material effect on the financial position of
the Group.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues as well as raising of new borrowings or redemption
of existing debt using cash flow generated from operating
activities and disposal of assets. The Group’'s overall
strategy remains unchanged from the year ended 31
December 2019.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debt, which includes loans and borrowings (excluding
collateralised short-term trade facilities) (Note 28) and lease
liabilities (collectively referred as “Total Debt"”); net of
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalent (“Net
Debts"”). Total capital of the Group comprising issued share
capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company
and Total Debt (“Total Capital”).

36.

37.

FREE
AEERNAFEHBETATYE SBHF
W EEMPEEE  c AEEHBEBRR
BB MEEBRRBRLZEEEH
CEHARKE MR EREATE

EXREE
AEBEREEANERASEANSER
HAIARETALE  REEREEER
REDZTFERFNERRKRALR - N
B BB BB IT IR A R B B IR
BEBREELERSREREERRE
ERFEEEBEANGERE - AKEZEBR
REEBE—_FT-AF+_A=1T—HL
FERFIE

AEBEAGEBEREFER(EBEER

EER(TRREEEREHEZRE) (T
28) RHERE(RHEAEE]D)  HKE
ERRTERMEE LREFERB ((F
E%))  AREZREARNBEAREE
BARHEZEZETRAREENEER
([HR&EZ]) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 37. EXEEW
The Group's net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of the REBRARE BRKBA RS EHRATF
current and previous reporting periods was as follows: BHEERLLEMAT -

31 December 31 December

2020 2019
+—H_+ H +=-A=+-—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt BT T BEFT
Loans and borrowings* B R SR 28 6,100,619 6,922,182
Lease liabilities HEaE 30(a) 3,306,915 3,429,999
Less: collateralised short-term B DR ESmE
trade facilities 28 (3,820,926) (3,980,553)
Total Debt mEw 5,586,608 6,371,628
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BEERIRITER (29,817) (145,999)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents* B ReRReEEEBERY 26 (1,247,995) (1,262,861)
Net Debts RERS 4,308,796 4,962,768
Equity attributable to owners of RNAEE AEGER
the Company 4,367,648 4,166,882
Total Debt mE% 5,586,608 6,371,628
Total Capital BER 9,954,256 10,538,510
Gearing ratio BELE 43.3% 47 1%
2 Loans and borrowings exclude those balance associated o ERRERTORER _Z_TF+=
with a disposal group classified as held-for-sale of A=+—BoEABELHEZHER
HK$Nil as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: PIEENZEESAEET T(ZZE—H
HK$458,421,000). F+=-A E‘f’ B : B#458,421,000
JL) °
& Cash and cash equivalents exclude those balance # HeNBSEZEBEEIMIpFER =
associated with a disposal group classified as held-for- —_EFE+_A=+—BoHEAEELD
sale of HKS$Nil as at 31 December 2020 (31 December EZHEBRRBRBZZEEHEES
2019: HK$17,555,000) and include bank overdrafts of T(ZE—NAFE+-_A=+—8 : &
HK$5,376,000 as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 17 555,000)BEEFER-_ET-F
2019: HK$4,927,000) which were included in loans and FH+_A=+—"HBZRITBEZBE
borrowings. 5,376,000t (ZE—NE+-_A=1+—
H : #B#4,927,0007T) (Z e 8B ABER
RAEFR) o

@ CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

Collateralised short-term trade facilities are excluded
from the calculation of net debt to equity ratio due to its
short-term highly liquid nature that is fully secured by liquid
assets such as cash and cash equivalents, inventories and
receivables.

Straits Financial LLC, Straits (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. and
Straits Financial Services Pte. Ltd., incorporated in the USA,
and Singapore respectively, are subject to minimum capital
requirements pursuant to laws and regulations of the USA
and Singapore. Management has established controls
and policies to ensure that the subsidiaries comply with
the minimum capital requirements. The subsidiaries have
compiled with the minimum capital requirements pursuant
to laws and regulations of the USA and Singapore during
the year.

Other than disclosed above, the Company and its
subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Overview

The Group has a system of controls in place to
create an acceptable balance between the cost
of risks occurring and the cost of managing the
risks. The management continually monitors the
Group's risk management process to ensure that
an appropriate balance between risk and control is
achieved.

The Audit Committee oversees how management
monitors compliance with the Group's risk
management policies and procedures and reviews
the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit
Committee is assisted in its oversight role by the
internal audit function. The internal audit function
undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk
management controls and procedures, the results of
which are reported to the Audit Committee.

37.

38.
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AREEREGHRESRE T SHS AN
BR - HA Tt NFERIESLL R 5
N REURDAE (MBS RES SEE
B - 75 RN IE) (e R

Straits Financial LLC - Straits (Singapore)
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BRBTINBIEN 2 BEARE

& B i TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group.

The Group's primary exposure to credit risk arises
through its trade receivables and contract assets.
Concentration of credit risk relating to these trade
receivables and contract assets is limited due to
the Group’'s many varied customers, which are
internationally dispersed. Management reviews the
ageing of receivables monthly to ensure that the
Group’s credit risk exposure is monitored regularly.
Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks
and financial institutions, which are regulated. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group has a credit policy in place whereby
new customers are subject to credit evaluations
based on available financial information and past
experiences. The Group has established credit
limits for customers and monitors their balances on
an ongoing basis. Certain sales by the commodity
marketing and financial services segments are
generally secured by letter of credit. The Group
generally does not require collateral for sales in
other segments. As at 31 December 2020, trade
receivables of the Group secured by letters of
credit amounted to HK$1,787,662,000 (2019:
HK$1,175,440,000).

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, except for trade
receivables containing provisional features with
carrying amount of HK$2,718,677,000 (2019:
HK$2,061,943,000), the Group measures loss
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contracts have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets relate
to unbilled work in progress and sales made but yet
to be invoiced as the final amount is not due until
pricing and assays are known. The contract assets
shared the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same type of contracts. The
Group has therefore concluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the contract
assets.

Except for amounts due from customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection
that are assessed individually, impairment analysis is
performed at each reporting date collectively using
a provision matrix. ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets with past write off history are based
on the historical credit losses experienced in the
last 5 years. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current conditions and estimates of future
economic conditions. ECL for trade receivables
without past write off history are measured as
follows:

o Trade receivables with corporate credit
rating — applying Moody's credit rating or
match to Moody's equivalent credit rating to
the carrying amount and loss given default
("LGD") or

o Trade receivables without corporate credit
rating — applying industry probability of default
to the carrying amount and LGD.

38. £RIEREE®

(b)

EEREE)

FEWE ZHRBRAAEE(E)
RZE-_ZF+_A=+—8" K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019,
the loss allowance was determined as follows for

trade receivables and contract assets:

As at 31 December 2020

38. TRIEREE®

(b) EERR®
FEREZRERSHEE (&
RZZEZZTF+_A=+—AKR=
Z—NF+_A=+—8 EKE
SEBREHNEECEHIEREETE
R
R-ZE-—ZBF+=-A=+—H

Individual assessment Collective assessment Total
(BRI Ga @3t

Gross Gross  Expected Gross

amount ECL amount  Loss Rate ECL amount ECL
8% BHEEEE 28 RHEEZ REGEER 28 RHEEEE

HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000 % HKSO00  HKSO00  HK$'000
EBFr  BETT BETR % BEfT  EEFL BETR
Not past due pisati - - 754,165 0.06% (475) 754,165 (475)
Past due 1-30 days 241308 - - 141,619 0.16% (223) 141,619 (223)
Past due 31-90 days B431-908 - - 62,007 0.97% (599) 62,007 (599)
Past due 91-180 days %91-1808 - - 14,942 9.42% (1,408) 14,942 (1,408)
Past due 181-365 days #181-3655 - - 37,204 11.64% (4334) 37,204 (4334)
Pastdue more than 1year ~ EHEEI1E - - 10998 100.00% (10,998) 10,998 (10,998)
- - 1,020,955 (18,037) 1,020,955 (18,037)

As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-h&E+=-HA=+—H

Individual assessment Collective assessment Total
R GAdE @t
Gross Gross Expected Gross

amount ECL amount Loss Rate ECL amount ECL
ag REEEEE by BHEEX RECEEE b REEESE
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000 % HKS000  HKSO00  HKS(000
BeFr  BETr B¢ %  BEFT  EETT BB
Not past due ey 17,30 = 765,636 0.5% (3852) 782,941 (3,852)
Past due 1-30 days 881308 1424 = 313423 1.25% (39200 314,847 (3,920)
Past due 31-90 days B431-908 1423 = 136,347 161% (2,189) 137,770 (2,189)
Past due 91-180 days #491-1808 4,690 = 15,061 13.8% (2,073) 19,751 (2,073
Past due 181-365 days #4181-365H 1,124 = 10,793 37.9% (4,088) 1917 (4,088)
Pastduemorethan Tyear  AHHEEIE 42,91 (42,291) 108,831 37.8% (41,089) 151,122 83,380)
68,257 (42,291) 1,350,001 (67211) 1418348 99,502)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect

SRRk EE )

FERR@E

FREREUESREARANEE

of trade receivables and contract assets during the MEERER ZEBNT
year is as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF — N
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T JBEEEF T
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz#&& 99,502 88,509
Amounts written off during the year ~ F A& 58 (17,459) (8,618)
Amounts recovered during the year FRUEEEE (26,357) (2,086)
Impairment loss recognised FASERREEIRE
during the year (42,291) 25,906
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 4,995 (6,952)
Exchange realignment RIS (353) 2,743
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—Hz& 18,037 99,502
Derivatives TETE

The derivatives are entered into with bank and
financial institution counterparties, which are rated
AA- to AA+, based on Moody's credit ratings.

Debt investments

Impairment on debt investments have been
measured on the 12-month expected loss basis
and all of the Group’s debt investments measured
at amortised cost are considered to have low
credit risk. Management consider “low credit risk”
for listed bonds to be an investment grade credit
rating with at least one major rating agency. Other
instruments are considered to be low credit risk
when they have a low risk of default and the issuer
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term.

PTAETANEETREHEER S
HFREBBAEEFRETAAA-
EAAH)EIIL ©

EBERE

BB RERE T E1218 A FEHEE
EEE - MAKEIREHK AR
ENMABRRREOHBRERSE
FEbk -  ERER/S LHESFHME
BERRIAZEL —REEZTRE
BHRBREETR - EthTARE
ARERREBZEITAREHNAS
RAENEITE ’]fﬁﬁmuégqa%ﬁ'é
R R R EEERRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ _F _ &4+ _H=4—HILFEF

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Debt investments (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount
of the Group's debt investments amounted to
HK$1,496,395,000 (2019: HK$989,610,000) and
the ECL on debt investments were considered
immaterial and thus the Group did not recognise any
loss allowance in respect thereof.

Assets held or segregated in separate accounts,
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash

equivalents

These financial assets are mainly held with bank and
financial institution counterparties, which are rated
AA- to AA+, based on Moody's credit ratings. The
Group uses a similar approach for assessment of
ECL for these financial assets to those used for debt
investments. Impairment on these financial assets
have been measured on the 12-month expected
loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the
exposures. The Group considers that these financial
assets have low credit risk based on the external
credit ratings of the counterparties.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of
these financial assets amounted to HK$7,255,648,000
(2019: HK$6,035,351,000) and the ECL on these
financial assets were considered immaterial and thus
the Group did not recognise any loss allowance in

respect thereof.

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) ~ 38.

(b)

SRRk EE )

Credit risk (continued) (b) EERR®
Other financial assets measured at amortised BEBER AT ENAMEHEE
cost
Other financial assets measured at amortised cost REEN AT ENEMEMEEE
mainly comprised of amounts due from fellow ERREKARMNB AR REES
subsidiaries and related parties, loans to associates FRIE - MEE AR RIEERERE
and non-controlling interests and deposit and other AT R % B Ath FE U GRIE o R
receivables. These financial assets at amortised AT ENZESHMEE R
costs are generally considered to have low credit REEERBRRE BrEHEE
risk. In determining the ECL, management has EER  BEEECERERZIHTFH
taken into account the credit ratings, historical EEFR - BRENLH LT B
default experience and the financial position of S WRIBEEHEARENEEZRE
the counterparties, adjusted for factors, where HALERRTEITERN — BRI
applicable, that are specific to the debtors and ETHABER) - WEFES A
general economic conditions of the industry in which NEBFEREERAZTENEGE
the debtors operate, in estimating the probability of TREEMNEORE UREBRER
default of each of these financial assets occurring ST HE L ETE -
within their respective loss assessment time horizon,
as well as the loss upon default in each case.
The following table shows these financial assets TRITHEEHEEZN2MEA
that were subject to a 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL TEEE EEI8 S BE A KA a TR &7
allowance and, in latter case, whether they were FEBERENTE T —ES
credit impaired. AT EEEBREERIE -
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL - not ECL - not ECL-
credit- credit- credit-
impaired impaired impaired Total
NREAES EEFNEN RESRHN
FEFE EHEEFR BHEEFE
-BEERE -SFERE -EERE @t
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
31 December 2020 It !
Gross amount BE 586,301 - 35,047 621,348
ECL BHEERE - - (30,299) (30,299)
Carrying amount, net of ECL REE IREAEEER 586,301 - 4,748 591,049
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) ~ 38. & @ElE kR EE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREE)
Other financial assets measured at amortised BEBER AT ENEMEMEE
cost (continued) (&
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL - not ECL - not ECL-
credit- credit- credit-
impaired impaired impaired Total

2EARS BEEERHN  BESHEM

FEBR FBHRERR BHEERE
-REERE  -BREEAE - fEERE st
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BRTT BETT BETT

31 December 2019 “E-AE+=A=t+-H
Gross amount ok 614,285 - 55,773 670,058
ECL BHEEEE - - (52,825) (52,825)
Carrying amount, net of ECL FRE NREHEER 614,285 = 2,948 617,233
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect FANREZECREENEERE
of these financial assets during the year is as BREEWT -
follows:
2020 2019
. —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT
Balance at 1 January R—A—B2Z&#% 52,825 76,971
Amounts written off during the year — F A& 58 (34,321) (45,020)
Impairment losses recognised FRNEERBEBE
during the year 9,422 21,494
Exchange realignment PE 5 A 2,373 (620)
Balance at 31 December Rt A=+—HBz#&&% 30,299 52,825
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
Board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants.

38. £ RiE

(c)

B ()
REBESEAR
EEBRBELRARE  AEEE
ERREEEERAAEIEER
ReFEABKF URER/AKE

EBREES - WRERSREN
BoRE-

AEBAZERNEEERHEER
HESGvHeEE  BIEEEEN
m BB e RE - HEE E5E

iﬂ%:ﬁﬁ SRR - RIZBEAR
DAl EESEHE - NEBZHR

ATHERERSESH KR EE

TFTRREHZIER -

y
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  38.
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)
The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities and
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end
of the reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay. Liabilities associated
with a disposal group classified as held-for-sale are

SRk E )

(c)

REE S R (E)
TREHNAKERRE IR 2T
EEMBERTESRABZHRT
BREHER - ZRFERBIREEH
AUBRRERE(BREAGHT X
AEZNENRIMENERSES -
ARBREMR2RITHNERFTE
EAREEATXN & B HE
2o BN BAREHE 2L EMAR
BB EBERRES ©

excluded.
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
RNAMERSTE
Within Total
1year or 1-5 Over5 undiscounted Carrying
on demand years years  cash flows amount
AER
-ERZRER -2 LENE REREAH REE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT
2020 ot 3
Lease liabilities REEE 495,039 1,362,695 2530397 4,388,131 3,306,915
Trade and other payables ENESREREMENE 9,179,149 2,719 - 9202928 9,202,928
Perpetual notes KARE 356,905 - - 356,905 356,905
Other loans and borrowings EEFRER 4,880,477 824,945 122,311 5821733 5,743,714
Other derivative financial instruments ~ Eftif4 45T A 1,146,335 1,461 2,007 1,149,803 1,149,803
16,057,905 2212880 2,654,715  20,925500 19,760,265
2019 k-S| K:3
Lease liabilities HEEE 497,055 1,400,182 2687660 4584897 3,429,999
Trade and other payables ENESREREMENE 6,984,443 20,058 - 7,004,501 7,004,501
Perpetual notes KAEE 358492 = = 358492 358492
Other loans and borrowings EETRAER 5,555,323 1,050,292 124,187 6,729,802 6,563,690
Other derivative financial instruments ~ Efti 445 IA 540,667 46,167 = 586,834 586,834
13935980 2516699 2811847 19264526  17,943516
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in equity prices,
commodity prices, interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Group’s income, or
the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

(d)

(i)

Equity price risk

The Group hold listed and unlisted equity
securities which are measured at FVPL
totalling approximately HK$207,145,000
(2019: equity securities measured at FVPL
totalling HK$172,731,000) (see Note 21). A
10% increase or decrease in the underlying
equity prices at the reporting date with all
other variables held constant would have
increased or decreased the Group's profit
before taxation from continuing operations
by approximately HK$20,715,000 (2019:
decreased or increased the Group's loss
before taxation from continuing operations of
approximately HK$17,273,000).

38. £RIEREE®

(d)

™ 35 & B

MR EREER - BmER -
FMERINEERSE KT EREE
WASEBEELRTABEZA
R o MGAKREEZBERERY
ZHIFrE G TS ERERRR2
BHER - FEFESER DR -

(i)  REREE

AEEBBELEMRIELD
BAES  BAAEMEGT

ABRTEAGENEBE
207,145,000 (—ZZE— A
FRAAEBEFARR
ATERNBRAESE LB
172,731,0007C) (R B &
21) - IEHEMBEREFT
% AERZEEENREE
HA 38 0 5508 4 10 % 7 32 0
MO AEBREFTEL
BT 2 BR BRI B 498
#20,715,0007c(=ZZF— N1
F:AEEREFELEE
75 2 B T B 5 4808 > 51 3
#495#17,273,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

(d)

(ii)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38. £ @iEMERE @)
Market risk (continued) (d) ™WERREGE)
Commodity price risk (i) EBEERE
The Group uses derivative financial AEBFNATEERTIA
instruments such as commodity futures, (M RHBE  BREEs
commodity option contracts, commodity ¥ EoRBEREREE)
futures and commodity swaps to hedge HoaTRER RZME
certain exposures. The markets used are the R e B3 5P ([LME))
London Metal Exchange (“LME") for base (EXxeB Wil -k
metals, such as copper, lead and zinc, the H) BBEEEMSHS
London Bullion Market Association (“LBMA") (lLBMAD (2 kBiR)
for gold and silver, and the Intercontinental MBEZ 5 FT(INYSE: ICE))
Exchange ("“NYSE: ICE") and the New York M@##HHBERXXSH
Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX"). (INYMEX]) °
The following table presents the quantities by THREVZEmO B2
commodity, to which the Group is exposed E EPAEEEEERE
to commodity price risk. Base metals, such BEk o  EAXRSB (A -
as copper, lead and zinc are shown as, metric o R ) IR AWE (ANE) 251
tons (mt), precious metals such as gold and MEB(WEEMBR) K
silver are shown as ounces (0z) and gasoil is HR(FBADZEY - B
shown as barrels (BBL). (B 2% -
Nickel/
Copper Lead Zinc Gold Silver Aluminium  Naphtha ~ TinOre  Gasoil PalmOil  Bitcoin
# # & ES BE B/8  FEER SR Rl GEER HE
mt mt mt mt mt mt BBL mt BIC
A A A A7 B4 A A A # A
2020 23
(Gross exposure BER 47429 1,801 14,497 69,613 2,386,514 768 33793 - 17,648 - 20
Hedges EHRE (474000 (1825) (145000  (68410) (2369987)  (768)  (33,793) - (17649 - (20
Net exposure ik 2 (24) B 123 16527 - - - - - -
Nickel/
Copper Lead Zinc Gold Siver Aluminium ~ Naphtha ~ TinOre  Gasoil ~ Palm Ol
# i K¢ HR B/8 EMh BBR  RR GER
mt mt mt 4 0z mt mt mt BBL mt
A A i & & A A A # A
2019 Z8-0E
Gross exposure &Rk 103,198 6,040 (627) 109,761 2,034,590 1% - 21 43% 8,061
Hedges EHRE (103375)  (5,975) 625 (108,239) (2,023 826) (198) - 2% (4398  (8067)
Net exposure FER (177) 65 ) 1522 10,764 2 - 2 - -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Commodity price risk (continued)

Exposure to commodity prices is mostly
covered by derivatives and therefore,
changes in market prices are not expected
to significantly impact the Group's financial
performance. Changes in weight and content
of the metals within the concentrates can
impact the Group’s financial performance.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily
from loans and borrowings. Borrowings
issued at variable rates and at fixed rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively. The Group may also enters into
interest rate swap to hedge its interest rate
risk if necessary.

The interest rate profile of the Group’s loans
and borrowings is disclosed in Note 28.

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that
a general increase or decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would have decreased or
increased the Group’s profit before taxation
from continuing operations by approximately
HK$48,292,000 (2019: increased or
decreased the Group's loss before taxation
of approximately HK$50,391,000). This
sensitivity analysis excludes the impact from
cash and bank balances as the management
considers the impact to be insignificant
having regard to the stable trend in interest
rates and thus no material fluctuation is
anticipated in the near future.

38. 2REAKRE

H@

(d) TSERE)

(ii)

(iii)

B m E %R ()

EmERERZEHETET
BEEE At mEEKRE
EUNCERR N PN e P
iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁws EES
B8 S rTae s
$%.ZM%%$EW%
2 o

T = B
rEBNERBREIEESL
BERRER - RFERE
BRTZEREREED 5
HERRERENRER kA
REENEER - HEF
B REE AR F R =
B - AR E A R E R o

AEEBZERRMERZFIE
AR PA BT FE 28 55 o

\_7_$¢+ A=+—
AR ETF R — AR I8 A0 =R
dwmmﬁ% mfEFT A H
@T """" FREEFTE BN
CAREBREBELE
ﬁz%%ﬂﬁu i A & D 8k
N4 EH48,292,0007T
—NF AEERBRH
AT &5 18R A 3R 3 0 49 B
50,391,0007T) ° bS8 EE
DMBEBRIRE RIBITRTEZ
YE FEREEEEREZE
FMEZETBEEREEH
FEWITEKN - EILTERE
AR GHEERXES o
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

Market risk (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's loss
before taxation from continuing operations
that would arise assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held
by the Group which expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group's profit
before taxation from continuing operations
is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest expense or income of such a change
in interest rates. The analysis is performed on
the same basis as 2019.

Currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign currency risks arising from
various currency exposures. \Where possible,
the Group seeks to minimise its foreign
currency exposure in operations by matching
its exposure to foreign currency receivables
to its exposure to foreign currency payables.
The Group may also explore using derivatives
to hedge its foreign exchange risk.

The Group seeks to minimise its foreign
currency exposures in foreign subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures by repatriating
their earnings, where practicable. The
Group also requires the foreign subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures to maintain their
borrowings in the relevant foreign currencies
which match their respective functional
currencies.

@ CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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(d)
(iv)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38. £ @iEMERE @)
Market risk (continued) (d) ™WERREGE)
Currency risk (continued) (iv)] E¥EpEE)
In respect of the other monetary assets and BUAENBEE BB 2 B
liabilities held in currencies other than the BEEEERBEMS @ ~5%
functional currencies, the Group reviews B 7F HiE I aREE - IR TR
the balances periodically to ensure the net PR RIS TE AT 2 KA o
exposure is kept at an acceptable level.
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, assets RZZEZEFRZF—NF
and liabilities related to disposal groups +ZA=+—H ®H58EA
classified as held-for-sale are not exposed BEREZHERARNER 2
to significant currency risks. The Group's BERBEMERRERE
significant exposures to foreign currencies KRR - NEERBFEL
from its continuing operations are as follows: BER 2 EEZINERR D
T
US Singapore
Dollar Dollar Euro Renminbi
EPv N3 T BT ARH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
2020 = =
Trade and other FEWE HIRA K
receivables H A fE W 5RIR 696,849 97,734 107,951 1,132,480
Cash and cash ReEMREEFE
equivalents HE 460,612 15,141 12,344 2,488
Trade and other ERESERER
payables E e FRIE (703,699)  (234,904) (107,954) (1,093,677)
Loans and BERRER
borrowings (66,789) (580,999) - -
Current tax payables JEff BN EAF: I8 - 6,226 - -
Gross exposure ERAEER
arising from BEMELEZ
recognised AR
assets and
liabilities 386,973 (696,802) 12,341 41,291
Net exposure 3 2 B 386,973 (696,802) 12,341 41,291
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  38. <& /@l JE bz &1 ()
(d) Market risk (continued) (d) THEREGE)
(iv)  Currency risk (continued) (iv] E¥mEEE)
us Singapore
Dollar Dollar Euro Renminbi
= ¥ T BT AR
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
JBEMET T JEMETF T BT T BT T
2019 —E-hF
Trade and other FEWE ZERE R
receivables H i W RIE 562,555 31,807 51,361 623,753
Cash and cash ReERRESEE
equivalents HH 260,555 15,786 38,124 14,708
Trade and other EREZRER
payables HAth e 5RIB (736,569)  (490,293) (60,185)  (457,673)
Loans and BERRER
borrowings (73,932) (579,052) - -
Current tax payables JE{fBIEAF:IE = (8,361) - -
Gross exposure EREAEER
arising from BEMELEZ
recognised B4R
assets and
liabilities 12,609 (1,030,113) 29,300 180,788
Forward exchange  =HRSNEA A
contracts 29 - - -
Net exposure AR 12,638  (1,030,113) 29,300 180,788
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

(iv)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the functional
currencies of the Company’s subsidiaries
against the following currencies at the
reporting date would positively/(negatively)
impact the Group’s operating result before
taxation by the amounts shown below. This
analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant.

SRRk EE )
(d) TEEREG)
(iv) K8ERE)

SR E ST
RSB - AQFHBA
T2 I e S TSR
1B10% ¥ % T S FiR 888 2
A BT AT AT A A AR
FTE/ (BE)EE - %5
BRAEHMEE(EHS
) 4 135 R o

2020 2019
—E-EF —TE-hE

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

US Dollar ETT 38,697 1,264
Singapore Dollar N3 o (69,680) (103,011)
Euro BT 1,234 2,930
Renminbi AR 4,129 18,079
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38. RiEMERE @)
(e)  Fair values (e) AQAEE
(i) Fair value hierarchy (i) AREEER

TERAMRBEHRZER
HEEAESREENTR
BEZAAEENE  RE
RETEZBAREE D Z
RABEEFKFELS -

The table below analyse fair value
measurements for financial assets and
financial liabilities measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, by the
levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the

inputs to valuation techniques.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-R F-R £=R wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BYETFT BETT BETT EEFT
Financial assets and liabilities BAREEYEZ
carried at fair value SREERAE
2020 - e 1:3
Commodities futures EmEE 412,990 16,337 - 429,327
Commodities forward contracts AmREHEH 9% 1,238 - 1,332
Currency forward contracts EREHAY - 223 - 223
Equity warrants fRAREE - 12 - 112
Derivative financial assets THEERmEE 413,084 17,910 - 430,99
Trade receivables containing BEERTEEFEN
provisional pricing features B E SHRIB - 2,718,677 - 2,718,677
Other financial assets HitepEE 2,185 204,960 1626 208,771
415,269 2,941,547 1,626 3,358,442
Interest rate swaps ik i - (2,05) - (2,095)
Commaodities futures ERiE (1,042,844) (98,379) - (1,141,223)
Commodities forward contracts AREHEH (82) (4,689) - (4,771)
Commodities swaps 7 fn 2 A - (317) - (317)
Crypto-currency futures NEEEHE - (1,397) - (1,397)
Derivative financial liabilities fTEcBan (1,042,926)  (106,877) - (1,149,803)
Trade payables containing BEORTEREN
provisional pricing features [N E SIRIE - (791,128) - (791,128)
(1,042,926)  (898,005) - (1,940,931)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38. £ @EiEMEIE @)
(e)  Fair values (continued) (e) 2REEE
(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i) AREEERE)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—8 £ E=R et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BEFT BETT EMFrT  BETrn
Financial assets and liabilities BAREEYIEZ
carried at fair value SREERAE
2019 ZE-hE
Commodities futures BmiE 223,747 26,879 - 250,626
Commodities forward contracts EREHAL 3,335 2,444 = 5,779
Commodities swaps 8 mis i 9,213 = = 9,213
Currency forward contracts ERRHAY = 29 = 29
Fair value gain on commodity BRefz AR EE
contracts W& = 5,738 = 5,738
Equity warrants AR = 86 = 86
Derivative financial assets PTHEeREE 236,295 35,176 = 271,471
Trade receivables containing BEERTEEREMN
provisional pricing features W E S8R - 2,061,943 - 2,061,943
Other financial assets HitemEE 2,008 170,723 - 172,731
238,303 2,267,842 - 2,506,145
Interest rate swaps &= 8 - (556) - (556)
Commodities futures EmiE (521,599) (51,042) - (572,641)
Commodities forward contracts BREHAY (393) - - (393)
Commodities swaps Hmiz 8 (9,832) - - (9,832)
Currency forward contracts ERRBAY = (2,322) = (2,322)
Fair value loss on commodity BRAHZAREE
contracts BB = (1,090) - (1,090)
Derivative financial liabilities fTEEmas (531,824)  (55,010) - (586,834)
Trade payables containing BAEERTEREN
provisional pricing features BB SRR - (1,049,516) - (1,049,516)
(631,824) (1,104,526) -~ (1,636,350)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  38. <& /@l JE bz &1 ()
(e)  Fair values (continued) (e) 2IAREBEE
(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i) AREEERE)
The carrying amount of the Group's financial RZZEZZEFRZZ—NEF
assets and liabilities not carried at fair value +=ZA=+—8 ' X&EEL
are not materially different from their fair FERAREBEIKZEHE
values as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. ERGEZEAEREAR
BEIVEEAER -
The following table shows the carrying TRINTERFEECHMEEZ
amounts and fair values of significant non- EE@TE&Q;‘D BE BiEH
financial assets, including their levels in the RARBEERY 2KFE -
fair value hierarchy.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
R et E=R st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BYEFT BEFT BETT  BYFn
Non-financial assets measured R AAEBEFEZ
at fair value kEREE
2020 —g-g4
Commodity inventories where AEEEERERHEL
the Group acts as a broker-trader ~ ERFEE 4507 865,498 - 870,005
Warrantable LME commodities BERZIMERR 98,655 - - 98,655
103,162 865,498 - 968,660
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—M% E-8 it Bar
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000
BEFr  BETT  E¥FT  BETFT
Non-financial assets measured ~ BAABEEEZ
at fair value FeRMEE
2019 “E-hE
Commodity inventories where AEBRELER B
the Group acts as a broker-trader ~ EmFE - 468426 - 468426
Warrantable LME commodities BERZIMERS 21,303 = = 21,303
21,303 468,426 - 489,729
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) ~ 38.

(e) Fair values (continued)

(ii)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

SRRk EE )
(e) AAREE®E

Measurement of fair value

The following tables show the valuation
techniques used in measuring Level 2 and
Level 3 fair values of assets with material
balance at 31 December 2020 as well as the
significant unobservable inputs used.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

(i) AAEEE
TRINTAER T _FF
TZA=T—HAEKRER
CEREZE_RRE=ZRLD
REBERERZEETENR
MERZEXRTABREA

8% -

BAREEFECEMTA

Inter-relationship
hetween key
unobservable inputs
Significant and fair value
Type Valuation technique unobservable inputs measurement
IEFTERBA
HERNMER
g2 HER% EXATTERBARE  fEZH EBBA
Commodities futures Mearket comparison technique: Not applicable Not applicable
HndE The fair values are based on month end spot and forward @ oyl
prices received from broker.
aHE
ArBEDMBEARE ARAERAEERAEE
Trade receivables and payables Market comparison technique: Not applicable Not applicable
containing provisional pricing features  The fair values are based on month end spot and forward MER el
BRERTREHZENREN prices, until prices are fixed for metals for weights and
‘”%EEIE content of metals basis third party inspections/certificates
(if applicable).
&R -
ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁuﬂﬁﬁ“&% F%B%ﬁ EFSBEEN
ASNERERE=TRE/FE(NER) THER -
Inventories where the Group acts Market comparison technique: Not applicable Not applicable
as a broker trader The fair values are based on quoted prices of contracts TER ol

AEBERLR AT ARRY

of similar products obtained from exchanges and market
data providers adjusted for forward market assessment of
premium/discount associated with the inventory.
TEREY -
RABENIERSHRTSUBREEEGHE
ERGNNBEAEE UREFEEBNEE/EN
RETIATEIELEE -

Transfer between Level 1 and Level 2

There were no transfers from Level 1 to Level
2 nor the opposite direction in the reporting

and comparative period.

—REE R E B

I & H —

MAE_FHE

o BRME R BT
EHRRTRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair values (continued)

(iii)  Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

38. TRIEREE®
(e) AAREBEEE
(i) HEEHEERERE

Gross amounts  Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial assets/
assets/ liabilities
liabilities presented
Gross amounts  offset in the in the
of recognised  consolidated  consolidated
financial statement statement
assets/ of financial of financial
liabilities position position  Net amount
REERE  REERE
HAREH2 HRRREFZ
BRALE CRAcR  omEE/
EE/QRAE HE/8RLEE BEFHE B
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BETT BEFT
2020 it b $:3
Type of financial assets SREERY
Derivatives fTETE 4,339,037 (3,908,043) 430,994 430,994
Type of financial liabilities SRaEEY
Derivatives fTETE 5,057,846 (3,908,043) 1,149,803 1,149,803
2019 ~B-nf
Type of financial assets tREERR
Derivatives fTETA 1,600,038 (1,328,567) 271,471 271471
Type of financial liabilities cRARER
Derivatives fTETA 1,915,401 (1,328,567 586,834 586,834
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39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BEARS
Apart from the disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated BRERE T BRREMIBOAFEESEIN - &
financial statements, the Group has the following related EECBAELIRZUOT :

party transactions:

(a)

(b)

Income

(a) WA

2020 2019
—BBHF —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T B F T
Sales of goods and/or services to MESHEREERCER
entities in which directors have HEE MR HRE
an interest 33,645 34,486
Sales of goods and/or services to Mt E AR HEER R,
associates SRS 65,600 72,627
Sales of goods and/or services to HAEPEHEEERRS
joint ventures RS 35,937 31,169
Interest income from associates REEE AT ZFBEWA - 190
Interest income from joint ventures REAEDFEZFBWA - 1,000
Dividend received from joint ventures HREAZMEZKRE - 10,765
Dividend received from associates REBERNTZRE 360 598
Expense (b) BX
Purchase of goods and/or services MESHEER CER
from entities in which directors BEERR, SRS
have an interest 21,407 21,295
Purchase of goods and/or services HEBEARBEER R
from associates ok AR 7% 27,202 32,348
Purchase of goods and/or services MEETEREERR
from joint ventures ok AR 7% 29,624 24,749
Interest expense to a shareholder m—AREFEFEZ 11,770 -

2020 Annual Report « CWT International Limited @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 #E _— 8 _~ 41 _H=+—HIL

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(c) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of key management members,
who are the Directors of the Company at the end of
the year, was as follows:

39. BEARFZ®@®

(c)

TEEBAESZHE

TEEBAEENARQAFTEE)FER
ZBEmT

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Short-term benefits 5 HAREF 3,917 11,106
Post-employment benefits BB E A 10 280
3,927 11,386

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see
Note 11).

The remuneration of executive directors is
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

(d) Details of balances with related parties of the

Group are set out in Notes 23, 24 and 27 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. ARBEEMBERE 2F1E
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 RAREEMBRARARZZEZZEFR=Z
December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: —NWE+ZA=+—HZFBOT :
The Group's effective
interest over nominal
Place/ Issued and value of issued
country of Principal fully paid share capital/
incorporation/ place of share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
REERKARFRE
ML/ BRARMERE/ BRIRE/
WEAR R FME/Bx  TEEEHY dMER EMEREE 2 BRER FTEREEK
2020 2019
ZEIZE ZENF
% %
CWT SG* Singapore Singapore 600,304,650 shares 100 100 Provision of warehousing
CWT SG* Mg g of $$174,338,331 and logistics services,
174,338 3313118 L 2 transportation services,
600,304,650 %7 import and export services,
cargo consolidation and
freight forwarding
services, container depot
operations, commodity
marketing, inventory
management services,
engineering services,
design-and-build of
logistics facilities and
financial services
REAERIRRE &%
R - EHORE - &9
HEREERERY -
ERMEHBEE AR
825 BREERE.
TREH MRk
it REER S BRE
CWT Logistics Pte. Ltd.f Singapore Singapore 5,002,502 shares 100 100 Provision of warehousing
CWT Logistics Pte. Ltd* g g of 585,002,502 and value added logistics
5,002, 50237 I3 7.2 services
5,002, 5028k & 17 REARREENRRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. XRFEEMBLATIZHFE®
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

The Group's effective
interest over nominal
Place/ Issued and value of issued
country of Principal fully paid share capital/
incorporation/ place of share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AEERARAMEE
ML/ BERARBERE/ BEATRER/
HWEAR SR EMnE/Ax  FEEESY HRER EMEREE 2 BRER TEREER
2020 2019
3 ZE-NE
% %
Force 21 Equipment Pte Ltd* Singapore Singapore 2,000,000 shares 70 70 General importers and
Force 21 Equipment Pte Ltd* Eipibd g of 582,000,000 exporters, wholesale
2,000,00057 138 L 2 trading, engineering and
2,000,000 % (7 manufacturing of safety
and protective products,
skills training services and
motivational course
providers
—REAFRLOE  #E
85 wrkh#ER
TRREE - Rl
R BRI LR
Indeco Engineers (Pte) Ltd* Singapore Singapore 6,000,146 shares 100 100  Engineering maintenance
Indeco Engineers (Pte) Ltd* g g of $$20,600,580 services, design & building
20,600,582 MH T2 services for industrial
6,000,146 %7 properties, facilities
management and special
trade services
TRRERY  I$0%
FETARERT - &5
ERRNHKE HRB
CWT Integrated Pte. Ltd.* Singapore Singapore 20,000,000 shares 100 100 Provision of container
CWT Integrated Pte. Ltd.* Mg g of $$20,000,000 storage, repairs, servicing
20,000,007 MH L2 and trucking, general
20,000,000 &3 goods warehousing and
distribution services and
undertaking of projects
logistics

RESERRR &
h#EEE  —REm
BERDERBIAR
AEEB R

CWT International Limited o 20204 4 #&



40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. XRFEEMBLATIZHFE®
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

The Group's effective
interest over nominal
Place/ Issued and value of issued
country of Principal fully paid share capital/
incorporation/ place of share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AEERARAMEE
AL/ BRARBERE/ BETRER/
HWEAR AR EME/Ax  FEEESY ARER EMEREE 2 BRER FTEREER
2020 2019
33 ZE-NE
% %
CWT Globelink Pte Ltd? Singapore Singapore 800,000 shares 100 100 Provision of cargo,
CWT Globelink Pte Ltd* g g of $$800,000 consolidation and sea
800,000%7 M3 7.2 freight forwarding services
800,008 & 7 REEEMHERIMERE
MR
Globelink-Trans (Tianjin) The PRC The PRC Registered capital of 100 100 Provision of cargo,
International Forwarding i i US$1,320,000 consolidation and sea
Co., Ltd** HftEA freight forwarding services
(limited company (solely invested 1,320,000% 7 RESMBERINERE
by a foreign legal person)) PR
RENB(RRERGE
REERAR
(BREMFAR
GMELEAEZ))
MRI Trading AG* Switzerland Switzerland 115,933 shares 100 100 Physical trading and supply
MRI Trading AG* Wt Wt of CHF1,159,330 chain management of
1,159,330 L5 2 non-ferrous base metal
115,933 & 17 concentrates
RERCBRRIEN
RARLEREE
Straits (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.* Singapore Singapore 13,000,000 shares 974 97.4  Toact as broker for trading
Straits (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.* g o of US$13,000,000 of OTC derivatives,
13,000,000% 7.2 clearing of exchange-
13,000,000 {7 listed OTC products,
interdealer broking and
trade services

BESIMILERRS -
oM LTEIEREE
BERRIHBERELR
5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. XRFEEMBLATIZHFE®
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

The Group's effective
interest over nominal
Place/ Issued and value of issued
country of Principal fully paid share capital/
incorporation/ place of share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AEERARAMEE
ML/ BERARBERE/ BEATRER/
HWEAR SR EMnE/Ax  FEEESY HRER EMEREE 2 BRER TEREER
2020 2019
3 ZE-NE
% %
Straits Financial Group Pte. Ltd.* Singapore Singapore 58,652,290 shares 974 974 Investment holding
Straits Financial Group Pte. Ltd * g g of US$60,873,830 RER
60,873,830%7L.2
58,652,290 1R 3
Straits Financial Services Pte. Ltd.# Singapore Singapore 30,000,000 shares 974 97.4  Toact as brokers for trading
Straits Financial Services Pte. Ltd.  #7%% g of US$30,000,000 in futures contracts and
30,000,000% 7.2 centrally-cleared OTC
30,000,000 517 commodity derivatives
REHERNZSNED
BENGHZSER
ITERMER
Straits Financial LLC USA USA 33,000,000 shares 985 9.5 Provision of financial
Straits Financial LLC ¥ ES of US$33,000,000 brokerage services
33,000,000 T2 REESRALRS
33,000,000 At 12
CWT Commodities Pte. Ltd.* Singapore Singapore 2,000,000 shares 100 100 Investment holding
{now known as CWT g g of $$2,000,000 RER
Commodity Logistics Pte. Ltd.) 2,000,000%7T.2
CWT Commaodities Pte. Ltd.* 2,000,000 B (7
(B8 BCWT Commodity
Logistics Pte. Ltd.)
CWT Europe B.V. Group? The Netherlands  The Netherlands 90,000 shares 100 100 Investment holding
CWT Europe B.V. Group? HHE HH of EUR90,000 RER
90,0008 7.2
90,0008 (7
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

AABEENBL A 2F15@)

The Group's effective
interest over nominal

Place/ Issued and value of issued
country of Principal fully paid share capital/
incorporation/ place of share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
FAEERERAMER
L/ BRARBERE/ BRIRE/
WELRER EMmes/HR  EREENY ARER EMEREE 2 BRER FTEREEY
2020 2019
33 ZE-NE
% %
Dongguan Hillview Golf Company The PRC The PRC Registered capital - 65  Operation of sport and
Limited*" i HE US$34,060,000 leisure related facilities
REESERAERAT FHER husiness
(limited company 34,060,000 T NG
(sino-foreign joint-venture)) RIEES
(BREERR(RIEE))
HNA Belt and Road Investments Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited® e B3 of HK$1 RERR
BR—F-BREABRAT \REEEE T,
LR
& Shares directly held by the Company & HAARREERBERD
# Audited by other member firms of KPMG International 8 KESRBBRAEMK B EHAEZ

The entity is classified under discontinued operations and
disposed of during the year.

* The English name of the entity is for reference only. The
official name of the entity is in Chinese.

Save as disclosed in Note 28, none of the other subsidiaries
had issued any debt securities for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.

* ZEBHRXERERSE - ZEBEH
EWEL L

BRIGEE28FAINEE S  BRE—T_FER
—E-NEF+R=1+—RHILFE  HE
HitpfB AR BETEMETES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UB BRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F 1 A =1—HILFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. RRFMBERRRRHE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REE 1,879 3,023
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZIEE 158,100 158,100
Amounts due from subsidiaries R EENGIE e 4,244,389 4,842,247
Club debentures SES 180 700
Right of use assets FRAEEE 5,339 14,491
Deferred tax asset EIERIEE E 39 =
4,409,926 5,018,561
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other BAFIE - e REAM
receivables JE Y kT8 5,604 32,570
Bank balances and cash RITEEFENMES 2,683 6,742
8,287 39,312
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables, deposits received HEMRIE - BEdiEE R
and accruals FEHIE B 32,040 80,758
Lease liabilities HEasE 5,573 8,794
Amount due to related company e BAE R RZRIA 205 421
Amount due to subsidiaries FEAST BT 8B R R FIAR 320,354 =
Borrowings B - 768,334
358,172 858,307
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (349,885) (818,995)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. AR FHERRRRHE @

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

2020 2019

. —TNEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T B F T

Total assets less current liabilities EEHERABER 4,060,041 4,199,566
Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Lease liabilities HEBaE - 6,005

Deferred tax liabilities RLERIAE E - 42

Borrowings EEN 716,000 =

716,000 6,047

Net assets BEEFE 3,344,041 4,193,519
Capital and reserves BARGF#E

Share capital [ 4,731,480 4,731,480

Reserves [ (1,387,439) (537,961)

Equity attributable to owners of AAREEAEGRER
the Company 3,344,041 4,193,519

The Company's statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 31 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wu Hao Li Neng
R He
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF

RRBZHBERRAKRER T -—F=A
=T BEEFSHERRENE - WH

THEEREREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

B 7% 3R AR B A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # % —F _F4F 1 _~H =1 —HILF &

42.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to 31 December 2020, certain indirect
controlling shareholders of the Company, being HNA Group,
HNA Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (BMEBEXEEAER A F)
("HNA Holding”) and HNA Logistics Group Co., Ltd.* (/&
mYREBEARAR) ("HNA Logisties”), informed the
Company that they received the ruling from the Higher
People’'s Court of Hainan Province* (8f%& @A A RIABT)
to restructure them.

As at the date of this annual report and based on the
information set out in the relevant forms of disclosure of
interests, HNA Group, through HNA Holding, HNA Logistics
and other companies, is indirectly interested in an aggregate
of 51.26% of the total issued shares of the Company.

As of the date of this annual report, based on the above
information and as far as the Company is aware and since
the Company has not yet received any notice on the change
of controlling shareholders, the Company considers that
the operations of the Group as a whole remain as usual
in material respects. The Company will continue to pay
attention to the progress of the above matters and fulfill its
information disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) in a timely manner.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
31 January 2021, 10 February 2021 and 15 March 2021 for
further details.
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HESERE
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R e

%Kii&aHH&*E%WHE%TE%ETBZ&%%EWFE
?ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ TF’?&%&HZIS& E%ﬂﬂxﬁ
BEA H51.26% 2 s o

HEAFHRBHY  BRELABHEEAR
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REEMNEMBLN  ARAREAEEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 # £ % ~F4F |~ H=1—HILFE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 43. BE-EBE-EF+=ZHA=1+—

NEW STANDARDS AND AEFEFEEHEBESRERZ
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT 5] - I EARZE 2B
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED EEE

31 DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HEZSVBHREREMAE - BB
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new REEEMETERBE_S-_EF+=-A
standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet Zt+—BLFERREREHMRRAZED
effective for the year ended 31 December 2020 and which BHmERPEBIRNZISET RN RIETER - B
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These BYBREEDE175 - RERED - 25
developments include the following which may be relevant EREEUEASESENUTSIE -

to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RT3 H B %2 1%
Fita 2 & a1 BifE 4 3

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
BEAMBREERNEIRAETA - BLRMELL e T -F—fF—H
Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment:

Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
ERGTERFENSRZIEETA  WF - #S KRG - R EREFZ I TEHE T _F—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
BERGTEREITRZEEIR - FEEH —ERAHZ KA —E--F—fF—H
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
BANBRELEN T N\FE_T_TFEHACFENRE T _F—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2023
ERGERE VR BN eMEEZZS - BESBEREBAIFERE —E-=%—A—H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of REB EFAZFET AN ERER A
what the impact of these developments is expected to be ZTEHFE - HRBRIALL - A5BEREA
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded RINGZ FIEF] AN KA e 2 HWER 6 I 5
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant REXSEATE -

impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEMBRE

RESULTS E3 ]

For the years ended 31 December

BE+-RA=1t-HLEE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
N T —T-N\F —T-NF —E_ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&35 (E5)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: E1E%F/ (F#8)
Owners of the Company ARAEBA (21,902) 204,478 (557,289) (597,557) 41,465
Non-controlling interests R ER (37,938) 21,733 (29,500) 46,255 26,843
(59,840) 226,211 (586,789) (551,302) 68,308
Earning/(loss) per share EREF/ (BB
Basic (HK cents) BRGEM) (0.19) 1.79 (4.89) (5.24) 0.36
Diluted (HK cents) b SiA ) (0.40) 179 (4.89) (5.24) 0.36
Dividends &2 - - - - -
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE  BERFERES

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December

W+=HA=+-H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
“E-RE T “T-N\F “T-NF k- Sk 13
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EETT EETT BT BETT BEFT

Total assets BEE 6,421,122 31,181,703 25,811,560 24,020,577 24,915,974
Total liabilities waE (2,682,360)  (25210,370)  (20,496,609)  (19,399,586)  (20,417,616)

3,738,762 5,971,333 5,314,951 4,620,991 4,498,358

Equity attributable to owners of KA FIHER AEGHER
the Company 3,360,211 5,444,133 4,872,742 4,166,382 4,367,648
Non-controlling interests FEERR R 378,551 527,200 442,209 454,109 130,710

3,738,762 5,971,333 5,314,951 4,620,991 4,498,358
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